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PART |

Iltem 1. Business
Overview

We are a development-stage company engaged irrelsegrch and development to create new therapiéibifotic disease and cancer. Our drug candidatedased on our method of
targeting galectin proteins, which are key medmtidrbiologic and pathologic functions. We use relty occurring, readily-available plant materiaks starting material in manufacturing
processes to create proprietary complex carbohsslraith specific molecular weights and other phaentcal properties. These complex carbohydratecutés are appropriately formulated
into acceptable pharmaceutical formulations. Usiese unique carbohydrate-based candidate compthatdargely bind and inhibit galectin proteinaricularly galectin-3, we are
undertaking the focused pursuit of therapies fdications where galectins have a demonstratednale pathogenesis of a given disease. We foculiseases with serious, life-threatening
consequences to patients and those where cureatient options are limited. Our strategy is tatdisth and implement clinical development prograinas add value to our business in the
shortest period of time possible and to seek gfi@fartners when a program becomes advanced guiles additional resources.

We endeavor to leverage our scientific and prodagelopment expertise as well as established eakttips with outside sources to achieve cost-éffeeand efficient development.
These outside sources, amongst others, providéthiempertise in preclinical models, pharmaceutémtelopment, toxicology, clinical development, phaceutical manufacturing,
sophisticated physical and chemical characterizatiod commercial development. We also have esteadlia collaborative scientific discovery prograitiheading experts in carbohydrate
chemistry and characterization. This discovery mogis aimed at the targeted development of nebobgdrate molecules which bind galectin proteird aifier alternative options to larger
market segments in our primary disease targetsalééehave established a discovery program aimtéteaargeted development of small molecules (nohetg/drate) which bind galectin
proteins and may afford options for alternative neeaf drug delivery and as a result expand thenpialeuses of our compounds. We are pursuing alderent pathway to clinical
enhancement and commercialization for our lead comgs in immune enhancement for cancer therapyeliswvin both liver fibrosis and fatty liver disea All of our proposed products are
presently in development, including pre-clinicatlatinical trials.

We were founded in July 2000 as Pro-Pharmaceuticads a Massachusetts corporation. On April Z8)12 DTR-Med Pharma Corp. (“DTR”"), which was incorated in Nevada on
January 26, 2001, entered into a stock exchangeamgmt with Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc., whereby BEguired all of the outstanding shares of commocksof Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
On May 10, 2001, DTR changed its name to “Pro- Plaeuticals, Inc.” and on June 7, 2001, the Massaits corporation was merged into the Nevada catipa. On May 26, 2011, Pro-
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. changed its name to “Galddtarapeutics Inc.” In October, 2012, we movedtmadquarters to a suburb of Atlanta, GA to be cltisa center of discovery
collaboration while maintaining a contract laborgtoperation in the Boston area.

Our Drug Development Programs

Galectins are a class of proteins that are madeany cells in the body. As a group, these protaiesable to bind to sugar molecules that are pather proteins in and on the cells of
our body. Galectin proteins act as a kind of mdiecglue, bringing together molecules that haveassign them. Galectin proteins, in particular gae8, are known to be markedly increased
in a number of important diseases including scgroforgans (e.g. liver, lung, kidney, and heant) aancers of many kinds. The increase in galgctitein promotes the disease and is
detrimental to the patient.

We have two compounds in development, GR-MD-02@NECT-01, both of which have shown promise in préchl studies in treatment of fibrosis and in cantherapy. However,
we are currently focusing on
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development of GR-MD-02 intended to be used intthatment of liver fibrosis and fatty liver diseas®l in cancer therapy in combination with immupstam modifying agent(s). Both of
our proprietary compounds are produced from corapletifferent, natural, readily available, startimgterials, which, following chemical processingttbexhibit the property of binding to
and inhibiting galectin proteins.

Our product pipeline is shown below:

Indication Drug Status
Fibrosis
NASH with Advanced Fibrosi GR-MD-02 IND submitted January 2013, FDA indicated on Mat¢R013 that we could proceed with a Phase

clinical trial. Phase 1 clinical trial started Q@43. Results from the first cohort of the Phasérical
trial are expected in April 201

Lung Fibrosis GR-MD-02 In pre-clinical developmen

Kidney Fibrosis GR-MD-02 In pre-clinical developmen

Cancer Immunotherapy
Melanome GR-MD-02 Investigator IND filed in December 2013. Phase filglg in process

Fibrosis. GR-MD-02 is our lead product candidate for timent of fibrotic disease. Our preclinical datawhbat GR-MD-02 has a powerful therapeutic effectiver fibrosis as
shown in several relevant animal models. Therefeeechose GR-MD-02 as the lead candidate in a dpment program targeted initially at fibrotic livéisease associated with non-alcoholic
steatohepatitis (NASH, or fatty liver disease)Jémuary 2013, an Investigational New Drug (“IND'aswsubmitted to the FDA with the goal of initiatiag?hase 1 study in patients with NASH
and advanced liver fibrosis to evaluate the hunadety of GR-MDO2 and pharmacodynamics biomarkers of disease. &nhVL, 2013, the FDA indicated we could proceeti wiUS Phase
clinical trial for GR-MD-02 with a development pragn aimed at obtaining support for a proposed atia of GR-MD-02 for treatment of NASH with advakcfibrosis. Pre-clinical studies
also show promise for the combination of GR-MD-Gthvether approved immunotherapies and this aduifiose has been advanced into clinical trials uadeénvestigator-sponsored IND in
the United States.

Our drug candidate provides a promising new appréacthe therapy of fibrotic diseases, and liibrdsis in particular. Fibrosis is the formationexfcess connective tissue (collagen
and other proteins plus cellular elements suchyasibroblasts) in response to damage, inflammatiorepair. When the fibrotic tissue becomes comfii¢ obliterates the cellular
architecture, leading to scarring and dysfunctibthe underlying organ.

Cancer Immunotherapy. GM-CT-01, our initial product candidate targkfer selective cancer therapy together with am@emelanoma vaccine, initially was being studiea
clinical trial in Europe. In 2012 we initiated ad&e 1/2 clinical trial of GM-CT-01 in combinatioritiva tumor vaccine in patients with advanced mataa, a deadly skin cancer. The intention
at the beginning of the trial was that it woulddomducted at three centers in Belgium and one keinbourg. The operational conduct of the trial wader the control of the Cancer Centre at
the Cliniques Universitaires Saint-Luc and the Liglimstitute for Cancer Research, and this wathg center that enrolled patients. Positive resfutim this study could have indicated that
inhibiting the “Galectin Effect” could be an enatdgitechnology for therapy in other tumor typesJanuary 2014, the Cancer Centre at the Clinique®rsitaires Saint-Luc and the Ludwig
Institute for Cancer Research (LICR), in agreemetit Galectin Therapeutics, voluntarily placed afdhits Phase 1/2 trial evaluating the safety dfideey, GM-CT-01, in combination with
an experimental peptide vaccine for the treatméatvanced metastatic melanoma. The trial was glacehold as the investigators were unable to esudficient patients with advanced
stage melanoma due to the high selection criténetient candidates for the peptide vaccine ardé¢lent availability of Yervoy in Europe as a tmeent increasing the overall survival of
metastatic melanoma
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patients. At the time when the trial was haltede¢hpatients had completed the protocol with nmssradverse events. This trial was stopped bedaziube patient enroliment issue and not
due to the perceived effects of the drugs on theadie or on safety issues.

We continue to believe there is potential for gafeinhibition to play a key role in the burgeoniarga of cancer immunotherapy. For example, thave been two recent approvals of
drugs that enhance a patient’'s immune system o é@ncer. With many additional vaccines and imnatimeulatory agents in development, industry artalfarecast that this market could
generate over $35 billion in sales over the nexyddrs. It is our goal to use a galectin inhibftoenhance the immune system function to fight eairta way that complements other
approaches to this type of therapy. Our drug catdglprovide a promising new therapeutic appraaemhance the activity of the immune system agasuster cells. Preclinical studies have
indicated that GR-MD-02 enhances the immune resptinand more specifically increased tumor shriekagd enhanced survival in immune competent mite pvostate, breast, melanoma
and sarcoma cancers when combined with one ofrtheine checkpoint inhibitors, anti-CTLA-4 or anti-ADThese preclinical data have led to the filifiguo Investigatosponsored IND an
the initiation of a study of GR-MD-02 in combinativith Yervoy® (pilimumab) in a Phase 1B study of patients withtas&atic melanoma. This study is being conductetbuthe sponsorst
of Providence Portland Medical Center’s Earle Ail&hResearch Institute (EACRI).

We believe the mechanism of action for GM-CT-01 @RtMD-02 is based upon interaction with, and iitfob of, galectin proteins, particularly galecBnwhich are expressed at
high levels in certain pathological states inclgdinflammation, fibrosis and cancer. While GM-CT-@id GR-MD-02 are capable of binding to multipléegin proteins, we believe that they
have the greatest affinity for galecnthe most prominent galectin implicated in patigadal processes. Blocking galectin in cancer aret fibrosis has specific salutary effects on diseast
process, as discussed below.

Liver Fibrosis: New Approach for a Significant Unme Medical Need

When an internal organ is exposed to chronic déeseas of the responses is that scar tissue isitaich in the organ (this process is called fibrosisle longer the disease affects the
organ, the more fibrous tissue is deposited argduttimately results in the failure of the orgahisTchronic fibrosis of organs may occur in thetiMung, kidney, and heart, as well as others
and, as a result, fibrosis of organs has been aéto account for as much as 45% of all mortaBtyentific findings during the last few yearsigate that the galectin-3 protein is critically
important in this fibrotic process in multiple orga

In the liver, fibrosis is the end result of mulgghflammatory conditions and infections. Progresdiver fibrosis leads to scarring (cirrhosis),ighresults in reduction of liver functic
multiple medical complications and ultimately dedtlearly 500,000 patients have cirrhosis in thetéthStates with close to 50,000 losing their liyearly. Only a fraction of patients’ lives
have been saved by liver transplantation at aafagpproximately $350,000 per transplantation. @uradition in particular that frequently leads toleosis is non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, or
NASH, a liver disease characterized by the accutonlaf fat in the liver with associated inflamnwatiand fibrosis, which can lead to ~stage cirrhosis requiring liver transplantatioheT
National Institute of Health estimates that 9 tariilion Americans are affected by NASH and forésahat the number of Americans affected by thégase is growing due to obesity
diabetes, with the potential to become the leadingse of liver cirrhosis and liver transplantatiothe future. Liver transplantation is currentietonly therapeutic approach to NASH or other
forms of liver fibrosis as, to the best of our kiieglge, there are no drug therapies on the markgarQransplantation is a difficult, risky and ¢pgirocedure as organ availability is scarce
there is the risk of developing cirrhosis in thensplanted liver from the same disease that danthgegghtient's original liver and therefore, thera great need for other therapeutic options.
All diseases that affect the liver (viral hepatitifcoholic liver disease, and fatty liver as exisplead to the development of scarring of therliv

The primary focus of the company is to use galgotiibitors to block galectin-3 and treat organrsog or fibrosis in the liver. There are no apprdtherapies for treatment of liver
fibrosis. We believe that our drug
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candidates have the potential to treat NASH andrdtirms of liver fibrosis. Scientific evidence giegts that galectin-3 is essential for the devetgrof liver fibrosis in animals. Published
data show that mice lacking the galectin-3 gene,thus unable to produce galectin-3, are incapafbdieveloping liver fibrosis in response to toxisult to the liver and in fatty liver disease.
Moreover, mice that do not have the galectin-3 geeaesistant to lung and kidney fibrosis. Thasaished data show that galectin-3 is a criticak@n for the development of organ fibrosis.
Our drugs, based on experiments in well charaeér@mimal models, are also potentially useful areg or fibrosis of other organs such as lung kiddey which expands the possibilities
therapeutic indications.

We have evaluated the ability of GR-MD-02 to blggtectin-3 in animal models of liver fibrosis, tbenclusions of which yielded positive results. @te-clinical data show that GR-
MD-02 may have a therapeutic effect on liver filisass shown in several relevant animal models. &fbeg, we chose GR-MD-02 as the lead candidatelievalopment program targeted
initially at fibrotic liver disease associated wASH. We evaluated GR-MD-02 in pre-clinical toxiegy and pharmacology studies during 2013 and filedND with the FDA in January
2013 for initiating human studies in patients WWASH. In February 2013 we entered into an agreeméhtCTI Clinical Trial Services to assist withetllesign, development and conduct of
one or more clinical research studies, specifidalfyservices with respect to our Phase 1 clirtigals to evaluate safety of GR-MD-02 in patienitwNASH. The FDA notified us in March
2013 that we may proceed with a Phase 1 clini@lfor patients with NASH and we began enrolliragipnts in the Phase 1 clinical trial in the thguarter of 2013. In August 2013, GR-MD-
02 was granted Fast Track designation by the FDAIf&SH with hepatic fibrosis, commonly known astydiver disease with advanced fibrosis. In Jani¥4, we completed the enrollm
of the first cohort of patients in the Phase 1 tsizh no serious adverse events being reporteda¥tieipate that initial safety and tolerabilitysuits, as well as biomarkers to evaluate for
potential disease effect, from the first cohorpafients will be available by early April 2014. Técond cohort of this phase 1 trial is expectestad around the end of April 2014. Depending
on the results of the Phase 1 study, we expedittate a Phase 2 clinical trial in late 2014 toy 2015 to assess the efficacy of GR-MD-02 in @atts with NASH and advanced liver fibrosis.
The timing of initial results from the Phase 2Iteee dependent upon the trial design but curreardyplanned to be available in the first half @1&. Our Phase 2 clinical program is likely to
include additional clinical trials to fully chara&cize human response to GR-MD-02 and to bettetipnghe Company for a successful Phase 3 cliti@dlprogram.

GR-MD-02 is a proprietary galactoarabino-rhamnogfal@nan polysaccharide polymer that is comprisedgminantly of galacturonic acid, galactose, aragé, rhamnose, and
smaller amounts of other sugars. Structural stuthes shown that GR-MD-02 binds to galectin-1 anddlectin-3 with binding affinity to galectin-3ibg significantly greater than binding to
galectin-1. Similar to GM-CT-01, GR-MD-02 targetaracellular galectins. With respect to GR-MD-02 wurrently have patent applications pending wepect to composition of matter,
cancer immunotherapy, diabetic kidney disease, filmgtic disease, and inflammatory disease assetiaith increase in inducible nitric oxide synthaBatents have been granted with re:
to liver fibrosis, NASH, and liver fibrosis in cormation with other therapeutic agents allowed. Couomuls for subcutaneous administration are curremtier development.

Galectin Inhibition in Cancer Therapy

We believe the potential exists for galectin intidsi to play an important role in cancer therapglegtin proteins, particularly galectin-1 and géife8, have been shown to be highly
expressed in the majority of cancers and have pheltbles in promoting cancer progression, inclgdiumor cell invasion, metastasis, angiogenesi tamor evasion of the immune system.

The role of galectins in cancer immunotherapy caniiderstood through the “Galectin Effect”, a reciscovery of how tumors avoid the body’s own inmaisystem, i.e., the tumors
secrete galectin proteins that block the body’srésfto fight tumors. Our current program to bldic& “Galectin Effect” is based on the research offderre van der Bruggen (of the Ludwig
Institute of Cancer Research in Brussels, Belgium),
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demonstrating that galectin-3, which is producedhgyvast majority of human cancers, binds to dadks the actions of tumor-infiltrating T-lymphoesg, the major immune cell in the body’s
defense against cancers. In addition, Dr. Will Reddof the Earl Chiles Cancer Research Instituféariland Oregon has shown that our galectin itdribican enhance the anti-tumor
immunogenic effect of other immunotherapies basethmeting lymphocyte checkpoints such as CTLAdse®l on these results, we believe that the boniytsine cells may be unable to
attack and kill tumor cells in the presence of géhs. Using this approach, the mechanism of adooour drugs seeks to block galectins and, in,ttestore the ability of the [rmphocytes ti
kill tumor cells.

In May 2012, we initiated a Phase 1/2 clinicalltabBGM-CT-01 in Belgium in combination with a tumor vaccimepatients with advanced melanoma, a deadly skinezaThe Belgia
Federal Agency of Medicine and Health Product$ANMHP, granted approval for this clinical trial, igh was being conducted at three centers in Belginchone in Luxembourg. The only
trial site that was initiated was at the Ludwig Ganinstitute in Belgium. In January 2014, the @ar@entre at the Cliniques universitaires Saint-and the Ludwig Institute for Cancer
Research (LICR), in agreement with Galectin Theugips, voluntarily placed on hold its Phase 1/alteivaluating the safety and efficacy, GM-CT-01¢cambination with an experimental
peptide vaccine for the treatment of advanced rtretasnelanoma. The trial was placed on hold asrhestigators were unable to enroll sufficientiguatis with advanced stage melanoma due
to the high selection criteria of patient candiddte the peptide vaccine and the recent avaitglofi Yervoy in Europe as a treatment increasiregdberall survival of metastatic melanoma
patients. . At the time when the trial was haltadge patients had completed the protocol withermas adverse events. This trial was stopped lsecafupatient enroliment issue and not due
to the perceived effects of the drugs on the deseasn safety issues.

The company supported preclinical studies led byotuimmunology expert William L. Redmond, Ph.D. tlo¢ Providence Portland Medical Center’s Earl€hAiles Research Institute
(EACRI). The preclinical study found that GR-MD-B®reased tumor shrinkage and enhanced survivalritune competent mice with prostate and breastecanehen combined with one of
the immune checkpoint inhibitors, anti-CTLA-4 ottielAD-1. These findings suggest a role for GR-MDi2ancer immunotherapy. These preclinical obsema by Dr Redmond provided
scientific rationale for proceeding and lead tofitieg by Providence Portland Medical Center oflanestigator-sponsored IND to conduct a Phasetd@yso determine if GR-MD-02
enhances the probability of melanoma responseipilthumab by inducing proliferation, activationémemory function of CD8+ T cells in human patieftsis study represents a novel
approach for patients with metastatic melanoma.INilewas approved by FDA in February 2014.

The study will employs a dose escalation of GR-MDifDconjunction with the standard therapeutic dafsgilimumab in patients with advanced melanomavwhom ipilimumab
would be considered standard of care. In additamanitoring for toxicity and clinical response iblRECIST criteria on imaging tests, blood sampléshe obtained to assess immunologic
measures relevant to galectin biology and ipilimbrfiecell check-point inhibition. Galectin Therapestwill provide its proprietary compound GR-MD-@2EACRI researchers, as well as
supply researchers with supporting analysis optiermacokinetics of GR-MD-02 and the right to refere the Company’s open IND on GR-MD-02.

There are potentially additional pathways for tegelopment of GR-MD-02 and GM-CT-01 for use in tneent of cancer. GM-CT-01 was found to be genersle when studied in a
Phase 1 clinical trial in end-stage cancer patiaitts multiple tumor types alone and in combinatieith 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU), which is an FDA-appexy chemotherapy used for treatment of
various types of cancer. Three Phase 2 studiesaoeiducted, but were only partially completed duéirtancing issues at the time. Based on these letetpPhase 1 and partially completed
Phase 2 clinical trials, we are exploring additiggatential indications for the use of GM-CT-01dombination with cancer chemotherapy.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

Our development and commercial viability, and uéttely our competitiveness, depend on our abilitseeelop and maintain the proprietary aspects pfexhnology and operate
without infringing on the proprietary
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rights of others. We rely on a combination of pgtemdemark, trade secret and copyright law amdraot restrictions to protect the proprietary aspef our technologies. We seek to limit
disclosure of our intellectual property by requiriemployees, consultants, and any third partigs aitess to our proprietary information to execotgidentiality agreements and by
restricting access to that information.

In January 2014, we received a notice of allowdrma the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for Padgaplication Number 13/550,962 titled “Galactd3enged Polysaccharides i
Formulation for Anti-fibrotic Therapies.” The patesovers both composition claim for and uses ofGbenpany’s carbohydrate-based galectin inhibitenpound GR-MD-02 for use in
patients with liver fibrosis in combination withhatr potential therapeutic agents. The patent cawsrof GR-MD-02 with agents directed at multiglegets, some of which are currently in
clinical development for fibrotic disorders incladimonoclonal antibodies to connective tissue gndadttor, integrins, and TGIB-1.

In September 2013, we received a notice of issultooethe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for Ra#gplication Number 13/573,454 titled “Galactarhnogalacturonate
compositions for the treatment of non-alcoholi@gibepatitis and non-alcoholic fatty liver diseatbeit will issue on February 25, 2014 as U.S. Patembber 8,658,787. The patent covers
Company'’s carbohydrate-based galectin inhibitor moumd GR-MD-02 for use in patients with fatty lidisease with or without fibrosis or cirrhosis.

In July 2012, we received a notice of issuance filoenU.S. Patent and Trademark Office for the Ba&ent number 8,236,780 issued on August 7, 2628 tiGalactose-prolonged
polysaccharides in a formulation for antifibrotietapies”. This methods patent covers key methbdsrévation and use for our carbohydrate-baseédagial inhibitor compound for use in
patients with chronic liver disease associated wiéhdevelopment of fibrosis, established liverdgis or end-stage scarring, or cirrhosis. The ma@m is for a method of obtaining a galacto-
rhamnogalacturan compound from an apple pectimimibg a composition for parenteral administratiod galacto-rhamnogalacturonan compound in an goleppharmaceutical carrier and
administering to a subject having at least ondeffollowing: chronic liver disease associated wlith development of fibrosis, established liverdgis or cirrhosis. The use covers inhibiting
or slowing the progression of fibrosis. GR-MD-0Z&vered by this patent and it provides opportesifor development of additional compounds in thesc

As of January 31, 2014, we held nine granted Uagns, foreign granted patents (Japan, E.U., Nealerid), seven international patent applicationd,reve eight U.S. patent
applications . Many of our patents and patent appbns cover composition of matter for complexbcawydrate drugs and methods of use for reducinigitgand enhancing chemotherapel
drugs by ccadministering a polysaccharide with a chemotherépagent or for use in treatment of fibrosis. Bebeduled expiration dates of our United Statesnpgspan from 2020 to 20:
We have corresponding patent applications pendirigurope, Israel, and Brazil. Additionally, we hagagent applications in other areas to utilize @arbohydrate-based compounds to treat
disease other than cancer. See “Risk Factors —sRskated to Our Intellectual Property”. Our conitpet position, in part, is contingent upon protentof our intellectual property.

Research

Our primary focus is on the design and testinggefnés which target galectins in various in vitra @mvivo systems and which demonstrate efficadyeatment of experimentally
induced fibrosis or enhance immune system respensss in various tissues and in live animal mo@&als.prior focus was on the design and analysgatgctin targeting therapeutics to
improve the clinical benefit of chemotherapeutiertg and biologics: GM-CT-01 was a result of tlifisreé We contract with independent laboratoried ather facilities to conduct our
research, which is designed, evaluated and mariagedr scientists. While we conduct in house redeeslated to our compounds at SBH laboratoriddassachusetts, we do not anticipate
building additional in-house research or developnfeilities or hiring staff other than for purpasef designing and managing our out-sourced relsearc

6
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As we develop products eligible for clinical trialge contract with independent parties to assitfiéndesign of the clinical trial protocols, arrarfgr and monitor the clinical trials,
collect data and analyze data. In addition, cexthimical trials for our products may be conductgdgovernment-sponsored agencies and will be degmemmh governmental participation and
funding. Our dependence on independent partieglanidal sites involves risks including reduced trohover the timing and other aspects of our chhirials.

In February 2013, the Company established a cofidive drug discovery program with Dr. Geert-Jamis (“Dr. Boons”) laboratory located in the Comypléarbohydrate Research
Center at the University of Georgia. This prograrfocused on the discovery of new carbohydrate cotds that can be used in the therapy of diseaBesevgalectin proteins play a major
role, including cancer, and inflammatory and fibratisorders. The aim of this program is to devedqgpeline of drugs that can target galectinss Thian important goal as follow-on
compounds for our drugs currently in developmeittarextend the potential indications and routeadshinistration. The Complex Carbohydrate Rese@gtter is a worlalass program ar
Dr. Boons is a world renowned and pre-eminent daybate chemist.

Our research and development expenditures tot@&2@ $nillion for the cumulative period from incegi (July 10, 2000) through December 31, 2013. Ruttie years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, our expenditures $erareh and development were $5.7 million and $4llm respectively. We expense all research aevkbtbpment costs as they are
incurred.

In January, 2014 we created, with SBH Sciences,(Natick, Ma), Galectin Sciences, LLC, a collakim@&joint venture to research and develop smalanic molecule inhibitors of
galectin-3 for oral administration.

Using computer molecular modeling techniques caliplith in vitro screening of a variety of compound libraries, SBtieBces had identified several small organic mdéecwith
promising galectin-3 inhibitory activiti vitro . Galectin Sciences LLC will further develop thesgque organic molecule inhibitors of galectin-Jdasg candidates as well as develop
additional candidates. Galectin Sciences LLC willdon the scientific body of knowledge amasse®B Sciences, coupled with Galectin Therapeuknswledge and expertise of
galectins’ pathological role and mechanism of activinflammation, fibrosis and many cancers. Tdregtterm goal of this effort is to identify and éésp drug candidates that are highly
specific galectin inhibitors which may be formulhfer oral administration. The intermediate ternalge the development of small molecule inhibitofgalectin-3 which exhibit activity im
vivo preclinical disease models of fibrosis and cancevhich galectins play a key role.

Because, increased levels of galectin proteins baee implicated in a very large number of inflartong fibrotic and neoplastic diseases; the disopead development of orally
active galectin inhibitors would be a major stepaods expanded treatment approaches for theseldisoiThis early drug discovery effort may leadtiogs that would expand our pipeline as
follow on compounds to our first in class galedtihibitors, GR-MD-02 and GM-CT-01.

Manufacturing and Marketing

We are a development stage company at this timelamabt intend to establish internal facilities foe manufacture of our products for clinical omeoercial production. To have our
products manufactured, we have developed and avillicue to develop relationships with thjpdsties that have established pharmaceutical metufiag capabilities and expertise. We are
a party to any long-term agreement with any ofsuppliers and, accordingly, we have our productsufatured on a purchase-order basis from one @ftimary well-known and
established pharmaceutical suppliers.

Because our products are in the development stagbave not created a sales and marketing staffrtonercialize pharmaceutical products. If we dgvgimducts eligible for
commercial sale, we will need to develop a salesmarketing capability or rely on third parties sw&s licensees, collaborators, joint venture
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partners or independent distributors to marketsalithose products. Our dependence on third-paatyufacturers and marketers will involve riskstiefato our reduced control, and other
risks including those discussed in “Risk FactorfRisks Related to our Company — There are riskscéetsal with reliance on third parties for manufaicty, marketing, sales, managed care
and distribution infrastructure channels.”

Competition

Many biotechnology and pharmaceutical companiesleveloping new technologies for the treatmentaoicer and other diseases. Technologies such asctopabantibodies could |
competitive with our galectin therapeutic platforr@sher companies are trying to improve the thartipgrofile of widely used protein-based drugs.i\@khese companies may broaden the
market for our products they may also provide cditipe alternatives to our products. We expectéased competition in the area of galectins wilfusded by a nearly exponential increas
the publication rate of research papers on gakectin

See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Companwe-face intense competition in the biotechnology pinarmaceutical industries” for additional diséosselated to our current
and potential competition.

Government Regulation

The research, development, testing, manufactuselifey, promotion, advertising, distribution, andnketing, among other things, of our products atersively regulated by
governmental authorities in the United States ahdracountries. The FDA regulates drugs undereleral Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and its implaing regulations. Failure to comply
with the applicable U.S. requirements may subjedbuadministrative or judicial sanctions, suchFB#\ refusal to approve pending New Drug ApplicaidtNDASs"), warning letters, product
recalls, product seizures, total or partial susigensf production or distribution, injunctions, dodcriminal prosecution.

Drug Approval Process
Drugs may not be marketed in the U.S. until the Hi2& approved them. The steps required beforeganday be marketed in the U.S. include:

1. Pre-clinical laboratory tests, animal studies, and falation studies

2. Submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinitedting, which must become effective before huntiaicel trials may begin

3. Adequate and we-controlled human clinical trials to establish tiagesy and efficacy of the drug for each indicati

4. Submission to the FDA of a ND/

5. Satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortté# manufacturing facility or facilities, at whithe drug is produced to assess compliance witleotigpod manufacturing

procedures‘cGMF") established by the FD/
6. FDA review and approval of the NDA, a
7. FDA review and approval of a trademark used in ection with a pharmaceutic:

Pre-clinical tests include laboratory evaluatiopafduct chemistry, toxicity, and formulation, aslias numerous in vitro and in vivo animal studiBise results of the prelinical tests
together with manufacturing information and analtidata, are submitted to the FDA as part of &b, Which must become effective before human cliricals may begin and the Company
must resolve any outstanding FDA concerns or questoefore clinical trials can proceed. There isertainty that submission of an IND will resulttire FDA allowing clinical trials to begi
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Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational drug to human subjects under thersigion of qualified investigators and constanersight by the FDA or foreign
regulatory authorities. Clinical trials are condadttinder protocols detailing the objectives ofgtugly, the parameters to be used in monitoringysadad the effectiveness criteria to be
evaluated. Each protocol must be submitted to Bws &s part of the IND.

Clinical trials typically are conducted in threegjgential phases, but the phases may overlap corbbined. Each trial must be reviewed and approyeahtindependent Institutional
Review Board (“IRB"), before it can begin. Studybgcts must sign an informed consent form beforéqigating in a clinical trial. Phase 1 usuallwaives the initial introduction of the
investigational drug into patients to evaluateséfety, dosage tolerance, pharmacodynamics, apdséible, to gain an early indication of its effeeness. Phase 2 usually involves trials in a
limited patient population to (i) evaluate dosagjerance and appropriate dosage; (ii) identify fpdssdverse effects and safety risks; and (iigleate preliminarily the efficacy of the drug
specific indications. Phase 3 trials usually furtbealuate clinical efficacy and test further fafety by using the drug in its final form in an exided patient population. There is no assurance
that these trials will be completed within a spedfperiod of time, if at all.

Assuming successful completion of the requiredddintesting, the results of the pre-clinical sasdand of the clinical studies, together with ottetriled information, including
information on the manufacture and compositiorhefdrug, are submitted to the FDA in an NDA requgsapproval to market the product for one or mindécations. Before approving an
NDA, the FDA usually will inspect the facilities athich the drug is manufactured, and will not apprthe product unless compliance with cGMP is fatfery. If the FDA evaluates the NL
and the manufacturing facilities as acceptableFba will generally issue an approval letter. [etRDA evaluates the NDA submission or the manufajufacilities as not acceptable, the
FDA will generally outline the deficiencies in teebmission and often will request additional testin information. Even if an applicant submits thquested additional information, the FDA
ultimately may decide that the NDA does not satibfyregulatory criteria for approval. The testamgl approval process requires substantial timertefind financial resources, and there is no
assurance that any approval will be granted omalyi basis, if at all. After approval, certain chan to the approved product, such as adding neeainehs, manufacturing changes, or
additional labeling claims are subject to furthBxAFreview and approval.

See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to the Regulaifd@ur Products — We will need regulatory apprewal commercialize our products” for additionalodission of regulatory risks
related to our drug development program.

FDA Priority Review

FDA procedures provide for priority review of an WBubmitted for drugs that, compared to currentirketed products, offer a significant improvemerthie treatment, diagnosis, or
prevention of a disease. NDAs that are grantedipyiceview are acted upon more quickly than NDAgeg standard review. If we were to seek prioréyiew, there can be no guarantee that
the FDA will grant priority review status, that grity review status will affect the time of reviear, that the FDA will approve the NDA submitted foty of our product candidates, whether or
not priority review status is granted.

Post-Approval Requirements

If FDA approval of one or more of our products igained, we will be required to comply with a numbgpost-approval requirements. For example, hsldéan approved NDA are
required to report certain adverse reactions t¢-a and to comply with certain requirements cona®y advertising and promotional labeling for thgioducts. Also, quality control and
manufacturing procedures must continue to confarc@MP after approval, and the FDA periodicallypiests manufacturing facilities to assess compliavite cGMP. Accordingly,
manufacturers must continue to expend time, maaey effort in the area of production and qualityteol to maintain cGMP compliance. In addition,adigery of problems with a product
after approval
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may result in restrictions on a product, manufastuor holder of an approved NDA, including withdated of the product from the market. Also, new gaweent requirements may be
established that could delay or prevent regulaapgroval of our products under development.

Regulation Outside the United States

Before our products can be marketed outside obthited States, they are subject to regulatory aggraimilar to that required in the United Stai@though the requirements
governing the conduct of clinical trials, producehsing, pricing and reimbursement vary widelyrfroountry to country. No action can be taken tokeany product in a country until an
appropriate application has been approved by thaawry authorities in that country. The curreppr@val process varies from country to country, tiradtime spent in gaining approval vai
from that required for FDA approval. In certain otiies, the sales price of a product must alsopipecaved. The pricing review period often begingmfbarket approval is granted. No
assurance can be given that even if a productpioapd by a regulatory authority, satisfactory esievill be approved for such product.

Environmental Regulation

Pharmaceutical research and development involeesdhtrolled use of hazardous materials. Biotea@yhnd pharmaceutical companies must comply &itfs land regulations
governing the use, generation, manufacture, stpeagemission, effluent discharge, handling arspdsal of certain materials, biological specimerb\mastes. We do not anticipate building
in-house research, development or manufacturintities, and, accordingly, do not expect to haveamply directly with environmental regulation. Hever, our contractors and others
conducting research, development or manufacturitigiies for us may be required to incur signifit@ompliance cost, and this could in turn coultté@ase our expense or delay our
completion of research or manufacturing programs.

Employees

We currently have six full-time employees, two dfam are involved primarily in management of our-glirical research and development and clinicaldrand four who were
involved primarily in management and administratidmour Company. We also have two contractors wiwige product development, manufacture and clirtica support.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock involves a higlgrée of risk. You should carefully consider treksidescribed below and the other information leefi@ciding to invest in our
common stock. The risks described below are nobtiiye ones facing our Company. Additional risks pragsently known to us or that we currently considenaterial may also adversely
affect our business. We have attempted to ideh&fpw the major factors that could cause differsrmetween actual and planned or expected resuttsydocannot assure you that we have
identified all of those factors.

If any of the following risks actually happen, dusiness, financial condition and operating residtdd be materially adversely affected. In thisezahe trading price of our common
stock could decline, and you could lose all or péstour investment.

Risks Related to Our Company

We have incurred net losses to date and must raidditional capital in order to continue to operatdter 2015.

We have incurred net losses in each year of operatince our inception in July 2000. Our accumulateficit as of December 31, 2013 was $102 mildod our cumulative net loss
applicable to common
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stockholders as of December 31, 2013 was $102lmilWe had $10.5 million of unrestricted castoa®ecember 31, 2013. Additionally, in January &etbruary 2014, the Company
received approximately $28.2 million in net proceé&om the issuance of common stock at then-cumemket prices through its at the market (“ATMif)ancing arrangement and $1.5 mill
from the exercise of stock purchase warrants. Tévegainy currently believes there is sufficient casfund currently planned operations through 20¥6.will require more cash to fund our
operations after 2015. However, there can be narasse that we will be successful in obtaining suew financing or, if available, that such finarginill be obtainable on terms favorable to
us. If our current clinical trials are unsuccessiutio not produce positive results, it may beipaldrly difficult for us to raise additional cagit If we do not raise additional cash for opens
after 2015, we may not be able to continue operatamd may be forced to seek bankruptcy protection.

We may raise capital through public or private ggfinancings, partnerships, debt financings, baakowings, or other sources. Additional fundingymat be available on favorable
terms or at all. If adequate funds are not otherwigilable, we may need to significantly curt@iérations. To obtain additional funding, we maych&eenter into arrangements that requir
to relinquish rights to certain technologies, pratdiand/or potential markets. To the extent thditmal capital is raised through the sale of quir securities convertible into equity, our
equity holders may experience dilution of theirgodionate ownership of the Company.

We are a development stage company and have nagemtrated any revenue.

We are a development stage company and have netaged any revenues to date. There is no assutfzatose will obtain FDA approval of GR-MD-02, GM-@I1, or any other of
our products in development and, even if we ddtst,we will generate revenue sufficient to becqmafitable. Our failure to generate revenue andipnmuld likely lead to loss of your
investment.

We are largely dependent on the success of ourleeal product candidates, GR-MD-02 and GM-CT-01 amd cannot be certain that these product candidaieis receive regulatory
approval or be successfully commercialized.

We currently have no products for sale and we caguarantee that we will ever have any drug praslapproved for sale. We and our product candidatsubject to extensive
regulation by the FDA and comparable regulatorjatities in other countries governing, among othergs, research, testing, clinical trials, mantfeng, labeling, promotion, selling,
adverse event reporting and recordkeeping. Weatrpermitted to market any of our product candislatieor outside the United States until we recejproval of a new drug application for a
product candidate from the FDA or the equivalemrapal from a foreign regulatory authority. ObtaigiFDA approval is a lengthy, expensive and untepeocess.

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sdlamy drug candidate, we must conduct extensiveclmeal studies and clinical trials to demonstrétie safety and efficacy of our
product candidates in humans.

GR-MD-02 our lead product candidate for fibrosimi$hase 1 of the human clinical trial phase afjdtevelopment in the US. GR-MD-02 is also curseintlan investigator
sponsored, human clinical trial being conductedhyvidence Portland Medical Center in combinatidth Wervoy® (ipilimumab) in patients with metastaticelanoma. We cannot assure you
that these trials will yield successful resultsittthey will lead to the generation of revenuethat we will obtain regulatory approval in otheuotries.

There are currently no FDA clinical trials ongoifiog GM-CT-01.

We filed for an IND with the FDA for GR-MD-02 in daary 2013 for initiating human clinical trials pratients with NASH, and the FDA notified us in Mar2013 that we may
proceed with a Phase 1 clinical trial. Our Phaslknical trial began in July 2013. Pre-clinical dies and clinical trials are expensive, time-conisgnand
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ultimately may not be successful. The results efginical and initial clinical testing of theseogiucts may not necessarily indicate the resultsviiibbe obtained from later or more extensive
testing. Also, it is possible to suffer significagtbacks in advanced clinical trials, even aft#aining promising results in earlier trials. Faemple, even though GM-CT-01 progressed
successfully through Phase 1 and was progressougssfully through Phase 2 human trials (which veaitg partially completed due to financing issu010), it may fail in Phase 3 trials or
in later stages of development. We will engagerstbeconduct our clinical trials, including climicresearch organizations and, possibly, governisgonsored agencies. Pre-clinical studies
and clinical trials may not start or be completsdve forecast and may not achieve the desiredtse3iile time required to obtain FDA and other apgl®is unpredictable but often can take
years following the commencement of clinical tri@lepending upon the complexity of the drug carteic

Even if we receive regulatory approval, we may Imable to commercialize our product candidates.

Even if GR-MD-02, GM-CT-01 and other future produandidates achieve positive results in clinidalsr we may be unable to commercialize them. Madlability of government
and third party payor reimbursement, and pricisgeeially compared to competitor products, couldcifour ability to commercialize our product catates. Our general inability to obtain
necessary regulatory approvals and, if obtainedptomercialize our products would substantially anpur viability.

There are risks associated with our reliance onrthparties to design trial protocols, arrange fond monitor the clinical trials, and collect and amgze data.

As we develop products eligible for clinical triage will contract with independent parties to sisas in the design of the trial protocols, arraftgeand monitor the clinical trials,
collect data and analyze data. For instance, inugey 2013, we entered into an agreement with QiRiical Trial Services, Inc. and CTI Clinical Coring Services, Inc. for the purpose of
assisting us in the design, development and corafuate or more clinical research studies from ttom@me. In accordance with this agreement, CTEloisducting the Phase 1 clinical trial for
GR-MD-02 to evaluate the drug’s safety in subjedgth NASH with advanced hepatic fibrosis. In adulitj certain clinical trials for our products maydmnducted by government-sponsored
agencies and will be dependent on governmentatjmation and funding. Additionally, GR-MD-02 is ing studied by Providence Portland Medical Centaari Investigator-sponsored IND
to conduct a Phase 1B study to determine if GR-Ne®hances the probability of melanoma respongeipilimumab by inducing proliferation, activati@amd memory function of CD8+ T
cells in human patients. This study representsvalrapproach for patients with metastatic melanofihe. IND was approved by FDA in February 2014.

Our dependence on independent parties and clisitesl involves risks including reduced control oier timing and other aspects of our clinical fial

There are risks associated with our reliance onrthparties for manufacturing, marketing, sales, maged care and distribution infrastructure and chaefs.

We do not have, and do not now intend to develaglifies for the manufacture of any of our produfdtr clinical or commercial production. At thise, we are not a party to any long-
term agreement with any of our suppliers, and atingly, we have our products manufactured on almase-order basis from one of two primary suppliéfs.are developing relationships
with manufacturers and will enter into collaboratarrangements with licensees or have others metmugzsour products on a contract basis. We expetépend on such collaborators to
supply us with products manufactured in complianith standards imposed by the FDA and foreign ratgus.

We have limited experience in marketing, salesistridution, and we do not intend to develop asaled marketing infrastructure to commercializegharmaceutical products. If we
develop commercial products, we will need to relflioensees, collaborators, joint venture parteeisdependent distributors to market and sell
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those products. Thus, we expect that we will beired to enter into agreements with commercialrgas to engage in sales, marketing and distribwfforts around our products in
development. We may be unable to establish or muaithird-party relationships on a commerciallys@zable basis, if at all. In addition, these tipiadties may have similar or more
established relationships with our competitorsvéfdo not enter into relationships with third pestfor the sales and marketing of our proposedyatsdwe will need to develop our own sales
and marketing capabilities.

Even if engaged, these distributors may:
. fail to satisfy financial or contractual obligat®to us;
. fail to adequately market our produc
. cease operations with little or no notice to us
. offer, design, manufacture or promote competingnfdations or product:

If we fail to develop sales, managed care, margedimd distribution channels, we would experiendaydein generating sales and incur increased ombkish would harm our financial
results.

We are exposed to product liability, pre-clinicahd clinical liability risks, which could place a fiancial burden upon us, should we be sued, becansedo not currently have product
liability insurance beyond our general insurance werage.

Our business exposes us to potential productiialihd other liability risks that are inherenttire testing, manufacturing and marketing of phaeutcal formulations and products;
accordingly, claims may be asserted against usddiition, the use in our clinical trials of pharreatical formulations and products that our potémwtidlaborators may develop and the
subsequent sale of such formulations or productssbyr our potential collaborators may cause @s$nme a portion of or all of the product liabilitgks. A successful liability claim or series
of claims brought against us could have a matadaérse effect on our business, financial condiiot results of operations.

Because we do not currently have any FDA-approvedyets or formulations, we do not currently hamg product liability insurance covering commerdeli products. We may not
be able to obtain or maintain adequate producililpinsurance on acceptable terms, if at allsoch insurance may not provide adequate coverajesa@ur potential liabilities. Furthermo
our current and potential partners with whom weehesllaborative agreements or our future licensegg not be willing to indemnify us against theseety of liabilities and may not,
themselves, be sufficiently insured or have sudfitiliquidity to satisfy any product liability chas. Claims or losses in excess of any productitialimsurance coverage that may be obtained
by us could have a material adverse effect on osiness, financial condition and results of opereti

We face intense competition in the biotechnologydgrharmaceutical industries.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriesraemsely competitive. We face direct competitieom U.S. and foreign companies focusing on phaeutcal products, which are
rapidly evolving. Our competitors include major tm#tional pharmaceutical and chemical companesgialized biotechnology firms and universities attter research institutions. Many of
these competitors possess greater financial ard cebources, larger research and developmens stadf more effective marketing and manufacturigguoizations than we possess. In
addition, academic and government institutionsraceeasingly likely to enter into exclusive licemgiagreements with commercial enterprises, incudimr competitors, to market commercial
products based on technology developed at sudkuiitsts. Our competitors may succeed in developinticensing technologies and products that areeretfective, or succeed in obtaining
FDA or other regulatory approvals for product caladies before we do. Acquisitions of, or investma@mtsompeting pharmaceutical or biotechnology camigs by large corporations could
increase such competitors’ financial, marketingnofacturing and other resources.
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The market for our proposed products is rapidly efging and competitive, and new drugs and new treatits which may be developed by others could impair ability to maintain
and grow our business and remain competitive.

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industriesabgect to rapid and substantial technologicahgkaDevelopments by others may render our propeseticts noncompetitive or
obsolete, or we may be unable to keep pace witintdogical developments or other market factorghfelogical competition from pharmaceutical andédsbnology companies, universiti
governmental entities and others diversifying ifi® field is intense and is expected to increase.

As a pre-revenue company engaged in the developofieinig technologies, our resources are limitedivaa may experience technical challenges inherestich technologies.
Competitors have developed or are in the proceds\loping technologies that are, or in the futaeg be, the basis for competition. Some of theskrtologies may have an entirely
different approach or means of accomplishing sintiiarapeutic effects compared to our proposedymtsd Our competitors may develop drugs that ez, smore effective and less costly
than our proposed products and, therefore, pressatious competitive threat to us.

The potential widespread acceptance of therap#satie alternatives to ours may limit market acaept of our proposed products, even if commereidliMany of our targeted
diseases and conditions can also be treated by m#uications. These treatments may be widely aedép medical communities and have a longer histbuse. The established use of these
competitive drugs may limit the potential for oachnologies, formulations and products to receiidespread acceptance even if commercialized.

Our lack of operating experience may cause us diffity in managing our growth.

We have limited experience in manufacturing or prong products in commercial quantities, conductiiger later-stage phases of the regulatory apppreaess, selling
pharmaceutical products, or negotiating, estatrigshind maintaining strategic relationships. AltHouge have engaged a number of consultants to assiahy additional growth may require
us to expand our management, operational and fimasystems and controls. If we are unable to d@apbusiness and financial condition would beemally harmed. If rapid growth occurs,
it may strain our managerial, operational and fanxaresources.

We depend on key individuals to develop our produand core technologies and pursue collaborativiatenships.

We are highly dependent on Peter G. Traber, M.DTiaber is our Chief Executive Officer and our &@H¥edical Officer who, among other things, designsd leads our pre-clinical
and clinical studies, as well as our U.S. and Beaopregulatory processes. The loss of Dr. Trabtailare to attract or retain other key personreelld prevent us from developing our prod
and core technologies and pursuing collaboratilaioaships.

We may fail to comply with our reporting and otheequirements under federal securities laws.

As a publicly traded company, we are subject ta¢iperting requirements of the Exchange Act. Theharge Act requires that we file annual, quartang current reports. Our failure
to prepare and disclose this information in a tinmelnner could subject us to penalties under féderaurities laws, expose us to lawsuits and gitir ability to access financing. We may
required to implement additional and expensiverfagaand accounting systems, procedures and coa@l® grow our business and organization to gatesiv reporting requirements, which
will increase our costs and require additional ngan@ent resources.

Risks Related to the Regulation of our Products

We will need regulatory approvals to commercializér products.

We are required to obtain approval (i) from the FibArder to sell our products in the U.S. andf(@m foreign regulatory authorities in order tdl ser products in other countries.
The FDA's review and approval
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process is lengthy, expensive and uncertain. Extemse-clinical and clinical data and supportinfprmation must be submitted to the FDA for eactidation for each product candidate in
order to secure FDA approval. Before receiving Fid@arance to market our proposed products, wehaile to demonstrate that our products are safeeopdtient population and effective
for the diseases that are to be treated. Clinizdst manufacturing and marketing of drugs argesthio the rigorous testing and approval procésseoFDA and equivalent foreign regulatory
authorities. The Federal Food, Drug and Cosmettcafd other federal, state and foreign statutegegulations govern and influence the testing, rfesture, labeling, advertising,
distribution and promotion of drugs and medicalides. As a result, regulatory approvals can takersd¢years to acquire and may further requiresttgenditure of substantial financial,
managerial and other resources. The FDA couldtrajeapplication or, in the alternative, requirdaisonduct additional clinical or other studiegpast of the regulatory review process.
Delays in obtaining or failure to obtain FDA appats/would delay or prevent the commercializatioowf product candidates, which would prevent, defatecrease our receipt of revenues.
In addition, should we receive initial regulatoppaoval, our product candidates will be subjeatensive and rigorous ongoing domestic and forg@rernment regulation.

Even if we obtain regulatory approvals, our marketerugs will be subject to ongoing regulatory rewielf we fail to comply with ongoing regulatory reiyements, we could lose our
approvals to market drugs, in which case our busisevould be materially adversely affected.

Following regulatory approval in the United Stadésny drugs we may develop, we will remain subjeatontinuing regulatory review, including the iev of adverse drug
experiences and clinical results that are repate our drug products are made available to p&tidhis would include results from any post mérnigetests or vigilance required as a
condition of approval. The manufacturer and martufagy facilities we use to make any of our drugdarcts will also be subject to periodic review ampection by the FDA. The discovery
of any new or previously unknown problems with gineduct, manufacturer or facility may result intrigsions on the drug or manufacturer or facilitygluding withdrawal of the drug from
the market. We would continue to be subject toRD@A requirements governing the labeling, packagstgrage, advertising, promotion, recordkeeping, submission of safety and other
post-market information for all of our product catates, even those that the FDA had approved. liai/éo comply with applicable continuing regulatgequirements, we may be subject to
fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory apptoproduct recalls and seizures, operating wiiris and other adverse consequences.

The drug development process to obtain FDA appragalery costly and time consuming and if we cangotmplete our clinical trials in a cost-effectiveanner, our results of
operations may be adversely affected.

Costs and timing of clinical trials may vary sigoéntly over the life of a project owing to thelfing non-exclusive reasons:
. the duration of the clinical tria
. the number of sites included in the trie
. the countries in which the trial is conduct
. the length of time required and ability to enrdigible patients:
. the number of patients that participate in thddr
. the number of doses that patients rece
. the droj-out or discontinuation rates of patier
. per patient trial cost:
. third party contractors failing to comply with rdgtory requirements or meet their contractual @ilans to us in a timely manne
. our drug product candidates having different chaimaod pharmacological properties in humans thdahbinesting
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. the need to suspend or terminate our clinicalsy
. insufficient or inadequate supply or quality of gdroduct candidates or other necessary mateoiaisrtduct our trials

. potential additional safety monitoring, or othendiions required by FDA or comparable foreign fdetury authorities regarding the scope or desigounfclinical trials, or
other studies requested by regulatory agen

. problems engaging IRBs to oversee trials or iniabtg and maintaining IRB approval of studi
. the duration of patient follo-up;

. the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddate;

. the costs and timing of obtaining regulatory appisyanc

. the costs involved in enforcing or defending patgaims or other intellectual property righ

Each of the above factors and other unanticipatetbfs beyond our control could prevent us fronmigai approval for our drugs in a cost-effective &intely manner, which could
have a material adverse impact on our business.

If users of our proposed products are unable to abtadequate reimbursement from third-party payemsarket acceptance of our proposed products mayirnéed and we may not
achieve revenues or profits.

The continuing efforts of governments, insuranamganies, health maintenance organizations and ptyars of healthcare costs to contain or reduses af health care may affect
our future revenues and profitability as well as filture revenues and profitability of our potelntisstomers, suppliers and collaborative partneegidition to the availability of capital. In
other words, our ability to commercialize our prepd products will depend in large part on the ebttehich appropriate reimbursement levels forabst of our proposed formulations,
products and related treatments are obtained blyehkth care providers of these products and tiertsnAt this time we cannot predict the precispaot of the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended by the tHe@hre and Education Affordability Act of 2010etbomprehensive health care reform legislationgehbg Congress in March 2010. It is
possible that the adoption of this legislation ddurm our business, financial condition and reseflioperations.

Data obtained from clinical trials may be negatiee inconclusive, and are susceptible to varyingenpretations, which could delay, limit or preverggulatory clearances.

Data already obtained, or in the future obtainesinfpre-clinical studies and clinical trials do metcessarily predict the results that will be atedifrom later pre-clinical studies and
clinical trials. Moreover, pre-clinical and clinicdata may be negative or inconclusive. In addijtiata is susceptible to varying interpretationsgétive or inconclusive data, or data
interpreted in various ways, could delay, limifppevent regulatory approval. A number of compaiale pharmaceutical industry have suffered sigmift setbacks in advanced clinical
trials, even after having obtained promising resinitearlier trials. The failure to adequately destoate the safety and effectiveness of a propfusatlilation or product under development
could delay or prevent regulatory clearance ofpibiential drug. The resulting delays in commerzalion could materially harm our business. Ouricdihtrials may not demonstrate sufficient
levels of safety and efficacy necessary to obtaéréquisite regulatory approvals for our drugsl, tis, our proposed drugs may not be approvechéoketing.

We will need to obtain FDA approval of any proposgrbduct brand names, and any failure or delay asied with such approval may adversely impact buisiness.

A pharmaceutical product cannot be marketed inki® or other countries until it has completed migs and extensive regulatory review processekidimg approval of a brand
name. Any brand names we intend to
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use for our product candidates will require appkénan the FDA regardless of whether we have satarormal trademark registration from the U.SeRaand Trademark Office, or the
PTO. The FDA typically conducts a review of propbpeoduct brand names, including an evaluatiorotémtial for confusion with other product namese HDA may also object to a prod
brand name if it believes the name inappropriatafylies medical claims. If the FDA objects to arfyoar proposed product brand names, we may beregtjto adopt an alternative brand
name for our product candidates. If we adopt arraditive brand name, we would lose the benefitiofexisting trademark applications for such prodizstdidate and may be required to
expend significant additional resources in an effwidentify a suitable product brand name thatidaualify under applicable trademark laws, ndtinge the existing rights of third parties
and be acceptable to the FDA. We may be unableitd & successful brand identity for a new traddniaia timely manner or at all, which would limitioability to commercialize our prodt
candidates.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Our competitive position is contingent upon the pection of our intellectual property.

Development and protection of our intellectual @niy are critical to our business. All of our iéetual property, patented or otherwise, has beeenited and/or developed by
employees or former employees of the Company. Geoess depends, in part, on our ability to obtateqt protection for our products or processeheérlt.S. and other countries, protect
trade secrets and prevent others from infringingwnproprietary rights. We will only be able tefect our product candidates from unauthorized nwkising, selling, offering to sell or
importation by third parties to the extent thatlveere rights under valid and enforceable patentsade secrets that cover these activities. If waatcadequately protect our intellectual
property, competitors may be able to practice ednmologies.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotelclyy companies can be highly uncertain and invotwaplex legal and factual questions for which intgat legal principles rema
unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the ditfeaf claims allowed in biotechnology patents éaerged to date in the United States. The biotdobgpgatent situation outside the Uni
States is even more uncertain. Changes in eitkguatent laws or in interpretations of patent lawthe United States and other countries may dshittie value of our intellectual property.
Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claittmat may be allowed in our pending patent apadina or enforced in our issued patents or in thiady patents.

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is uncertain because legal means afforg lonited protection and may not adequately proteotrights or permit us to gain or
keep our competitive advantage. For example:
. others may be able to make compounds that are ditivgp&vith our product candidates but are not cedeby the claims of our paten
. we might not have been the first to make the ineestcovered by our pending patent applicatic
. we might not have been the first to file patentli@pgions for these invention
. it is possible that our pending patent applicatiwilbnot result in issued patent
. we may not develop additional proprietary techn@sghat are patentable;
. the patents of others may have an adverse effemtiohusiness
We also may rely on trade secrets to protect almtelogy, especially where we do not believe pgpestiection is appropriate or obtainable. Howetrade secrets are difficult to

protect. Although we require our scientific andheical employees and consultants to enter intocbasaignment of inventions agreements, and alibemployees, consultants and corporate
partners with access to proprietary informatioereer into confidentiality agreements, these agesgsnmay not be honored. Enforcing a claim thatrd party illegally
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obtained, and is using, our trade secrets is exgeasd time consuming, and the outcome is unpiadlie. In addition, courts outside the United State sometimes less willing to protect
trade secrets. Moreover, our competitors may indégetly develop equivalent knowledge, methods armivkhow.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of l&tgpn or other proceedings relating to patent anther intellectual property rights and we may be usla to protect our rights to, or use
of, our technology.

Some or all of our patent applications may notesas patents, or the claims of any issued patesysnut afford meaningful protection for our tectogies or products. In addition,
patents issued to us or our licensors, if any, beaghallenged and subsequently narrowed, invatidateircumvented. Patent litigation is widespreathe biotechnology industry and could
harm our business. Litigation might be necessapratect our patent position or to determine thepscand validity of third-party proprietary rights.

If we choose to go to court to stop someone etse fising the inventions claimed in our patents, ithgividual or company would have the right to &s& court to rule that such
patents are invalid and/or should not be enforgzihst that third party. These lawsuits are expenand we may not have the required resourcesrsu@such litigation or to protect our
patent rights. In addition, there is a risk that dourt will decide that these patents are nothaaid that we do not have the right to stop thergdlarty from using the inventions. There is also
the risk that, even if the validity of these paseistupheld, the court will refuse to stop the ofteaty on the ground that such other party’s #@tiv do not infringe our rights in these patents.

Furthermore, a third party may claim that we aiagi;iventions covered by the third party’s pategitts and may go to court to stop us from engagirgur normal operations and
activities, including making or selling our produeeindidates. These lawsuits are costly and cotédtadur results of operations and divert the ditterof managerial and technical personnel.
There is a risk that a court would decide that veeigfringing the third party’s patents and woulder us to stop the activities covered by the gaten addition, there is a risk that a court will
order us to pay the other party treble damagebkéuing violated the other party’s patents. Thedabhology industry has produced a proliferatiopaients, and it is not always clear to
industry participants, including us, which pateriser various types of products or methods of Tlke.coverage of patents is subject to interpratdiipthe courts, and the interpretation is not
always uniform. If we are sued for patent infringsmy we would need to demonstrate that our prodwatsethods of use either do not infringe the ctaghthe relevant patent and/or that the
patent claims are invalid, and we may not be abbiotthis. Proving invalidity in the U.S., in padlar, is difficult since it requires a showingadar and convincing evidence to overcome the
presumption of validity enjoyed by issued patents.

Because some patent applications in the Unite@$taay be maintained in secrecy until the patertssaued, patent applications in the United Staesmany foreign jurisdictions ¢
typically not published until eighteen months afting, and publications in the scientific litetae often lag behind actual discoveries, we caheatertain that others have not filed patent
applications for technology covered by our issuaigpts or our pending applications or that we wleedirst to invent the technology. Our competitoray have filed, and may in the future
file, patent applications covering technology samilo ours. Any such patent application may haweripy over our patent applications and could ferthequire us to obtain rights to issued
patents covering such technologies. If anotheygwas filed a United States patent applicationnwemtions similar to ours, we may have to partigpa an interference or other proceeding in
the PTO or a court to determine priority of inventin the United States. The costs of these pracgedould be substantial, and it is possible sah efforts would be unsuccessful, resulting
in a loss of our United States patent position wépect to such inventions.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustairdises of complex patent litigation more effectivéign we can because they have substantially gnessteurces. In addition, any
uncertainties resulting from the initiation and tonation of any litigation could have a materidiarse effect on our ability to raise the fundsassary to continue our operations.
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Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds upon compliance with various procedural, docemh submission, fee payment and other requiremeniposed by
governmental patent agencies, and our patent pratetcould be reduced or eliminated for non-compiiee with these requirements.

The PTO and various foreign governmental patentcige require compliance with a number of procddd@umentary, fee payment and other provisionsiduhe patent process.
There are situations in which noncompliance cault@s abandonment or lapse of a patent or patepliGation, resulting in partial or complete logpatent rights in the relevant jurisdiction.
In such an event, competitors might be able toreheemarket earlier than would otherwise have libercase.

Our failure to secure trademark registration coulttiversely affect our ability to market our producandidates and our business.

Our trademark applications in the United Statessewiiled, and any other jurisdictions where we rfiegymay not be allowed for registration, and oegistered trademarks may not be
maintained or enforced. During trademark regisirapiroceedings, we may receive rejections. Althoughare given an opportunity to respond to thogtiens, we may be unable to
overcome such rejections. In addition, in the PTid ia comparable agencies in many foreign jurisolict, third parties are given an opportunity toaggppending trademark applications and
to seek to cancel registered trademarks. Oppositimancellation proceedings may be filed againstapplications and/or registrations, and our @pions and/or registrations may not
survive such proceedings. Failure to secure saciemark registrations in the United States andrieidn jurisdictions could adversely affect ourligpto market our product candidates and
our business.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and otheray not adequately prevent disclosure of our gabcrets and other proprietary information and magt adequately protect our
intellectual property, which could impede our atilito compete.

Because we operate in the highly technical fieldiofechnology and pharmaceutical development,elyein part on trade secret protection in ordeprimtect our proprietary trade
secrets and unpatented know-how. However, tradetseare difficult to protect, and we cannot baaierthat others will not develop the same or saimiiéchnologies on their own. We have
taken steps, including entering into confidentyadigreements with all of our employees, consultantscorporate partners to protect our trade searet unpatented know-how. These
agreements generally require that the other pay lconfidential and not disclose to third partiésonfidential information developed by the pastymade known to the party by us during
the course of the party’s relationship with us. &l& typically obtain agreements from these pawigish provide that inventions conceived by thetyar the course of rendering services to
us will be our exclusive property. However, thegeeaments may not be honored and may not effegtassign intellectual property rights to us. Eniiogca claim that a party illegally
obtained and is using our trade secrets or know-bdlifficult, expensive and time consuming, anel tlutcome is unpredictable. In addition, courtsioatthe United States may be less
willing to protect trade secrets or know-how. Théufre to obtain or maintain trade secret protectiould adversely affect our competitive position.

We may be subject to claims that our employees harangfully used or disclosed alleged trade secitsheir former employers.

As is common in the biotechnology and pharmacelitickustry, we employ individuals who were previlyusmployed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutiompanies, including
our competitors or potential competitors. Althoughclaims against us are currently pending, we beagubject to claims that these employees or we imadvertently or otherwise used or
disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary inémion of their former employers. Litigation may mecessary to defend against these claims. Evea éressuccessful in defending against
these claims, litigation could result in substdrg@sts and be a distraction to management.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock may be volatind adversely affected by several factors.

The market price of our common stock could fluatugignificantly in response to various factors ements, including but not limited to:
. the results of our p-clinical studies and clinical trials, including émim resull
. our ability to integrate operations, technologydarcts and service
. our ability to execute our business pl
. operating results below expectatio
. our issuance of additional securities, includingtds equity or a combination thereof, which maynleeessary to fund our operating expen
. announcements of technological innovations or nexdlycts by us or our competito
. loss of any strategic relationsh
. industry developments, including, without limitaticchanges in healthcare policies or practicebidd-party reimbursement policie
. economic and other external factc
. perioc-to-period fluctuations in our financial results; &
. whether an active trading market in our commonkstivelops and is maintaine

In addition, the market price for securities of phaceutical and biotechnology companies histosidadis been highly volatile, and the securities m@rkave from time to time

experienced significant price and volume fluctuadithat are unrelated to the operating performahparticular companies. These broad market fluzina may cause the market price of our
common stock to decline substantially.

In the past, securities class action litigation bfsn been brought against a company followingelide in the market price of its securities. Ti& is especially relevant for us
because biotechnology and biopharmaceutical corapdmaive experienced significant stock price vitiaiih recent years. We may become involved in thi of litigation in the future.
Litigation often is expensive and diverts managetfeaitention and resources, which could materiafig adversely affect our business.

Additionally, fluctuations in the trading price lguidity of our common stock may materially andratsely affect, among other things, the interesheéstors to purchase our common
stock on the open market and, generally, our gliditaise capital.

Our board of directors has the power to designatéthout stockholder approval, additional series feferred stock, the shares of which could be sen@our common stock and be
entitled to conversion or voting rights that adveiy affect the holders of our common stock.

Our articles of incorporation authorize the isswaotcapital stock including 20,000,000 authorinedesignated shares (8,001,000 designated as efiibec 31, 2013), and empowers
our board of directors to prescribe, by resoluiad without stockholder approval, a class or s@fiesdesignated shares, including the number arfeshin the class or series and the voting
powers, designations, rights, preferences, resinetand the relative rights in each such clasepes. Accordingly, we may designate and issuéiaddl shares or series of preferred stock
that would rank senior to the shares of commorksasdo dividend rights or rights upon our liquidat winding-up, or dissolution.
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Nevada law and our charter documents could makenitre difficult for a third party to acquire us andiscourage a takeover, which could depress the imgdrice of our common
stock.

Nevada corporate law and our articles of incorponand bylaws contain provisions that could disege, delay, or prevent a change in control of@ampany or changes in our
management that our stockholders may deem advantageor example, holders of our common stock ddvaee cumulative voting rights in the electiordoctors, meaning that
stockholders owning a majority of our outstandihgres of common stock will be able to elect alboif directors. In addition, because we have mae #00 stockholders of record, we are
subject to the “business combinations” provisiohthe Nevada Revised Statutes, or NRS. These poogigould prohibit or delay a merger or other talex or change in control attempt and,
accordingly, may discourage attempts to acquirecompany even though such a transaction may beristockholders’ best interest and offer our stotdérs the opportunity to sell their
stock at a price above the prevailing market price.

One investor and certain directors, by virtue of oership of our securities and related rights, mag hble to control the Company.

The 10X Fund owns all of our issued and outstan8ieges B Preferred Stock, which are convertibie £7000,000 shares of our common stock. The 10Fwvns related warrants
exercisable to purchase an aggregate of 5,000(@0®sof our common stock. As of December 31, 2@&3ave issued 988,186 shares of our common amdkidends on the Series B
Preferred Stock and 1,500,000 shares of our constumk on the exercise of warrants by 10X Funddiufiteon, (i) James C. Czirr, a managing partnethef10X Fund and Executive
Chairman of our board of directors, owns or costagproximately 862,000 shares of our common siockyding shares of Series A on an as convertsispband has the right to acquire
666,667 additional shares of our common stock tperexercise of outstanding stock options (416d6¥hich are exercisable as of December 31, 2Gir8);(ii) Rod D. Martin, a managing
partner of the 10X Fund and Vice Chairman of owardf directors, owns or controls approximatelyo®0 shares of our common stock and has the ogitduire 114,236 additional shares
of our common stock upon the exercise of outstansiock options (103,791 of which are exercisablefdDecember 31, 2013). As of December 31, 2043 fully diluted basis, assuming
conversion of all Series B Preferred Stock and@serof all outstanding warrants, the 10X Fund \awn approximately 29% of our then outstandingehaf common stock, which,
together with the shares of our common stock ttmatisvbe owned by Mr. Czirr and Mr. Martin (assum@gprcise of all vested options at that date), daohstitute approximately 34% of the
then outstanding shares.

As holder of Series B Preferred Stock, the 10X Fsrehtitled to elect three directors in a sepacktss vote, nominate three directors for eledbipill shares entitled to vote, and
provide or withhold consent to a range of fundamlecrporate actions we may wish to undertake, ssatecapitalization, sale of our company, andratfegters. Such concentration of stock
ownership and related rights could have the effedelaying, deterring or preventing corporate és¢hat our other security holders may desire ositier beneficial to the company.

We may issue additional common stock, which mightie the net tangible book value per share of azommon stock.

Our board of directors has the authority, withatttam or vote of our stockholders, to issue alhgrart of our authorized but unissued shares. Stiack issuances could be made at a
price that reflects a discount to, or a premiunmirthe then-current market price of our commonlkstbtaddition, in order to raise capital, we ma&gd to issue securities that are convertible
into or exchangeable for a significant amount af@mmon stock. We are currently contemplating @aluil capital raising transactions within the nexélve months, which would likely
result in issuances of additional shares which @il dilutive to current shareholders. These issemwould dilute the percentage ownership intevesth would have the effect of reducing
your influence on matters on which our stockholdertg, and might dilute the net tangible book valee share of our common stock. You may incur aatuhd dilution if holders of stoc
options, whether currently outstanding or subsetiyignanted, exercise their options, or if warrhatders exercise their warrants to purchase slémsr common stock.
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A sale of a substantial number of shares of the aoon stock may cause the price of our common stackécline.

Our common stock is currently traded on The NASDBagpital Market and, despite certain increasesaalitig volume from time to time, there have beeimperwhen it could be
considered “thinly-traded,” meaning that the numtifgoersons interested in purchasing our commarksibor near bid prices at any given time maydbatively small or non-existent.
Finance transactions resulting in a large amounewfly issued shares that become readily tradablgther events that cause current stockholdesslt@hares, could place downward pres
on the trading price of our stock. Some of our ehalders have registration rights to facilitateesaif large blocks of our common stock. We hawslfd shelf registration statement to allow
registered sales of up to 9.7 million shares bgdtshareholders. We may consider additional capiising transactions within the next twelve montkisich would likely result in issuances of
additional shares which would be dilutive to cutrgimareholders. In addition, the lack of a robasate market may require a stockholder who desirssll a large number of shares of
common stock to sell the shares in increments tiwer to mitigate any adverse impact of the salethermarket price of our stock.

If our stockholders sell, or the market perceived bur stockholders intend to sell for variousoees, including the ending of restriction on resaléhe expiration of lock-up
agreements such as those entered into in connewitiorthis offering, substantial amounts of our coam stock in the public market, including sharssiésl upon the exercise of outstanding
options or warrants, the market price of our comrstock could fall. Sales of a substantial numbeshaires of our common stock may make it more diffior us to sell equity or equity-
related securities in the future at a time andeptfiat we deem reasonable or appropriate. We n@ynieinvolved in securities class action litigatibat could divert management’s attention
and harm our business.

We have not paid cash dividends in the past anchdbexpect to pay cash dividends in the foreseediitere.

We have never paid cash dividends on our capitaksind do not anticipate paying cash dividendswrcapital stock in the foreseeable future. Thergnt of dividends on our
capital stock will depend on our earnings, finahc@ndition and other business and economic faetffexting us at such time as the board of direateay consider relevant. If we do not pay
dividends, our common stock may be less valuabtadme a return on your investment will only oc€tiné market price of our common stock price apiates.

At times, our shares of common stock and warrants/b been thinly traded, so you may be unable tbaebr near ask prices or even at all if you netdsell your shares or warrants to
raise money or otherwise desire to liquidate yobases or warrants.

We cannot predict the extent to which an activeipubarket for our common stock and warrants wé’dlop or be sustained. Our common stock is cuyréaided on The NASDAQ
Capital Market and experiences periods when itctbel considered “thinly-traded.” This situation nimyattributable to a number of factors, including fact that we are a small company
which is relatively unknown to stock analysts, &tbookers, institutional investors and others i@ ithvestment community that generate or influeradessvolume, and that even if we came to
the attention of such persons, they tend to beanigkse and would be reluctant to follow an unpnos@mpany such as ours or purchase or recommermithbase of our shares until such 1
as we became more seasoned and viable. As a cemgeqthere may be periods of several days, week®nths when trading activity in our shares isimad, as compared to a seasoned
issuer which has a large and steady volume ofrtggalctivity that will generally support continucsaes without an adverse effect on share pricec&deot give you any assurance that a
broader or more active public trading market for cmmon stock will be sustained, or that curresding levels will be sustained or not diminish.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen
None.
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Item 2. Properties

We lease 3,610 square feet for our executive afficeated at 4960 Peachtree Industrial Blvd., NmsrGA. We also lease approximately 300 squaterfédatick, MA, for use by
research and development consultants and whiabill@écated with one of our research and developrsentice vendors. We believe these spaces are Isuitalour present operations.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceeding:

From time to time, the Company is exposed to litagarelating to its operations. The Company isawtently engaged in any legal proceedings treeapected, individually or in the
aggregate, to have a material, adverse effecsdiméancial condition or results of operations,eptcas noted below:

On October 12, 2012, David Platt, Ph.D., the Comjsafiormer Chief Executive Officer and Chairmantio¢ Board of Directors, commenced a lawsuit undemMassachusetts Wage
Act against Dr. Traber and Thomas McGauley, whih@ir capacities as the Company’s Chief Executiffec€ and the Company’s former Chief Financial i€éf, respectively, can be held
individually liable under the Wage Act for non-pagmt of wages. The lawsuit is based on the factdsmugs raised in a previous arbitration proceebetgieen Dr. Platt and the Company
regarding payment of a $1.0 million separation paynunder Dr. Platt's Separation Agreement, andrathspecified “wages.” The statute provides thaiaessful claimant may be entitled
to multiple damages, interest and attorsdges. Although the Company is not a party tdahesuit, it plans to indemnify Dr. Traber and Mrcauley consistent with its obligations under
by-laws and applicable law, believes the lawsuitithout merit, and intends a vigorous defensehair tehalf. On April 29, 2013, the Court allowed Draber’s and Mr. McGauley’s motion
to dismiss. On May 28, 2013, Dr. Platt filed a Metdf Appeal to appeal the Court’s order allowing tlefendants’ motion to dismiss.

On March 29, 2013, the Company instituted arbitrabefore the American Arbitration Association,lgeg to rescind or reform the Separation Agreendistussed above. The
Company claims that Dr. Platt fraudulently indutieel Company to enter into the Separation Agreeneeéched his fiduciary duty to the Company, and waduly enriched from his
conduct. Along with removal of the $1.0 million eskone payment under the Separation Agreemendhmany is seeking repayment of all separationfiterpaid to Dr. Platt to date.
Depending on the outcome of the arbitration, thevipusly accrued $1.0 million could be reversedsHhmbitration has been scheduled for May 2014;évewr, the ultimate outcome is
uncertain and there is no guarantee that the Coynp#lirbe successful in this demand.

On October 1, 2013, the Company received a letteddOctober 1, 2013 from Dr. Platt demanding payrogthe $1 million in accordance with the ternishe Separation Agreemel
As described in the preceding paragraph, the Coynpad previously instituted an arbitration procegdagainst Dr. Platt seeking to rescind the Sejpardigreement, including the milestone
payment provision upon which his demand is baskd.Jompany expects to delay payment for at leashenths from the date of his demand under thes@fthe Separation Agreement.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registran's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters anduer Purchases of Equity Securitit
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock began trading on The NASDAQ CapMtaket under the symbol GALT effective March 2812. Following the delisting of our common stogdni the NYSE
Alternext US as of the close of trading on Jan®rg009, our common stock had been quoted on th@ Biflletin Board since January 21, 2009 under yimeb®| “PRWP.OB” and since
June 16, 2011 under the symbol “GALT.OB". The hagtu low sale prices for our common stock as redastethe OTC Bulletin Board and the NASDAQ Capiirket, for the periods
indicated as shown below. All share prices refleetone-for-six reverse split, which was effectitarch 23, 2012.

High Low
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201
First Quartel $ 4.5 $1.9¢
Second Quarte $ 5.22 $3.1¢
Third Quartel $13.21 $3.9¢
Fourth Quarte $12.7¢ $5.3¢
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201
First Quartel $ 6.0C $3.7¢
Second Quarte $ 4.4C $1.8¢
Third Quartel $ 3.4¢ $1.61
Fourth Quarte $ 224 $1.6(C

Holders of Common Stock

As of March 19, 2014, there were 123 shareholdersomrd of our common stock. Because shares of@mmon stock are held by depositaries, brokersoétmet nominees, the
number of beneficial holders of our shares is sutiilly larger than the number of record holdB@sed on information available to us, we beliewdtare approximately 7,486 nobjecting
beneficial owners of our shares of our common sio@ddition to the record holders.

Dividends

There have been no cash dividends declared onooumon stock since our company was formed. Dividemdsleclared at the sole discretion of our Bo&idiectors. Our intention
is not to declare cash dividends and retain at éaisour operations.

Item 6. Selected Financial Dat:
The information called for by this Item is not appble to us because we are a smaller reportingpaoym

Iltem 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation
Overview

We are a development-stage company engaged irrelsegrch and development to create new therapiéibrfotic disease and cancer. Our drug candidatedased on our method of
targeting galectin proteins, which are key medmtidrbiologic and pathologic functions. We use relty occurring, readily-available plant materiaks starting material in manufacturing
processes to create proprietary complex carbohsslmaith specific molecular weights and other phaentical properties. These complex carbohydratecubés are appropriately
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formulated into acceptable pharmaceutical formoreti Using these unique carbohydrate-based cardidatpounds that bind and inhibit galectin proteives are undertaking the focused
pursuit of therapies for indications where galectiave a demonstrated role in the pathogenesigioea disease. We focus on diseases with sefliteishreatening consequences to patients
and those where current treatment options areddniDur strategy is to establish and implementazirdevelopment programs that add value to ouiness in the shortest period of time
possible and to seek strategic partners when agrogecomes advanced and requires additional ieesur

We endeavor to leverage our scientific and prodagelopment expertise as well as established eakttips with outside sources to achieve cost-éffeeand efficient development.
These outside sources, amongst others, providéthiempertise in preclinical models, pharmaceutételopment, toxicology, clinical development, phaceutical manufacturing,
sophisticated physical and chemical characterimatiod commercial development. We also have estadtlia collaborative scientific discovery prograithueading experts in carbohydrate
chemistry and characterization. This discovery moygis aimed at the targeted development of nevecudés which bind galectin proteins and offer alive options to larger market
segments in our primary disease targets. We amijmgra development pathway to clinical enhancemedtcommercialization for our lead compoundsvierlifibrosis and fatty liver disease
as well as in immune enhancement for cancer therpygf our proposed products are presently inedlegment, including pre-clinical and clinical tsal

2012 Common Stock and Warrant Offering with ReverseSplit and 2013 At Market Issuance Agreement

On March 22, 2012, in anticipation of completingublic offering of securities, we effected a oneix reverse stock split of our common stock. @mmon share and per unit
amounts in this report, including the financiatstaents, have been adjusted to reflect the resplgeOur common stock began trading on The NASD®@&pital Market under the symbol
GALT on March 23, 2012, and the units and warr#éms we sold in the offering began trading on thathange under the symbols GALTU and GALTW, respelst on March 28, 2012.

On March 28, 2012, we completed the public offeiing/hich we issued 2,666,722 shares of commorkstod related warrants exercisable until March228,7, at $5.63 per share to
purchase 1,333,361 shares of common stock for groseeds of $12.0 million (net cash proceeds of idllion).

On October 25, 2013, the Company entered into aviakket Issuance Sales Agreement (the “At Markete&gient”) under which the Company could issue afidkares of its
common stock having an aggregate offering pricgpafo $30.0 million from time to time. As of Deceent81, 2013, the Company had issued 99,942 shaitsscommon stock through its At
Market issuance program resulting in gross proceédpproximately $944,000. In January and Febr@@ds, the Company issued 2,663,647 shares of consinok for gross proceeds of
approximately $29,051,000 which completed the AthdaAgreement.

Our Drug Development Programs

Galectins are a class of proteins that are madeany cells in the body. As a group, these protaiesable to bind to sugar molecules that are pather proteins in and on the cells of
our body. Galectin proteins act as a kind of ghryging together molecules that have sugars am ti@alectin proteins are known to be markedly iase&l in a number of important diseases
including scaring of organs (e.g. liver, lung, legnand heart) and cancers of many kinds. Theaserén galectin protein promotes the disease adetisBnental to the patient.

We have two compounds in development that are diet#o be used in the treatment of liver fibrosid fatty liver disease and in cancer therapy. Tihesecompounds are produced
from completely different, natural, readily availabstarting materials, which, following chemicabpessing, both exhibit the property of bindingtw inhibiting galectin proteins. GR-MD-
02, our lead product for treatment of liver fiboaind fatty liver
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disease with inflammation and fibrosis and in caricerapy, is a proprietary complex polysacchapidigmer possessing both linear and globular strastuvhich is derived from a plant
source. GM-CT-01 is a proprietary linear polysacicteapolymer comprised of mannose and galactosehttsaa precisely defined chemical structure anidiwis also derived from a plant
source.

We believe the mechanism of action for GR-MD-02 &M-CT-01 is based upon interaction with, and iitfob of, galectin proteins, which are expressehigh levels in certain
pathological states including inflammation, fibmand cancer. While GR-MD-02 and GM-CT-01 are chpabbinding to multiple galectin proteins, we iegk that they have the greatest
affinity for galectin-3, the most prominent galeciinplicated in pathological processes. Blockingegtn in cancer and liver fibrosis has specifituty effects on the disease process, as
discussed below.

Liver Fibrosis

The main initiative in our development strategyhis application of galectin inhibition in connectiwith liver fibrosis, a condition that leads torbbsis. We believe that GR-MD-02
has the potential to treat nonalcoholic steatoligp@iASH) and other forms of liver fibrosis. Thleiving factor for our commitment to galectin inhibn for fibrosis is scientific evidence that
strongly suggests that galectin-3 is essentiaferdevelopment of liver fibrosis in animals. Pabéd data show that mice lacking the galectin-2 gea incapable of developing liver fibrosis
in response to toxin insult to the liver and intyfdiver disease. Moreover, mice that do not hdaeegalectin-3 gene are resistant to lung and kidibegsis.

We have evaluated the ability of GR-MD-02 to blggltectin-3 in animal models of liver fibrosis, tbenclusions of which yielded positive results. @te-clinical data show that GR-
MD-02 may have a therapeutic effect on liver filisass shown in several relevant animal models. &fbeg, we chose GR-MD-02 as the lead candidatelievalopment program targeted
initially at fibrotic liver disease associated wASH. In January 2013, an Investigational New DfUiyD") was submitted to the FDA with the goal iviitiating a Phase 1 study in patients
with NASH and advanced liver fibrosis to primardyaluate the human safety of GR-MD-02 and pharmawdics biomarkers of disease are also includédeirtirial design. On March 1,
2013, the FDA indicated we could proceed with a.B8ase 1 clinical trial for GR-MD-02 with a devetoent program aimed at obtaining support for a @sed indication of GR-MD-02 for
treatment of NASH with advanced fibrosis. In Febyu2013 we entered into an agreement with Clinfeal Services Inc. (“CTI”) to conduct a Phase ihichl trial of GR-MD-02 to assess
safety and preliminary evidence of efficacy in hasman June 2013, we submitted a Fast Track apigitéo the FDA to help expedite its clinical deygient program of GR-MD-02 in the
treatment of NASH with advanced fibrosis. FDA gsaRast Track designation to help expedite reviedvapproval of drugs in development that treat serimr life threatening diseases and
an unmet medical need. On August 7, 2013, FDA cmled that the development program for GR-MD-02 st criteria for Fast Track designation, and Fi2& designated the
investigation of GR-MD-02 for non-alcoholic steagplatitis with hepatic fibrosis as a Fast Track tigwment program. We began enrolling patients is thal in July 2013 and we expect top
line of the first cohort of patients (total of 8tieats) around the end of the first quarter of 2dsults of cohort 2 and cohort 3, if neededgapected be available by August 2014 and
November 2014, respectively. Near the end of 20%kdy 2015, depending on the results of the Phatedy, we expect to initiate a Phase 2 clirtical to assess the efficacy of +MD-02
in patients with NASH and advanced liver fibrogisldased on that timing we would expect top-lineichl results in the first half of 2016, dependingthe final design of the Phase 2 study.

Galectin Inhibition in Cancer Therapy

We believe the potential exists for galectin intidsi to play an important role in cancer therapglegtin proteins, particularly galectin-1 and géfe8, have been shown to be highly
expressed in the majority of cancers and have pheltbles in promoting cancer progression, inclgdiumor cell invasion, metastasis, angiogenest tamor evasion of the immune system.
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GM-CT-01, our initial candidate targeted for seleeitancer therapy together with a potential metamoaccine, initially was being studied in a clalitiial in Europe. In 2012 we
initiated a Phase 1/2 clinical trial of GM-CT-01dambination with a tumor vaccine in patients vatlvanced melanoma, a deadly skin cancer. Thessislbeing conducted at three centers in
Belgium and one in Luxembourg. The operational cohdf the trial was under the control of the Car@entre at the Cliniques Universitaires Saint-aad the Ludwig Institute for Cancer
Research. Positive results from this study coulcehadicated that inhibiting the “Galectin Effeauld be an enabling technology for therapy in othmor types. In January 2014, the Cai
Centre at the Cliniques universitaires Saint-Lud #re Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research (LICR)agreement with Galectin Therapeutics, volunggslaced on hold its Phase 1/2 trial
evaluating the safety and efficacy, GM-CT-01, im&ination with an experimental peptide vaccinetliar treatment of advanced metastatic melanomatrighevas placed on hold as the
investigators were unable to enroll sufficient @ats with advanced stage melanoma due to the bigbt®n criteria of patient candidates for thetjgpvaccine and the recent availability of
Yervoy in Europe as a treatment increasing theallveurvival of metastatic melanoma patients.

We continue to believe there is potential for gafeinhibition to play a key role in the burgeoniarga of cancer immunotherapy. For example, thave been two recent approvals of
drugs that enhance a patient’'s immune system o ¢é@ncer. With many additional vaccines and imnatimeulatory agents in development, industry artalfarecast that this market could
grow to over $7 billion by 2015. It is our goaluse a galectin inhibitor to enhance the immuneesystinction to fight cancer and, most importarat tomplements other approaches to this
type of therapy. Our drug candidates provide a psimig new therapeutic approach to enhance theigoti/ithe immune system against cancer cells.|Pieal studies have indicated that GR-
MD-02 and GM-CT-01 enhance the immune responsadar@re specifically increased tumor shrinkageemtthnced survival in immune competent mice witlstate and breast cancers
when combined with one of the immune checkpoinibiitrs, anti-CTLA-4 or anti-PD-1. These preclinickata have led to the filing of an Investigatopsgored IND and the initiation of a
study of GR-MD-02 in combination with Yervéy (ipiiumab) in a Phase 1B study of patients with metiastelanoma. This study is being conducted untdeisponsorship of Providence
Portland Medical Center’s Earle A. Chiles Reseanstitute (EACRI).

We previously attempted to gain regulatory appra¥dbM-CT-01 for use in combination with 5-FU (SdBkouracil, an anti-cancer chemotherapy drug) doinig.chemotherapy
regiments for metastatic colorectal cancer in CaliemThis approach had been recommended to the &oniyy key oncology opinion leaders in Colombia bpydPROCAPS S.A.
(“PROCAPS"), a Colombia-based pharmaceutical corpp@here has been no approval of GM-GTin a major region such as the U.S. or Europetamds determined that approval from
regulatory authority in Columbia (INVIMA) would redre additional clinical trial data. Although th@@pany worked with PROCAPS to design a Phase Ralitrial, a satisfactory plan
could not be agreed upon and we terminated theehgeat with PROCAPS (as described below), effe@eptember 29, 2012, and have no current plansitince attempts to gain approval
of GM-CT-01 in Columbia. We had not taken into aguioprojections for any potential revenues frons #greement in our financing plans.

Agreement with PROCAPS S.A.

On March 25, 2010, we granted PROCAPS S.A. (irfahm of a definitive term sheet) exclusive rightstiarket and sell GM-CT-01 to treat cancer in Cdl@nSouth America.
PROCAPS is an international, privately held phamudical company based in Barranquilla, ColombigOttober 2010, we received a payment of $200,08Ghipped GM-CT-01 to
PROCAPS to be used by PROCAPS to undertake isttgls contemplated by the term sheet. We recohde$200,000 payment from PROCAPS as deferred revemthe consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2011, to be rzeabwhen the remaining deliverables of the agregmvere completed.

On October 18, 2011, we entered into a Collabanaupply, Marketing and Distribution Agreemeng(tihgreement”) with PROCAPS. The Agreement graRBDCAPS first
negotiation rights to enter into similar
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agreements in other Central and South AmericantdesnWe were to be the sole manufacturer andlgugg GM-CT-01 to PROCAPS. The Agreement obligdl®ROCAPS to procure
regulatory approvals necessary for the marketinbsafe of GM-CT-01 naming us as the owner of syght@vals to the extent permitted by law, or altéxedy hold the approvals for our
benefit. PROCAPS was required to pay us a statetbfeeach dose it purchases and royalties ataarirental rate determined by annual net sales ofG3M1. We retained all intellectual
property rights to GM-CT-01 and related productd BROCAPS may not produce, modify, reverse engirmeatherwise interfere with the GM-CT-01 compouRROCAPS may not
manufacture or sell products that compete with GMaZ during the term of the Agreement and for frears thereafter.

PROCAPS had not obtained approval to sell GM-CTr0Qolumbia as required by the Agreement and, &g trere in material breach of the Agreement, waitgated the Agreement,
effective September 29, 2012. With no further adtiigns under the Agreement, we recognized the $20Q)ayment as Other Income in the Statement ofa@ipas during the year ended
December 31, 2012.

Results of Operations from the Years Ended Decembé1, 2013 and 2012
Research and Development Expense

Year ended
December 31, 2013 as Compared to 201
2013 2012 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except %,
Research and developm $5,68¢ $4,52i $ 1,161 26%

We generally categorize research and developm@eineses as either direct external expenses, cordmisamounts paid to third party vendors for sasjor all other research and
development expenses, comprised of employee payrdigeneral overhead allocable to research arelafguent. We consider a clinical program to havgubeupon acceptance by the FDA,
or similar agency outside of the United Stategammence a clinical trial in humans, at which timebegin tracking expenditures by the product cdatéi Clinical program expenses
comprise payments to vendors related to preparétigmnd conduct of, all phases of the clinicalltrincluding costs for drug manufacture, patidosing and monitoring, data collection and
management, oversight of the trials and reportesilts. Pre-clinical expenses comprise all rebeand development amounts incurred before humals tregin, including payments to
vendors for services related to product experimantsdiscovery, toxicology, pharmacology, metaloolend efficacy studies, as well as manufacturimgess development for a drug
candidate.

We have two product candidates, GR-MD-02 and GMeQZTWe filed for an IND for GR-MD-02 in January Z)and in February 2013 we entered into an agreewiémCTI to
conduct a Phase 1 clinical trial of GR-MD-02. Infieta2013, the FDA indicated we could proceed witthase 1 human clinical trial of GR-MI2, and we began enrolling patients in the
quarter of 2013. In January 2014, we completecttitellment of the first cohort of patients in theeBe 1 trial with no serious adverse events b&pgrted. We anticipate that initial safety
tolerability results, as well as biomarkers to ea# for potential disease effect, from the fictiart of patients will be available by early A®i014. The second cohort of this Phase 1 trial is
expected to start around the end of April 2014.ddeling on the results of the Phase 1 study, wectxpénitiate a Phase 2 clinical trial in late 20 early 2015 to assess the efficacy of GR-
MD-02 in patients with NASH and advanced liver fibis. The timing of initial results from the Ph&stial are dependent upon the trial design buteniily are planned to be available in the
first half of 2016. Our Phase 2 clinical prograntikely to include additional clinical trials to iy characterize human response to GR-MD-02 arfzktter position the Company for a
successful Phase 3 clinical trial program

28



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

Our research and development expenses were awsollo

Year Ended
December 31,
2013 2012
(in thousands)

Direct external expense

Clinical programs and p-clinical activities $3,93¢ $2,99¢
Other research and development exper

Payroll and othe 761 60€

Stock based compensati 991 922

$5,68¢ $4,527

Clinical programs and prelinical expenses for the year ended December(@®li3,ancreased compared to the same period in 20&2primarily to costs of $1,892,000 related dumst
1 clinical trial which began in 2013 offset by deases in expenses for pre-clinical and drug matwiag totaling $956,000. We expect as we contiourePhase 1 trial for GR-MD2 in 2014
and prepare for our Phase 2 program, our cliniedipe-clinical program costs will increase subsadly.

Both the time required and costs we may incur deoto commercialize a drug candidate that wowdlten material net cash inflow are subject to rumas variables, and therefore
we are unable at this stage of our developmertrecést useful estimates. Variables that make atsifficult include the number of clinical tsalve may undertake, the number of patients
needed to participate in the clinical trial, patisgcruitment uncertainties, trial results as ® $hfety and efficacy of our product, and uncetigsras to the regulatory agency response to our
trial data prior to receipt of marketing approwdbreover, the FDA or other regulatory agencies sugpend clinical trials if we or an agency beligpatents in the trial are subject to
unacceptable risks, or find deficiencies in thedran of the clinical trial. Delays or rejections yrelso occur if governmental regulation or poli¢yanges during our clinical trials or in the
course of review of our clinical data. Due to theseertainties, accurate and meaningful estimdtéeeaultimate cost to bring a product to markie¢ timing of costs and completion of our
program and the period during which material nehdaflows will commence are unavailable at thiseti However, we expect to continue to have subiataesearch and development
expenses for the foreseeable future as we contindevelop our products.

General and Administrative Expense

Year ended
December 31, 2013 as Compared to 201
2013 2012 $ Change % Change
(in thousands, except %,
General and administrati $6,41¢ $5,372 $ 1,04¢ 19%

General and administrative expenses consist piiynafrsalaries including stock based compensateggl and accounting fees, insurance, investotioels business development and
other office related expenses. The primary reafmrthe increase for the year ended December 3113 26 compared to the same period for 2012 aréoduereased stockased compensati
of $928,000, increased legal expenses of $49,08fedeto our ongoing litigation with Dr. Platt, ileased insurance expense of $92,000 and increasestar relations expense of $66,000,
offset by decreased rent expense of $177,000. filmagy reason for the increase in stock-based casgi®n for the year ended December 31, 2013 wasada modification in September
2013 of certain vested options held by a formerdbaaember to extend the contractual exercise pehicmigh the original expiration dates as opposeDtdays after service on the board
ended.
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Other Income and Expense

During the year ended December 31, 2012, otheniecand expense consisted primarily of the $200p@@@nent from PROCAPS which was previously accoufaeds deferred
income and recognized upon the termination of ROCAPS Agreement, as previously described.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As described above in the Overview and elsewhefigisnAnnual Report on Form 10-K, we are in theadlepment stage and have not generated any revemdese. Since our
inception on July 10, 2000, we have financed o@rajions from proceeds of public and private offgsi of debt and equity. As of December 31, 2013aised a net total of $77.4 million
from these offerings. At December 31, 2013, the gamy had $10,489,000 of unrestricted cash andegsifvalents available to fund future operationsdifidnally, in January and February
2014, the Company received $28,178,000 in net psc&om the issuance of common stock at then4tumerket prices through its at the market (“ATNIancing arrangement and
$1,500,000 from the exercise of stock purchaseamésr The Company currently believes there isaefit cash to fund currently planned operationsugh 2015. We will require more cash
to fund our operations after 2015 and believe wkheiable to obtain additional financing. Howewere can be no assurance that we will be suedesgbtaining such new financing or, if
available, that such financing will be on termsdiable to us. If we are unsuccessful in raisingtamthl capital to fund operations after 2015, waynbe required to cease operations or seek
bankruptcy protection.

We have accrued an expense of $1,000,000 thay#bleato David Platt, Ph.D., the Company’s formbie€ Executive Officer and Chairman of the Boardafectors, upon certain
company milestone events occurring in 2013 pursieahis Separation Agreement with the Company; vaneon March 29, 2013, we instituted arbitrati@fidoe the American Arbitration
Association, seeking to rescind or reform the Sapar Agreement. Depending on the outcome of thiration, the accrual could be reversed. The tir@nd ultimate outcome of this
arbitration, though, is uncertain and there is nargntee that we will be successful in this dem&ee. “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” for further dgstasn of the arbitration.

Net cash used in operations decreased by $16,080484,000 for 2013, as compared to $7,500,002G&2. Cash operating expenses increased princihadl to increased research
and development activities primarily related to fibrosis development and Phase 1 clinical trial@&®-MD-02 begun in 2013, offset by an increasadoounts payable and accrued expenses
at December 31, 2013 over December 31, 2012.

Cash provided by investing activities during 20b2sisted of a decrease in restricted cash by $648@ur $59,000 secured letter of credit for effpace and $10,000 of secured
credit cards were released, offset by equipmerthases of $5,000. There were no equipment purcloasgker investing activities in 2013.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $8,600 during 2013 as compared to $10,403,000 d@®ig, due primarily to the transaction describeld.

In 2013, we received $4,776,000 from the exercistark options and warrants. Additionally, in 20%& received $3,000,000 from a private placeméonheegistered common stock
and received $833,000 in net proceeds from oureatrtarket stock issuance program. On March 28,,2@d2ssued 2,666,722 shares of common stock datgdeb5.63 warrants to purchase
1,333,361 shares of common stock, resulting inggposceeds of $12,000,000 (net proceeds of $1MA03R,

Operating leases.

In September 2012, we entered into an operatirsg I office space in Norcross, GA for a termvaénty-six months, beginning on October 1, 2012 emiing November 30, 2014 at
a rate of $3,000 per month.
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The lease provides for free rent for the first twonths of the lease and required a security depb$,000. In addition to base rental paymenthigfed in the contractual obligations table
above, we are responsible for our pro-rata shatleeobperating expenses for the building.

In October 2012, we entered into an operating léarseffice space collocated with lab space foesesh and development activities in Massachuskteslease is for a period of one
year, beginning on October 1, 2012, for a ratel&, @00 for the term, payable in equal monthly ingats. This lease was continued on a month to ntmagls from October 1, 201

Separation agreement.

As described above under “Legal Proceedings,” tie@any has recognized a $1.0 million severance paydue to David Platt, Ph.D., its former Chief &xéve Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors, and the amairicluded in accrued expenses at September 3@, @&0d December 31, 2012. On May 2, 2012, Dr. Ristituted an arbitration
proceeding with the American Arbitration Associatigeeking a $1 million payment pursuant to the sevfrhis Separation Agreement with the Company.l&\tiis demand was denied by the
arbitrator in November 2012, Dr. Platt commencéalsuit under the Massachusetts Wage Act againstaber and Thomas McGauley, who in their capesiéis the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and the Company’s former Chiefdfticial Officer, respectively, can be held inditly liable under the Wage Act for non-payment a@fges. The statute provides that a
successful claimant may be entitled to multiple dges, interest and attorney’s fees. Although the@my is not a party to the lawsuit, it plans tweimnify Dr. Traber and Mr. McGauley
consistent with its obligations under the by-lawsd applicable law. On April 29, 2013, the Courbailéd Dr. Traber's and Mr. McGauley’s motion to dissa On May 28, 2013, Dr. Platt filed
a Notice of Appeal to appeal the Court’'s ordenilig the defendants’ motion to dismiss.

On March 29, 2013, the Company instituted arbitrabefore the American Arbitration Association,lseg to rescind or reform the Separation Agreem@ntAugust 1, 2013 the
market capitalization of the Company’s common stexseeded $100 million and the Company receivetiter|/from Dr. Platt dated October 1, 2013, demapgiayment of the $1 million.
The Company expects to delay payment pending tteome of the arbitration instituted against Dr.tPla

Depending on the outcome of the arbitration angkliton, the Company could be required to pay Dattfhe $1.0 million, and possibly multiple damagiaterest and attorney’s fees,
or the previously accrued $1.0 million could beersed, See “Legal Proceedings” for further desoript

Other. We have engaged outside vendors for certaincesrassociated with our clinical trials. Thesevises are generally available from several pronsdand, accordingly, our
arrangements are typically cancellable on 30 dajise

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not created, and are not a party to, a@giappurpose or off-balance sheet entities forpilngose of raising capital, incurring debt or @pieig parts of our business that are
not consolidated into our financial statements.d&e@ot have any arrangements or relationshipsemitties that are not consolidated into our finahstatements that are reasonably likely to
materially affect our liquidity or the availabiligf capital resources.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are more fulBscribed in Note 2 to our consolidated finandiaesnents included elsewhere in this annual repoRorm 10-K. Certain of our
accounting policies, however, are critical to tloetpayal of our financial position and results pkeations and require the application of signiftgadgment by our management, which
subjects them to an inherent degree of uncertdim@gpplying
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our accounting policies, our management uses gsjbégment to determine the appropriate assumptmbe used in the determination of certain esémaur more significant estimates
include stock option and warrant liability valuat®and performance vesting features of certaihesé instruments, useful lives and potential inmpeitt of property and equipment and
intangible assets, accrued liabilities, deferraxime taxes and cash flow. These estimates are basmdt historical experience, terms of existingtcacts, our observance of trends in the
industry, information available from other outsirces, and on various other factors that we\zetie be appropriate under the circumstances. Wevbehat the critical accounting policies
discussed below involve more complex managemegnjeat due to the sensitivity of the methods, assiompand estimates necessary in determining theetkasset, liability, revenue and
expense amounts.

Accrued Expenses As part of the process of preparing our cdadatéd financial statements, we are required ficnest accrued expenses. This process involvesififiagtservices
that third parties have performed on our behalfestimating the level of service performed andabsociated cost incurred on these services acbftdance sheet date in our consolidated
financial statements. Examples of estimated acoedpdnses include contract service fees in coripmetith preelinical and clinical trials, professional serviees, such as those arising fr
the services of attorneys and accountants andett@ayroll expenses. In connection with these seifées, our estimates are most affected by oweratahding of the status and timing of
services provided relative to the actual servinesrred by the service providers. In the eventwetlo not identify certain costs that have beennmed or we under- or over-estimate the level
of services or costs of such services, our repaxpenses for a reporting period could be undetat overstated. The date on which certain ses\doenmence, the level of services
performed on or before a given date, and the dastroices are often subject to our judgment. Wearthese judgments based upon the facts and citanoes known to us in accordance \
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S

Warrants. We have issued common stock warrants in cdimmewith the execution of certain equity and diélncings and consulting agreements. Certain wgsyao longer
outstanding, had been accounted for as derivatbéities at fair value. Such warrants did not mtbe criteria that a contract should not be ccersid a derivative instrument if it is (1) inde:
to its own stock and (2) classified in stockholtlerpiity. Changes in fair value of derivative liktiés were recorded in the consolidated stateroboperations under the caption “Change in
fair value of warrant liabilities.” Warrants thatanot considered derivative liabilities are acdedrfor at fair value at the date of issuance iditawhal paidin capital. The fair value of warrai
is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pgeimdel using assumptions regarding volatility @f common share price, remaining life of the warrand risk-free interest rates at each
period end. There were no warrant liabilities aDetember 31, 2013 or 2012.

Stock-Based Compensation Stock-based compensation cost is measurée grant date based on the fair value of the aaadds recognized as expense over the servicedperio
which generally represents the vesting period.avwaards that have performance based vesting conslittie Company recognizes the expense over timeatst period that the awards are
expected to be earned. The Company generally bhed3lack-Scholes option-pricing model to calculiie grant date fair value of stock options. Forapt that only vest upon the
achievement of market conditions, the Company &ihe options using a Monte Carlo model to caleua¢ grant date fair value of the stock optioriee &xpense related to options that vest
based on market conditions is not reversed shboalgktoptions not ultimately vest. The expense mgized over the service period is required to inelad estimate of the awards that will be
forfeited. Stock options issued to non-employeesaacounted for in accordance with the provisidn&SC Subtopic 505-50, Equity-Based Payments to-Bimployees, which requires
valuing the stock options using an option pricingdel (the Company uses Black-Scholes) and meassuicly stock options to their current fair value witgey vest.

Research and Development Expense&.osts associated with research and developanemxpensed as incurred. Research and developwperises include, among other costs,
salaries and other personnel-related costs, arns icasirred by outside laboratories and other alitgre facilities in connection with clinical triaind preclinical studies.
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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements made herein that look forwatihia or express management’s expectations orfbeligh respect to the occurrence of future evangsforward-looking statements
as defined under Section 21E of the Securities &xgb Act of 1934, as amended, and are subjece tsetfe harbor created therein for forward-lookitagesnents. Such statements include, but
are not limited to, statements concerning our g#ted operating results, research and developrolmital trials, regulatory proceedings, and fioahresources, and can be identified by use
of words such as, for example, “anticipate,” “esti&” “expect,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “belige” and “would,” “should,” “could” or “may.” All satements, other than statements of
historical facts, included herein that addressvaigs, events, or developments that the Compapges or anticipates will or may occur in the fetuare forward-looking statements, including
statements regarding: plans and expectations negactinical trials; plans and expectations regagdiegulatory approvals; our strategy and expextatfor clinical development and
commercialization of our products; potential stgatepartnerships; expectations regarding the effexsess of our products; plans for research andldpment and related costs; statements
about accounting assumptions and estimates; exjpastaegarding liquidity and the sufficiency ofsbeto fund operations through 2015; our commitmantscontingencies; and our market
risk exposure. Forward-looking statements are basezlirrent expectations, estimates and projectibosit the industry and markets in which Galectier@peutics operates, and
management’s beliefs and assumptions. These stateare not guarantees of future performance aralvia certain known and unknown risks and uncetigsrthat could cause actual results
to differ materially from those expressed or imgl®y such statements. Such risks and uncertaintéerelated to and include, without limitation,

. our early stage of developme

. we have incurred significant operating losses smagenception and cannot assure you that we eitigate revenue or prof

. our dependence on outside capi

. we may be unable to enter into strategic partngsshair the developmercommercialization, manufacturing and distributidroor proposed product candidat
. uncertainties related to our technology and clirticals,

. we may be unable to demonstrate the efficacy afedysaf our developmental product candidates in &uitmials, intellectual property protection, and mway be unable to
improve upon, protect and/or enforce our intellatproperty,

. we are subject to extensive and costly regulatiothb U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) anydfbreign regulatory authorities, which must apg@ur product
candidates in development and could restrict thessend marketing and pricing of such prodt

. competition and stock price volatility in the bick@ology industry
. limited trading volume for our stock, concentratmfrownership of our stock, and other risks detaierein and from time to time in our SEC repc

We caution investors that actual results or busigesditions may differ materially from those prigg or suggested in forward-looking statements rsult of various factors
including, but not limited to, those described abawnd in the Risk Factors section of this annyadnteon Form 10-K. We cannot assure you that we lidentified all the factors that create
uncertainties. Moreover, new risks emerge from tionéme and it is not possible for our managentemtredict all risks, nor can we assess the impfall risks on our business or the extent
to which any risk, or combination of risks, may sawactual results to differ from those containedrin forward-looking statements. Readers shoulglaae undue reliance on forwaabking
statements. We undertake no obligation to publielgase the result of any revision of these forWaoding statements to reflect events or circumstarafter the date they are made or to
reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarkRisk
The information called for by this Item is not appble to us because we are a smaller reportingpaoyn

Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary De
The financial statements required by this itemedtached to this Annual Report on Form 10-K begigron Page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedure

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the SecuritiehBrge Act of 1934, (the “Exchange Act”) as of thd ef the period covered by this Annual Report,cagied out an evaluation,
under the supervision and with the participatioowf Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Finan€Mficer, of the effectiveness of our disclosumntrols and procedures as of December 31,
2013. Our management has concluded, based oretfadiration, that our disclosure controls and praoesiwere effective as of December 31, 2013 torerthat information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports we file or submiderthe Exchange Act is recorded, processed, sumedaand reported within the time periods specifiethe Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms.

(b) Management's Annual Report on Internal Con®ekr Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for estaby and maintaining adequate internal contre@rdinancial reporting. As defined in Rule 13a-}&(fder the Exchange Act,
internal control over financial reporting is a pess designed by, or under the supervision of, gaasis principal executive and principal finanaéficers and effected by a company’s board
of directors, management and other personnel,avige reasonable assurance regarding the reliabflifinancial reporting and the preparation official statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptee It includes those policies and proceduras th

a) Pertain to the maintenance of records thatdeaeable detail accurately and fairly reflect tamsactions and dispositions of the assets of gpanm

b) Provide reasonable assurance that transactienrs@rded as necessary to permit preparatianardial statements in accordance with generattgpied accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of a company argybmeade only in accordance with authorizations ahagement and the board of directors of the comard/

c) Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventtibmely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of a company’s assets that doave a material effect on its
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations, internal cointver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of any evatumatf effectiveness to future peric
are subject to the risk that controls may becoradequate because of changes in conditions, ottthategree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.
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The Company’s management has used the criteriblissizd in “Internal Control-Integrated FrameworkSued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway
Commission (1992 framework), or COSO, to evalulateeffectiveness of the Company’s internal corax@r financial reporting. Management has seledtedXOSO framework for its
evaluation as it is a control framework recognibgdhe SEC and the Public Company Accounting OgatsBoard, that is free from bias, permits reastnabnsistent qualitative and
quantitative measurement of the Company’s intecoatrols, is sufficiently complete so that releveontrols are not omitted, and is relevant to adwation of internal controls over financial
reporting.

Management conducted an evaluation of internalrotnbased on the COSO framework. The evaluaticlided a full scale, documented risk assessmesgdban the principles
described in the framework, and included identifaaof key controls. Management completed docuatent of its testing to verify the effectivenesdiué key controls. Based on the
evaluation, management concluded that our intexmatirol over financial reporting was effective december 31, 2013.

As we are neither a large accelerated filer naialerated filer, as defined in Rule 12b-2 underfxchange Act, we are exempt from the requireneeiniclude an attestation report
of our independent registered public accounting fiegarding internal control over financial repogti
(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Rejitgy

There was no change in our internal control ovearftial reporting that occurred during the fourtlarger of 2013 that has materially affected, oe@sonably likely to materially affe
our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART Ill

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

The information required by this Item will be comied in our definitive Proxy Statement to be fileith the Securities and Exchange Commission, or,3fE€nnection with our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders which is scheduleté¢ held on May 13, 2014 (the “2014 Proxy Statd@fhemder the captions “Election of Directors,” “Bal of Directors Meetings and
Committees of the Board,” “Executive Officers” at®kction 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coiampte” and is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applied mualdirectors, officers and employees. The Cddgetbics is publicly available on our website atw\galectintherapeutics.com.
Amendments to the Code of Ethics and any grantvediger from a provision of the Code of Ethics rieipg disclosure under applicable SEC rules willdigclosed on our website.

Item 11. Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item will be inporated by reference from the information underctyetion “Compensation of Named Executive Officarsiitained in our 2014
Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners adMbnagement and Related Stockholder Matt

The information required by this item will be inporated by reference from the information undercggtion “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficiakners and Management”
contained in our 2014 Proxy Statement.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and &stor Independenc

The information required by this item will be inporated by reference from the information undercéiggtion “Certain Relationships and Related Trathsas’ contained in our 2014
Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servici

The information required by this item will be inporated by reference from the information undercéggtions “Audit Fees”, “Audit-Related Fees,” “TEres,” “All Other Fees” and
“Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures” containediin2014 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedult

(@) 1. Consolidated Financial Statement Sched

The Consolidated Financial Statements are filgobatsof this report
2. Consolidated Financial Statement Sched

All schedules are omitted because of the absefncenditions under which they are required ordese the required information is included in the&xdidated Financial
Statements or notes there

3. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

35

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

Description of Document
Amended and Restated Atrticles of Incorporation afe@tin Therapeutics Inc. (Incorporated by refeestocthe Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K fikgth the
Commission on May 30, 2012

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Galectin Therapeiniz (Incorporated by reference to the Compa@yisent Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commissam
May 30, 2012.

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Righmd himitations of Series A 12% Convertible Prefdr&ock of Pro Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed whith Secretary of
State of the State of Nevada on October 5, 2082o(porated by reference to the Company’s CurrepoR on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on Qxn9,
2007.)

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Righmd himitations of Series B-1 Convertible Prefer&dck and Series B-2 Convertible Preferred StodRrof
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed with the SecretduiState of the State of Nevada on February 119200corporated by reference to the Company’s @urReport on
Form &K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Qpwstion of Preferences, Rights and Limitations efi€s B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock and Serié&s@snvertible
Preferred Stock of Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,led fiith the secretary of State of the State ofadevon August 12, 2009. (Incorporated by referém¢se Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended June 30, 2009 as filed thighCommission on August 14, 200

Certificate of Amendment No. 2 to the CertificafeDesignation of Preferences, Rights and Limitagioh Series B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock anieSd-2
Convertible Preferred Stock, as filed with the &@ftNevada, on February 17, 2010. (Incorporatetefgrence to the Company’s Current Report on Fditnas filed
with the Commission on February 17, 201

Certificate of Amendment with respect to the Amehdad Restated Certificate of Designation of Pegfees, Rights and Limitation of Series B-1 ConbéatPreferred
Stock and Series B-2 Convertible Preferred StodRrofPharmaceuticals, Inc., as filed with the Secyeof State of the State of Nevada on Januarg@86].
(Incorporated by reference to the Comg’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on January 27, 2p

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Righmd himitation of Series C Super Dividend ConvesiBlreferred Stock of Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Indileaswith the
Secretary of State of Nevada on December 30, Z0idbrporated by reference to the Company’s CurRayort on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on
January 6, 2011

Certificate of Change as filed with the Nevada 8ery of State on March 1, 2012. (Incorporateddfgrence to the Company’s Current Report on Fona8-filed with
the Commission on March 23, 201
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Exhibit

Number

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

10.1t

10.2t

10.3t

10.4t

10.5t

10.6t

10.7
10.8

10.9

Description of Document
Form of Class A-1 Common Stock Purchase Warracb(porated by reference to the Company’s CurrepoRen Form 8-K filed with the Commission on Fedmu18,
2009.)

Form of Class A-2 Common Stock Purchase Warracb(porated by reference to the Company’s CurrepoRen Form 8-K filed with the Commission on Fedmu18,
2009.)

Form of Class B Common Stock Purchase Warrant (frozated by reference to the Company’s Current RepoForm 8-K filed with the Commission on Februas,
2009.)

Amended Form of Class A-1 Common Stock Purchaseaffafincorporated by reference to the Company'se®ui Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Comnusson
January 27, 2011

Amended Form of Class A-2 Common Stock Purchaseaffafincorporated by reference to the Company'se@u Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Comnuosson
January 27, 2011

Amended Form of Class B Common Stock Purchase Wa(irecorporated by reference to the Company’s €nirReport on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission
January 27, 2011

Form of Warrant Agreement between Galectin Theapegilnc. and Continental Stock Transfer and Trush@any, as warrant agent (including form of warentificate)
(Incorporated by reference to the Comf’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on March 23, 20!

Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2001 Stock Incentive .Rlagorporated by reference to the Company’s QuigrReport on Form 10-QSB for the quarter endguteaber 30,
2001 filed with the Commission on November 14, 2D

Prc-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2003 M-employee Director Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorpedaby reference to the Compi’'s Registration Statement on For-8, as filed with
the Commission on October 22, 20C

Employment Agreement, effective January 2, 200dyeen Pro Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and David Plattofiporated by reference to the Company’s AnnugbReon Form
1C-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003ijled fith the Commission on March 30, 20C

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (under2B81 Stock Incentive Plan). (Incorporated by rfiee to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form XorGhe
period ended September 30, 2004 as filed with thr@i@ission on November 19, 200

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (unther 2001 Stock Incentive Plan). (Incorporateddfgnence to the Company’s Quarterly Report on FtdnQ for the
period ended September 30, 2004 as filed with thri@ission on November 19, 200

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (unther 2003 Non-Employee Director Stock IncentivenPl@ncorporated by reference to the Company’sré@ug
Report on Form 1-Q for the period ended September 30, 2004 as\ilddthe Commission on November 19, 20(

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant. (Incorpdrhgereference to the Compé's Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on February 15, 2p

Promissory Note dated February 12, 2009 issued®yRarmaceuticals, Inc. in favor of 10X Fund, [(IRcorporated by reference to the Company’s CaifR&port on
Form &K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Security Agreement dated February 12, 2009 betweerPharmaceuticals, Inc. and 10X Fund, L.P. (lpeated by reference to the Company’s Current RepoForm 8-
K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(
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Exhibit

Number

10.10

10.11

10.12t

10.13t

10.14t

10.15t

10.161

10.17

10.18t

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22t

10.23t

10.24t

Description of Document
Escrow Agreement dated February 12, 2009 amongRaomaceuticals, Inc., 10X Fund, L.P. and Investrhaw Group of Gillett, Mottern & Walker, LLP, ass&row
Agent. (Incorporated by reference to the Com/'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Registration Rights Agreement dated February 1292@tween Pro Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and 10X Hufd,(Incorporated by reference to the Company’s&€u Report
on Form K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Separation Agreement dated February 12, 2009 bat®eePharmaceuticals, Inc. and David Platt, Ptirizorporated by reference to the Company’s CurRayort on
Form &K filed with the Commission on February 18, 20(

Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2009 Incentive Compemsdtian. (Incorporated by reference to the Comma@yirrent Report on Form 8-K filed with the Comridason
February 18, 2009

Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement (unde28@9 Incentive Compensation Plan). (Incorporateceference to the Company’s Annual Report on FborK as
filed with the Commission on March 30, 200

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreem@nider the 2009 Incentive Compensation Plan). (mated by reference to the Company’s Annual RepofForm
10-K as filed with the Commission on March 30, 20(

Form of Incentive Stock Option Grant Agreement @mithe 2009 Incentive Compensation Plan). (Incateat by reference to the Comp’s Annual Report on Form -K
as filed with the Commission on March 30, 20(

Agreement with the 10X Fund L.P., dated February2010. (Incorporated by reference to the Compa@yisent Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Corssion on
February 17, 2010

Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated August 3, @8lied to Peter Traber. (Incorporated by referemtiee Compar’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the
Commission on August 13, 201!

Letter Agreement Between 10X Fund, L.P. and PrasRbeeuticals, Inc. (Incorporated by reference éo@ompany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filéti the
Commission on August 13, 201!

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement for Seri€sier Dividend Convertible Preferred Stock (Incoaped by reference to the Company’s Current Repoform 8-K
as filed with the Commission on January 6, 20

Agreement dated January 21, 2011, between Pro-Rbatrticals, Inc. and 10X Fund L.P. (Incorporateddfgrence to the Company’s Current Report on Fdynas filed
with the Commission on January 27, 20:

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated March 7L 2Qncorporated by reference to the Company’s &urReport on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission
March 9, 2011.

Amended Employment Agreement dated March 8, 20hidsn Anthony D. Squeglia, and Pro-Pharmaceutitads,(Incorporated by reference to the Companylgéht
Report orForm &K as filed with the Commission on March 14, 20:

Amended Employment Agreement dated March 8, 20hdsn Maureen Foley, and Pro-Pharmaceuticals(limoorporated by reference to the Company’s CurRayort
on Form K as filed with the Commission on March 14, 20:
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Exhibit

Number

10.25t

10.261

10.27t

10.28

10.29t

10.30t

10.31t

10.32t

10.33t

10.34t

10.35t

10.361

10.37t

10.38

10.39

Description of Document
Amended Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2@tdden Anatole Klyosov, and Pro-Pharmaceuticats,(Incorporated by reference to the Company’s €nuirr

Report on Form-K as filed with the Commission on April 6, 201

Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2011 betwéietoer and Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Incorpatdte reference to the Company’s Current Reportami8-K
as filed with the Commission on April 6, 201

Separation Agreement dated March 31, 2011 betwee®Farmaceuticals, Inc. and Theodore D. Zuccawiofiporated by reference to the Company’s CurrepoR on
Form &K as filed with the Commission on April 6, 201

Agreement dated April 22, 2011, between Pro-Phaentazals, Inc. and Sigma-Aldrich, Inc. (Incorporcht®y reference to the Company’s Current ReportamP8-K as
filed with the Commission on April 28, 201:

Employment Agreement dated March 31, 2011 betweter Hraber, and Galectin Therapeutics Inc. (Inoaed by reference to the Company’s Current RepoForm 8-
K as filed with the Commission on June 2, 20:

Employment Agreement dated June 28, 2011 betwerasl&. Czirr, and Galectin Therapeutics Inc. (Ipocated by reference to the Company’s Current RegpoForm 8-
K as filed with the Commission on July 5, 201

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Peter G. Trab&D. (Incorporated by reference to the Comy’'s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission ¢
August 15, 2011.

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for James C. Q@ircorporated by reference to the Company’s GurReport on Form 8-K as filed with the Commission
August 15, 2011.

Consulting Agreement, dated March 2, 2012 betwesled®n Therapeutics Inc. and Thomas A. McGaulaegdiporated by reference to the Comy’s Quarterly Report o
Form 1(-Q as filed with the Commission on May 11, 20!

Independent Consulting Agreement dated April 3@, 22®etween Scott L. Friedman, M.D. and Galectier@peutics Inc. (Incorporated by reference to thmg@any’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2D

Amended Employment Agreement dated July 19, 2012dmn Maureen Foley and Galectin Therapeutics(Incorporated by reference to the Comparuarterly Repol
on Form 1-Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2p

Employment Agreement dated August 27, 2012, 201®dmn Harold H. Shlevin and Galectin Therapeutics (Incorporated by reference to the Company’sr@dg
Report on Form 1-Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2

Independent Consulting Agreement dated Septemhe20ll2 between Thomas A. McGauley and Galectindpwartics Inc. (Incorporated by reference to the Qang's
Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on November 9, 2D

Amended and Restated Master Services Agreemert Batguary 1, 2013 between Galectin Therapeuticsaimd CTI Clinical Trial Services, Inc. and CTirGtal
Consulting Services Inc. (Incorporated by referelocdie Compar’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on May 10, 20:

Amended Form of Class A-2 Common Stock Purchaseaffafincorporated by reference to the Company’ar@uly Report on Form 1Q-as filed with the Commission
August 14, 2013.
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Exhibit
Number

10.40

10.41t

10.42t

10.43t

10.44

21.1*

23.1*

31.1*

31.2*
32.1%#
32.2*#
101.INS***
101.SCH***
101.CAL***
101.DEF***
101.LAB***
101.PRE***

*

Description of Document
Amended Form of Class B Common Stock Purchase Wa(irecorporated by reference to the Company’s @uigrReport on Form 10-Q as filed with the Comriziss

on August 14, 2013

Employment Agreement dated June 20, 2013 betwedrWaCallicutt and Galectin Therapeutics Inc. @rporated by reference to the Company’s Quarteelyd®t on
Form 1(-Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 20

Amendment to Independent Consulting Agreement daied 19, 2013 between Thomas A. McGauley and @alBleerapeutics Inc. (Incorporated by referenctheo
Compan’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 20

Stock Option Agreement with Thomas A. McGauley dalene 19, 2013 (Incorporated by reference to tiragany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filechwiite
Commission on August 14, 201.

At Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated Octdhe2®13, by and between Galectin Therapeuticsand.MLV & Co. LLC (Incorporated by reference to the
Compan'’'s Current Report on Forn-K as filed with the Commission on October 25, 29

Subsidiaries of Galectin Therapeutics |

Consent of McGladrey LLP, an independent registerdalic accounting firm

Certification Pursuant to Rule 1-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1¢

Certification Pursuant to Rule 1-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1¢

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Documt

XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Documel

XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum:

Filed herewith

# Furnished herewith and n“filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exgbakct of 1934, as amende
ok Submitted electronically herewit
Executive Compensation Arrangement pursuant tol§QI)(iii)(A) of Regulation -K
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&(tH)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regidthas duly caused this report to be signedsopelhalf by the undersigned, thereunto «
authorized, on March 21, 2014.

GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
By: /s| PETERG. TRABER

Name: Peter G. Traber, M.|
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblptie following persons on behalf of the registr@nd in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/  PETERG. TRABER Chief Executive Officer, President and Director March 21, 2014
Peter G. Traber, M.L (principal executive officer)
/s/ Jack W. C ALLICUTT Chief Financial Officer March 21, 2014
Jack W. Callicut (principal financial and accounting officer)
/s/  JaMESC. CZIRR Executive Chairman and Direct March 21, 201«
James C. Czir
/s/ RopD. M ARTIN Vice-Chairman and Director March 21, 2014
Rod D. Martin
/s/ GILBERT F. AMELIO Director March 21, 2014
Gilbert F. Amelio
/s  ARTHURR. GREENBERG Director March 21, 2014
Arthur R. Greenber
/s/ KEvIN D. FREEMAN Director March 21, 2014
Kevin D. Freemal
/s/ JOHNM AULDIN Director March 21, 2014
John Mauldin
/s/  STEVEN P RELACK Director March 21, 2014
Steven Prelac
/s/  H. PauL PRESSLER Director March 21, 2014
H. Paul Pressle
/s MARCR UBIN Director March 21, 2014

Marc Rubin, M.D.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of GiléEherapeutics Inc.
Norcross, Georgi

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Galectin Therapeutics, Inc. (a devedop stage company, the “Company”) as of DecembgP@®13 and 2012, and the
related consolidated statements of operations,ggsaim redeemable convertible preferred stock toaklsolders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows fbetyears then ended and for the period
from inception (July 10, 2000) to December 31, 200 se financial statements are the responsibifithe Company’s management. Our responsibilitp isxpress an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits. The ¢iahstatements for the period from inception (JL0y 2000) to December 31, 2009 were audited bgrathditors and our opinion, insofar ¢
relates to cumulative amounts included for suchrgeriods, is based solely on the report of otueh auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaf8qUnited States). Those standards require thgilan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether thecfadaatements are free of material misstatenidrg.Company is not required to have, nor were vgaged to perform, an audit of its
internal control over financial reporting. Our asdincluded consideration of internal control ofirancial reporting as a basis for designing apdicedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsamopinion on the effectiveness of the Compaimg&nal control over financial reporting. Accordin, we express no such opinion. An
audit also includes examining, on a test basislezde supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirtéiecial statements, assessing the accountimgiptés used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbfireancial statement presentation. We believe tha audits provide a reasonable basis for oumiopi

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all mateeapects, the financial position of Galectin Tapsutics as of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
and the results of its operations and its cashdlfmw the years then ended, and for the period frm@ption (July 10, 2000) to December 31, 201&anformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

/sl McGladrey LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 21, 2014
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Restricted cash and security dep
Intangible assets, n
Total asset

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Accrued dividends payab

Total current liabilities

Other lon¢term liabilities

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note

Series B-1 12% redeemable convertible preferrecks&00,000 shares authorized, issued and outsiguadiDecember 31, 2013 and 2012, redemption
value and liquidation value: $1,800,000, at Decendie 2012
Series B-2 12% redeemable convertible preferrezks®100,000 shares authorized, issued and odistaat December 31, 2013 and 2012, redemption
value and liquidation value: $4,200,000, at Decandie 2012
Series C super dividend convertible preferred stdé@00 shares authorized, 196 and 220 issued @sthoding at December 31, 2013 and 2!
respectively, redemption value: $5,547,000, ligtictavalue: $1,989,400 at December 31, 2
Stockholder' equity (deficit):
Undesignated stock, $0.01 par value; 20,000,00¢slauthorized at December 31, 2013 and 2012, ®00%hares designated at
December 31, 2013 and 20
Series A 12% convertible preferred stock; 5,000 §ltfres authorized, 1,452,500 and 1,562,500 ismekdutstanding at December 31, 2013
and 2012, liquidation value $1,496,000 at Decer8tie2013
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 50,000,000 shartt®azed at December 31, 2013 and 2012, 18,386G860.6,060,853 issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respic
Additional pait-in capital
Deficit accumulated during the development s
Total stockholder equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferstdck and stockholde’ equity (deficit)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-2

December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands)

$ 10,48 $ 9,361
19¢ 158
10,68: 9,517

3 8

— 6

23 30

$ 10,71 $ 9,561
$ 762 $ 397
1,651 1,161

73 80
2,48¢ 1,63¢
— 6
2,48¢ 1,64
1,71t 1,69¢
3,117 2,90(
1,91¢ 2,15¢
587 632

18 16
102,84: 80,53t
(101,96 (80,019
1,481 1,16t

$ 10,71 $ 9,561
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Operating expense
Research and developme
General and administrati\
Total operating expens:
Total operating los
Other income (expense
Interest incom¢
Interest expens
Change in fair value of convertible debt instrur
Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti
Other income
Total other income (expens
Net loss
Preferred stock dividenc
Preferred stock accretic
Warrant modificatior
Net loss applicable to common stockholc

Basic and diluted net loss per sh

Shares used in computing basic and diluted netpesshare

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Year Ended
December 31,

Cumulative
from
inception
(July 10,
2000) to
December 31,

2013

2012

2013

(in thousands, except per share amount:

$ 5,68t $ 4,521 $ 33,208
6,41¢ 5,37: 53,45;
12,10 9,89¢ 86,75(
(12,109 (9,899) (86,75()

16 24 834
— — (4,459
= = (3,426
— — 9,02:
— 20C 691
16 224 2,67(

$ (12,089 $ (9,679 $ (84,080
(867) (976) (5,109
(229 (230) (4,279
(8,769 — (8,769

$ (21,94) $ (10,88) $ (102,22)

$  (1.30 $ (0.72)

16,87 15,13
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ( DEFICIT)
Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2013

(in thousands except share data)

Series £-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series £-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Number of

Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Issuance of
founders
shares

July 10, 200C — 8 =

Beneficial
conversion
feature and
rights to
common
stock
embedded in
convertible
note in 200(

Issuance of
common
stock and
beneficial
conversion
feature
related to
convertible
note in 2001

Issuance of
common
stock in
connection
with reverse
merger of
Pro-
Pharmaceuticals
-NV in 2001

Conversion of
notes payabl
and accrued
interest to
common
stock in 2001

F-4

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Additional
Number of Number of Paid-In
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital

— $— 2,059,11 $ 23 7

22z

110,05 1,03¢

203,64 107

99,70¢ 1,12¢

Deficit
Accumulated
During the Total
Developmen Stockholders’
Stage Deficit
$— 3 9
22z
1,03¢
107
1,12¢
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ( DEFICIT) — (Continued)
Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2013

(in thousands except share data)

Series £-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Number of

Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Issuance of warrants
to induce
conversion of note
payable in 200.

Issuance of common
stock and warrants
(net of issuance
costs of $17,000)
2001

Issuance of common
stock (net of
issuance costs of
$49,000) in 200:

Issuance of common
stock related to
2002 private
placement (net of
issuance costs of
$212,000;

Conversion of notes
payable and
accrued interest tc
common stocl

Issuance of warrants
to purchase
common stock in
consideration for
placement of
convertible notes
payable in 200:

F-5

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Additional
Number of Number of Paid-In
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital
502
114,88 2,221
31,00( 60z
537,22 1 2,86(
17,64 29C
23¢€

Deficit
Accumulated
During the Total
Developmen Stockholders’
Stage Deficit
502
2,221
60z
2,861
29C
23¢€
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ( DEFICIT) — (Continued)
Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2013

(in thousands except share data)

Series £-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Number of
Shares

Number of

Amount Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Issuance of common
stock to investors
in 2002 private
placement (net of
issuance costs of
$18,000)

Issuance of common
stock to consultan
for services related
to 2002 private
placemen

Receipt of
subscription
receivable

Conversion of accrue
expenses to
common stock and
options

Issuance of commc
stock to investors
in May, 2003
private placement
(net of issuance
costs of $128,00(

F-6

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Additional
Number of Number of Paid-In
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital
181,33: 1,07¢
2,04 12
15C
33,61¢ 30z
399,91 1 4,40¢

Deficit
Accumulated
During the Total
Developmen Stockholders’
Stage Deficit
1,07¢
12
15C
30z
4,41(
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ( DEFICIT) — (Continued)
Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2013

(in thousands except share data)

Fair value of commol
stock warrants
issued to placeme
agents in May,
2003 private
placemen

Issuance of common
stock to investors
in October, 2003
private placement
(net of issuance
costs of $559,00(

Cashless exercise of
employee stock
options

Issuance of common
stock to investors
in April, 2004
private placement
(net of issuance
costs of $466,00(

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Stockholders’ Deficit

Number of
Shares Amount

Number of
Shares Amount

Series A 12%

Convertible
Preferred Stock Common Stock
Deficit
Accumulated

During the Total

Additional  Developmen Stockholders’
Number of Number of Paid-In

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Stage Deficit
261 261
219,09¢ 1,31¢ 1,31¢
2,77 74 74

206,01 1,89¢ 1,89¢
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ( DEFICIT) — (Continued)
Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2013

(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series £-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Number of

Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Issuance of
common
stock to
investors il
August,
2004
private
placement
(net of
issuance
costs of
$485,000;

Common
stock
issued in
2006
related to
convertible
debenture
conversion

Common
stock
issued in
2006 and
2007
related to
convertible
debenture
redemptior

Common
stock
issued in
2007
related to
convertible
debenture
waiver and
exchange
agreemen

F-8

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Additional
Number of Number of Paid-In
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital
333,33« 1 48¢
79,367 1,74
1,227,97. 1 3,941
867,55t 1 5,32¢

Deficit
Accumulated
During the Total
Developmen  Stockholders’
Stage Deficit
49C
1,74
3,94¢
5,33(
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (- DEFICIT) — (Continued)

Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2013
(in thousands except share data)

Stockholders’ Deficit

Common Stock

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock
issued in a
February 4, 2008
private placement
(net of cash
issuance costs of
$52,000)

Common stock issue
in a February 25,
2008 offering (net
of cash issuance
costs of $369,00(

Issuance of commor
stock in payment
of Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Dividen

Issuance of Common
Stock Warrant:

Reclassification of
Warrant Liabilities

Deferred
compensation
relating to issuanc
of stock option:

Additional

Number of Paid-In

Amount Capital

185,39:

1,250,001 1 1,04:

20

3,192

45¢

1,022

Deficit
Accumulated
During the Total
Developmen Stockholders’
Stage Deficit
704
1,044
(1,079 47
20
3,19¢
458
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ( DEFICIT) — (Continued)
Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2013

(in thousands except share data)

Series £-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Number of

Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Stock compensation
expense related t
fair market
revaluatior

Stock based
compensation
expense

Stock compensation
related to the
issuance of
common share

Cumulative effect of
adoption of new
accounting
principle

Issuance of Series E
1 redeemable
convertible
preferred stock ar
warrants, net of
issuance costs of
$300,00C

Accretion of Series
B-1 redeemable
convertible
preferred stock to
redemption valu

900,00( 39t

1,32(

F-10

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Deficit
Accumulated
During the Total
Additional  Developmen Stockholders’
Number of Number of Paid-In
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Stage Deficit
157 157
15,42 15,42«
12,51t 53 53
(45¢) 254 (204)
1,10¢ 1,10¢
(1,320) (1,320)
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ( DEFICIT) — (Continued)
Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2013

(in thousands except share data)

Series £-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Number of
Shares Amount

Number of
Shares

Number of

Amount Shares Amount

Issuance of Series E
2 redeemable
convertible
preferred stock ar
warrants, net of
issuance costs of
$188,00C

Beneficial conversio
feature recognized
on issuance of
series B-2
redeemable
convertible
preferred stoc!

Issuance of Series C
super dividend
convertible
preferred stock,
net of issuance
costs of $47,00

Conversion of Series
C super dividend
convertible
preferred stock to
common stocl

2,100,001 1,17¢

(1,019

22t 2,20

(29 (284)
F-11

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Deficit
Accumulated

During the Total

Additional  Developmen Stockholders’
Number of Number of Paid-In

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Stage Deficit
2,761 2,761
1,01¢ 1,01¢
48,527 284 284



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY ( DEFICIT) — (Continued)

Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2013
(in thousands except share data)

Accretion of
Series B-2
redeemabl
convertible
preferred
stock to
redemptior
value

Series B-1
12%
redeemabl
convertible
preferred
stock
dividend

Series B-2
12%
redeemabl
convertible
preferred
stock
dividend

Series C supt
dividend
convertible
preferred
stock
dividend

Accretion of
beneficial
conversior
feature for
Series -2

Issuance of
restricted
common
stock

Issuance o
common
stock upor
exercise of
warrants

Series £-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series £-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Number of
Shares

Amount

Number of
Shares Amount

Number of
Shares Amount

2,21¢

68t

F-12

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Additional
Number of Number of Paid-In
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital
334,91 1,212
653,27: 2,44(
86,96° 347
454,16 1 (1)
4,704,51i 4 18,80¢

Deficit
Accumulatec

During the
Developmen

Stage

(2,215

(1,219

(2,440

(380)

(685)

Total
Stockholders’

Deficit

(2,215)

(33

(685)

18,81:
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ( DEFICIT) — (Continued)
Cumulative Period From Inception (July 10, 2000) tdecember 31, 2013

(in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series E-2 12%
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C Supel
Dividend
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Number of

Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Number of

Shares Amount

Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise of
options

Conversion of
Series A to
common
stock

2012 Issuance
of common
stock and
warrants, ne
of issuance
costs of
$1,597

2013 Issuance
of common
stock, net of
issuance
costs of $11

Issuance of
shares
related to
reverse split
of common
stock

Modification of
warrants

Net loss sinct
inception

Balance at
December 31

2013 900,00( $

1,71 2,100,000 $

3,112

19¢ $§  1,91¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-13

Stockholders’ Deficit

Series A 12%
Convertible
Preferred Stock Common Stock
Deficit
Accumulated Total
Additional During the  Stockholders’
Number of Number of Paid-In Development
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Stage Deficit
611,94! 1 632 632
(290,00() (117) 48,38; 117 —
2,666,72. 3 10,40( 10,40
599,94 1 3,83 3,83¢
3,32¢ —
8,76: (8,769) —
(84,080) (84,080
1,452,501 $ 587 18,386,90 $ 18 $ 102,84: $ (101,96) $ 1,481
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (- DEFICIT)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
(amounts in thousands except share data)

Balance at December 31, 201

Accretion of Series B redeemable convertible pretestock

Accretion of beneficial conversion feature for 8ert-2

Issuance of common stock and warrants, net of iEsueosts of
$1,597,00(

Issuance of shares related to reverse split of camstock

Series A 12% convertible preferred stock divid

Series -1 12% redeemable convertible preferred stock dindc

Series -2 12% redeemable convertible preferred stock didc

Series C super dividend convertible preferred stiekiend

Issuance of common stock to consult

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of war

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of op

Stocl-based compensation expel

Net loss

Stockholders’ Deficit

Balance at December 31, 201

F-14

Series E-1 12% Series E-2 12% Series C Supel
Redeemable Redeemable Dividend Series A 12%
Convertible Convertible Convertible Convertible
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock
Deficit
Accumulatec
Number Additional During the Total
Number of Number of Number of Number of of Paid-In Developmen  Stockholders’
Shares  Amount Shares  Amount Shares Amount Shares  Amount Shares  Amount Capital Stage Deficit
900,000 $ 1,681 2,100,000 $ 2,68i 22C $ 2,15¢ 156250 $ 63z 1291953 $ 12 $ 6636 $ (69,13) $ (2,125
17 157 (172) (174
56 (56) (56)
2,666,72 3 10,40( 10,40
3,32¢ —
31,25( 108 (10%) —
95,58 224 229 =
223,02 527 (522) —
46,05¢ 127 a27) —
11,34¢ 26 2€
12,177 —
51,83( —
2,76¢€ 2,76¢
(9,679 (9,679
900,000 $ 1,69¢ 2,100,000 $ 2,90C 22 $ 2,15¢ 1,562,550 $ 63z 16,060,85 $ 1€ $ 8053 $ (80,019 $ 1,168
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CON VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (- DEFICIT) — (Continued)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
(amounts in thousands except share data)

Series E-1 12%

Series £-2 12%

Series C Supel

Stockholders Deficit

Redeemable Redeemable Dividend Series A 12%
Convertible Convertible Convertible Convertible
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock
Deficit
Accumulated
Number Additional During the Total
Number of Number of Number of Number of of Paid-In Developmen  Stockholders’
Shares  Amount Shares  Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Stage Deficit
Accretion of Series B redeemable convertible pretéstock 17 15¢ (a7%) (178
Accretion of beneficial conversion feature for 8ert-2 54 (54) (54
Series A 12% convertible preferred stock divid 25,06: 14¢ (14¢)
Series -1 12% redeemable convertible preferred stock dindc 36,10¢ 17¢ (17¢)
Series -2 12% redeemable convertible preferred stock didc 84,55! 41¢ (41¢)
Series C super dividend convertible preferred sthekiend 23,84¢ 12z (12%)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of war 1.284.94. 1 4,504 4,508
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of op 213,00 271 271
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance cost$ It 599,94; 1 3,832 3,83
Conversion of Series A to common st (110,000 (45) 18,381 45
Conversion of Series C super dividend convertibéégred stock to
common stocl (24) (23%) 40,19¢ 23t 23t

Modification of warrants 8,76 (8,76%)
Stocl-based compensation expel 3,78¢ 3,78¢
Net loss (12,08¢) (12,089
Balance at December 31, 201 900,000 $ 1,71f 2,100,000 $ 3,117 19 $ 1,91¢ 1452500 $ 587 18,386,90 $ 18 $ 102,84: $ (101,96) $ 1,481

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A Development-Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash irsegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stocl-based compensation expel
Nor-cash interest expen
Change in fair value of convertible debt instrur
Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti
Write off of intangible asse
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Grant receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Net cash used in operating activi
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipm
Change in restricted cash and security de|
Increase in patents costs and other a:
Net cash provided by (used in) investintviies
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock ancawes
Net proceeds from issuance of Series A 12% comlenireferred stock and related warre

Net proceeds from issuance of Seri-1 12% redeemable convertible preferred stock alatexwarrant:
Net proceeds from issuance of Seri-2 12% redeemable convertible preferred stock alatexwarrant:

Net proceeds from issuance of Series C super dididenvertible preferred sto
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible debtunsgnts
Repayment of convertible debt instrume
Net proceeds from exercise of common stock wartamdsoption:
Proceeds from shareholder advar
Net cash provided by financing activit
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,BEGINNING OF PERIOC
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOI

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSUR—Cash paid for intere:
NONCASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Issuance of equity warrants in connection with ggofferings
Conversion of accrued expenses into common ¢
Conversion and redemptions of convertible notesamedued interest into common stc
Conversion of extension costs related to convertilpites into common sto
Payment of preferred stock dividends in commonis
Issuance of warrants to induce conversion of noagsble
Issuance of stock to acquire -Pharmaceutica-NV

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended
December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands)

$ (12,089 $ (9,67
12 9
3,78¢ 2,79:
(39 (55)
84¢ (577)
)] 6
(7,489 (7,500
0 (5)
69
64
3,83t 10,40%

4,77¢ —
8,60¢ 10,40%
1,12¢ 2,967
9,36¢ 6,397

$ $

$ $ =
$ — $ 444
— 26
867 97¢

Cumulative
Period from
Inception
(July 10, 2000

to
December 31
2013

$ (84,080

567
16,16¢
4,27¢
3,42¢

(9,029
351

(195)
2,47/

66,03)

(431)
(404
(839

42,92¢
1,691
1,54¢
3,03t
2,20z
10,62:

(1,641)
16,06¢
9

77,36
10,48¢
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GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS INC.
(A DEVELOPMENT-STAGE COMPANY)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Business and Basis of Presentatic

Galectin Therapeutics Inc. (the “Company”) is aelepment-stage company that is applying its lednieiia galectin science and drug development tateraew therapies for fibrotic
disease and cancer. These candidates are badeel @orhpany’s targeting of galectin proteins whiahkey mediators of biologic and pathologic funeti®hese compounds also may
have application for drugs to treat other diseaselschronic health conditions.

On March 23, 2012, the Company effected a oneiforeverse stock split. All common share and parstamounts in these financial statements have ddjasted to reflect the effect
of the reverse split.

The Company has operated at a loss since its inoegmtd has had no revenues. The Company antisifaelosses will continue for the foreseeablerfutAt December 31, 2013, the
Company had $10,489,000 of unrestricted cash astueguivalents available to fund future operatidwiditionally, in January and February 2014, therany received $28,178,000
in net proceeds from the issuance of common stooiagket through its at the market (“ATM") finangimrrangement and $1,500,000 from the exercistok purchase warrants.

As shown in the consolidated financial statemehts Company incurred cumulative net losses appgidabcommon stockholders of $102.2 million for fhexiod from inception (July
10, 2000) through December 31, 2013. The Comparet'$osses have resulted principally from coste@ated with (i) research and development expemsesiding clinical trial
costs, (ii) general and administrative activitiesl &ii) the Company’s financing transactions irdihg interest, dividend payments, and the cos&te@lto fair value accounting for the
Company'’s convertible debt instruments. As a resiuffanned expenditures for future research, disgg development and commercialization activites potential legal cost to
protect its intellectual property, the Company etpéo incur additional losses and use additioaghdn its operations for the foreseeable futuheoligh December 31, 2013, the
Company had raised a net total of $77.4 millionapital through sale and issuance of common stmrkmon stock purchase warrants, convertible predestock and debt securities
public and private offerings. From inception (Jt3; 2000) through December 31, 2013, the Compaeg cash of $66.0 million in its operations.

The Company was founded in July 2000, was incotpdrim the State of Nevada in January 2001 undendme “Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,” and changethitse to “Galectin
Therapeutics Inc.” on May 26, 2011. On March 23,20he Company began trading on The NASDAQ Capfedket under the symbol GALT. Prior to March 2812, the Company
was traded on the Over-the Counter Bulletin Bo&&ICBB”) under the symbol GALT.OB (previously PRWIB) from January 21, 2009 to March 22, 2012 after@ompany was
delisted from the NYSE Alternext US (“Exchange®rrherly the American Stock Exchange, due to nongdiamce with the Exchange minimum shareholdersitggqaquirements on
January 9, 2009.

The Company is subject to a number of risks sinidahose of other development-stage companiekdimg dependence on key individuals, uncertairitgroduct development and
generation of revenues, dependence on outsideesoafcapital, risks associated with clinical giaf products, dependence on thpakty collaborators for research operations, nee
regulatory approval of products, risks associatel protection of intellectual property, and conipet with larger, better-capitalized companiesc&ssful completion of the
Company’s development program and, ultimately atit@inment of profitable operations is dependewonupture events, including obtaining adequaterfairgg to fulfill its
development
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activities and achieving a level of revenues adegteasupport the Company’s cost structure. Thexaa assurances that the Company will be ablét@miradditional financing on
favorable terms, or at all, or successfully maiteeproducts.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accompanying consolidated financial statentests been prepared in conformity with accountinggiples generally accepted in the United Stat€sA\AP”).

Basis of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements inclingeaccounts of the Company and Galectin Therapge8gcurity Corp., its wholly-owned subsidiary, whigas
incorporated in Delaware on December 23, 2003.¢Hal@herapeutics Security Corp. holds the cashcaisti equivalents that are not required to funteatioperating needs. All
intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in oamfty with accounting principles generally accebite the United States of America requires manageneemake
estimates and judgments that may affect the reghan@ounts of assets, liabilities, equity, revermx@enses and related disclosure of contingentsaasditliabilities. Management's
estimates and judgments include assumptions usgtddk option and warrant liability valuations, fuddives of property and equipment and intangidsets, accrued liabilities,
deferred income taxes and various other assumptiahsire believed to be reasonable under theratances. Actual results may differ from thosenestes under different
assumptions or conditions.

Fair Value Measurements The Company has certain financial assetsiabdities recorded at fair value. Fair values deii@ed by Level 1 inputs utilize observable datehsas
quoted prices in active markets. Fair values detexdnby Level 2 inputs utilize data points othartlguoted prices in active markets that are obbneither directly or indirectly. Fe
values determined by Level 3 inputs utilize unobakle data points in which there is little or nork&d data, which require the reporting entity teelep its own assumptions. The
estimated value of accounts payable and accrueshegp approximates their carrying value due to gheirt-term nature using level 3 inputs as defimiealve. Included in cash and
cash equivalents, as of December 31, 2013 and #d Zompany had $0 and $583,000, respectivelgsted in money market funds which had calculatédseet values and were
therefore classified as Level 2.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all highly-liquid investits with original maturities of 90 days or lesshattime of acquisition to be cash equivalents.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Asset®repaid expenses and other assets consisipaiigof prepaid insurance and prepaid rent onGbenpany’s leased executive office
space.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment, including leaseholdrawpments, are stated at cost, net of accumulaerediation and amortization, and are depreciated o
amortized using the straight-line method over tteveted useful lives of the related assets of igdigethree years for computers and office equiptyniéve years for furniture and
fixtures and the shorter of the useful life or lifiethe lease for leasehold improvements.

Restricted Cash and Security DepositAt December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Companyatssturity deposit of $6,000 for leased office spatie security deposit was included in
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets at Dece3tth2013.

Intangible Assets. Intangible assets include patent costs, cangigrimarily of related capitalized legal fees,igfhare amortized over an estimated useful lifévef years from
issuance. Amortization expense in 2013 and 20128%d&00 and $6,000, respectively. Gross intangibsets at December 31, 2013 and 2012 totaled $¥8#&h year, and
accumulated amortization at December 31, 2013 84a ftaled $55,000 and $48,000, respectively.
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Long-Lived Assets. The Company reviews all long-lived assets figpairment whenever events or circumstances indibatearrying amount of such assets may not bevegable.
Recoverability of assets to be held or used is oredshy comparison of the carrying value of theassthe future undiscounted net cash flows exgktt be generated by the asset. If
such asset is considered to be impaired, the imgair recognized is measured by the amount by whilsarrying value of the asset exceeds the diseddnture cash flows expected
to be generated by the asset.

Accrued Expenses As part of the process of preparing our cdadatéd financial statements, we are required ficnest accrued expenses. This process involvesifiiegtservices
that third parties have performed on our behalfestimating the level of service performed andabsociated cost incurred on these services acbftdance sheet date in our
consolidated financial statements. Examples ofregéid accrued expenses include contract servisarfamnjunction with pre-clinical and clinicaldts, professional service fees, such
as those arising from the services of attorneysaaoduntants and accrued payroll expenses. In ctianavith these service fees, our estimates a aftected by our understanding
of the status and timing of services provided edatio the actual services incurred by the serprowiders. In the event that we do not identifytaier costs that have been incurred or
we under- or over-estimate the level of servicesosts of such services, our reported expensesrigporting period could be understated or ovedtathe date on which certain
services commence, the level of services perforomedr before a given date, and the cost of senaoesften subject to our judgment. We make thedgments based upon the facts
and circumstances known to us in accordance witbuating principles generally accepted in the U.S.

Warrants. The Company has issued common stock warramsninection with the execution of certain equitd debt financings. Certain warrants were accouftteds derivative
liabilities at fair value. Such warrants did notehthe accounting criteria that a contract shooldbe considered a derivative instrument if itlisiidexed to its own stock and

(2) classified in stockholders’ equity. Changefain value of derivative liabilities are recordedthe consolidated statement of operations undecdption “Change in fair value of
warrant liabilities.” Warrants that are not consetederivative liabilities are accounted for at failue at the date of issuance in additional raicapital. The fair value of warrants was
determined using the Black-Scholes option-priciragel using assumptions regarding volatility of oammon share price, remaining life of the warrand risk-free interest rates at
each period end. There were no warrant liabiléie®f December 31, 2013 or 2012.

Revenue Recognition The Company records revenue provided thaetisgpersuasive evidence that an arrangement gkistprice is fixed and determinable, servicesswendered
and collectability is reasonably assured.

Research and Development Expenseg.osts associated with research and developanemxpensed as incurred. Research and developwperises include, among other costs,
salaries and other personnel-related costs, arsl icasirred by outside laboratories and other alitge facilities in connection with clinical triaénd preclinical studies.

Income Taxes. The Company accounts for income taxes in aecmel with the accounting rules that requires aetasgl liability approach to accounting for incotages based upon
the future expected values of the related asseit$iabilities. Deferred income tax assets and ligés are determined based on the differencesdmmtvthe financial reporting and tax
bases of assets and liabilities and for tax losiscaedit carry forwards, and are measured usingxtpected tax rates estimated to be in effect vgheh basis differences reverse.
Valuation allowances are established, if necessamgduce the deferred tax asset to the amourviliamore likely than not, be realized.

Comprehensive Income (Loss).Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as ltla@ge in equity of a business enterprise duringrag from transactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources. The Compaey dot have any items of comprehensive incoms)(tither than net losses as reported.
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Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that subject the Compargredit risk consist of cash and cash equivalentscertificates of deposit. The Company maintains
cash and cash equivalents and certificates of depitis well-capitalized financial institutions. Aimes, those amounts may exceed federally indurgs. The Company has no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Stock-Based Compensation.Stock-based compensation cost is measuree graémt date based on the fair value of the awaddsarecognized as expense over the service period
which generally represents the vesting period.avaards that have performance based vesting conslitie Company recognizes the expense over timaget period that the awards
are expected to be earned. The Company generaiythe Black-Scholes option-pricing model to calteithe grant date fair value of stock options.dations that only vest upon the
achievement of market conditions, the Company wihe options using a Monte Carlo model to caleufa¢ grant date fair value of the stock optioriee &xpense related to options
that vest based on market conditions is not redesheuld those options not ultimately vest. Theeege recognized over the service period is reqtir@ttlude an estimate of the
awards that will be forfeited. Stock options isstedon-employees are accounted for in accordaitbethre provisions of ASC Subtopic 505-Fquity-Based Payments to Non-
employeeswhich requires valuing the stock options usingption pricing model (the Company uses Black-Sesjohnd measuring such stock options to their stfaér value when
they vest.

3. Agreement with PROCAPS S.A. and Research Grani
Agreement with PROCAPS S.A.

On March 25, 2010, the Company granted PROCAPS(PROCAPS”) (in the form of a definitive term shpexclusive rights to market and sell GM-CT-01r(ferly DAVANAT
®) to treat cancer in Colombia, South America. PR®SAs an international, privately held pharmacalitompany based in Barranquilla, Colombia. In ®et®2010, the Company
received a payment of $200,000 and shipped GM-CI6ROCAPS to be used by PROCAPS to qualify @sfilling process and to replicate the Companyabiity study. The
$200,000 payment from PROCAPS was included asmefémcome on the condensed consolidated balaeegsshs of December 31, 2011.

On October 18, 2011, the Company entered into lBmiation, Supply, Marketing and Distribution Agneent (the “Agreement”) with PROCAPS. The Agreenggahted PROCAPS
first negotiation rights to enter into similar agneents in other Central and South American coumtiiee Company was to be the sole manufactures@pplier of GM-CT-01 to
PROCAPS. The Agreement obligated PROCAPS to praeg@atory approvals necessary for the marketimbsale of GM-CT-01 naming the Company as the owfstch
approvals to the extent permitted by law, or aligkely hold the approvals for the Company’s ben®fROCAPS was to pay the Company a stated fesaftit dose it purchased and
royalties at an incremental rate determined by ahmet sales of GM-CT-01. The Company retainsnadlliectual property rights to GM-CUO% and related products and PROCAPS
not produce, modify, reverse engineer, or othenmitafere with the GM-CT-01 compound. PROCAPS waisable to manufacture or sell products that caenpéth GM-CT-01
during the term of the Agreement and for five yeheseafter.

PROCAPS had not obtained approval to sell GM-CTr0Qolumbia as required by the Agreement and, g wrere in material breach of the Agreement, then@any terminated the
Agreement, effective September 29, 2012. With mthér obligations, the Company recognized the $EIDpayment as Other Income in the Statements efafipns during the year
ended December 31, 2012.

Qualifying Therapeutic Discovery Project

In October 2010, the Company was notified thataswawarded $489,000 total in two federal granteutiee Qualifying Therapeutic Discovery Project TIQP") Program for its GM-
CT-01 anti-cancer compound
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and for its GR/GM-Series of anti-fibrotic, cirrhesiompounds for work performed during 2010 and 2068 Company recognized this grant in other incamtbe statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 Ctimpany received $255,000 of the grant in 2040tla@ remaining $234,000 was received in 2011.

4, Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followinetember 31:

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Leasehold improvemen $ 2 $ 2
Computer and office equipme 13 13
Furniture and fixture _ 59 _59
Total 74 74
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize ) _(66)
Property and equipme—net $3 $ 8
Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $5,000 addd3espectively.
5. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following at Decamndi.:
2013 2012
(in thousands)
Legal and accounting fe: $ 10: $ 10¢
Accrued compensatic 52¢ 42
Severance agreement (Note 1,00( 1,00(
Other 22 10
Total $ 1,651 $1,161

6. Stockholders’ Deficit

At December 31, 2013, the Company had 50,000,08feshof common stock and 20,000,000 undesignateedshuthorized. As of December 31, 2012, 5,00058@6es have been
designated for Series A 12% Convertible PrefertediS 900,000 shares have been designated forsd&leConvertible Preferred Stock, 2,100,000 shiaaee been designated for
Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock, 1,000 shhawe been designated for Series C Super DiviGendertible Preferred Stock and 11,999,000 remadesignated.

The Company has raised capital through a numbeelatf and equity financing transactions. The folluywrovides a description of the Company’s equiitgricings and certain
warrants issued in connection with such equityrfaiags.

2001 Private Placement

During 2001, the Company sold a total of 114,88 a$ of common stock for proceeds of $2,221,0009f%17,000 of issuance costs through a privategrhent of securities. In
connection with this issuance, the Company issie6i3@ and 58,350 warrants to purchase common std89.00 and $30.00 per share,
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respectively. The Company valued the warrants @ $®0, based on a fair market value of the Comipazymmon stock of $13.68 per share. These waregiised unexercised in
2005.

In August 2001, the Company offered warrants taléd of its outstanding convertible notes as andathent to convert prior to the maturity of theasotHolders representing
$1,126,000 of the outstanding principal and accingtest chose to convert at a conversion prickl@f00 per share and received 99,705 common shade33,801 warrants. These
warrants have an exercise price of $39.00 per siratavere immediately exercisable. The Companyeeatbe warrants at $503,000 based on a fair maghaee of the Company’s
common stock of $13.68 per share. The value oivéreants has been recorded as a debt conversiensxpThese warrants expired unexercised in 2005.

In 2002, the Company issued 18,334 warrants tagle@ts in connection with the 2001 offering. Therarats were exercisable immediately at an exemise of $21.00 per share and
have a 10 year life. The Company valued these wirgt $236,000 based on a deemed fair value @dngpany’s common stock of $21.00 per share aratded such value as
interest expense in the statement of operationthéoyear ended December 31, 2002. These warrgpiteeé unexercised in 2012.

Public Offering

On December 13, 2001, the Company commenced acpfféring of common stock, at a price to the pribfi $21.00 per share. The Company concluded tiegired on June 30, 200
During 2002, the Company sold 31,000 shares of comstock in this offering for proceeds of $602,00& of $49,000 of issuance costs.

2002 Private Placement

In September 2002, the Company began a privatermplest (the “2002 Private Placement”) of up to 1,668 shares of common stock at $6.00 per sharef Becember 31, 2002, the
Company had sold 537,227 shares for proceeds 8 $200, net of issuance costs of $212,000 andt stduscription receivable of $150,000, which relateshares purchased but for
which payment had not been received as of DeceBhe2002. This offering was closed on January 0832although subsequent to year end the Compddyasadditional 181,334
shares for additional proceeds of $1,070,000, h$18,000 of offering costs.

The Company compensated a registered investmeisieadvith respect to shares purchased by its sliékg of December 31, 2002, the adviser was edtideeceive 28,917 shares of
common stock. The Company also agreed to compeadatder registered under applicable law, and dincfer’'s agents, for identifying qualified investoAs of December 31, 2002,
one of the findes agents was entitled to receive 125 shares of @onstock. On January 14, 2003, the Company cldse@Qd02 Private Placement, at which point the Comypagreec

to issue the adviser an additional 417 sharesthenfinder and its other agent an aggregate oBlag@litional shares and $3,000 in cash in conneetith the shares sold subsequent to
December 31, 2002 and through the closing date.

Shares placed by such registered adviser, findéfiader's agent were accounted for as offeringsaad valued at $6.00 per share, consistent htiptice paid for the shares placed
in the offering. Such offering costs were nettediast the proceeds of the 2002 Private Placemerde $one of the 29,042 shares had been issuddbesember 31, 2002, the
Company recorded the obligation to issue such stes®ffering costs payable. The additional 2,042es issued in January 2003 were also valued @® $&r share and included in
the $18,000 offering costs recorded at the closihgse shares were subsequently issued in 2003.

During 2002, the Company also agreed to issue Bafes of common stock to an employee for findinggtors in connection with the 2002 Private Plaggmdéone of the shares had
been issued as of December 31, 2002. These sharesubsequently issued in 2003. Accordingly, tamg@any recorded
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the obligation to general and administrative experis the statement of operations in the amoui6@f00. On January 14, 2003, the Company closeg(2 Private Placement, at
which point the Company agreed to issue such ereplay additional 1,167 shares in connection wigheshsold subsequent to December 31, 2002 andythtbe closing date. The
Company recorded an additional obligation of $2@,@0general and administrative expenses in 200&senting the fair value of the additional 1,16&@res.

2002 Related Party Transaction
The Company agreed to issue 4,226 shares of coratonok as payment for 2002 scientific advisory smwi These shares were issued in 2003.

May 2003 Private Placement

In May 2003, the Company began a private placemfemp to 416,667 shares of common stock at $12e0GlIpare. As of the closing on July 15, 2003, tbmg@any had sold 399,917
shares of common stock for proceeds of $4,6710€0f issuance costs of $128,000. In connectidh this offering the Company issued 18,269 comntockswarrants (exercisable
at $32.40 per share) to its placement agents. Dinep@ny valued the warrants at $261,000 using thekBBcholes pricing model and recorded the warralnie as offering costs with a
corresponding increase to additional paid-in chpifaese warrants expired unexercised in 2006.

October 2003 “PIPE” Transaction

On October 2, 2003 the Company closed a privatioff, structured as a Private Investment, Puldjigitif (“PIPE”), exempt from registration under Sent4(2) of the Securities Act
of 1933, in which it sold to institutional inveso219,096 of the 238,096 offered shares of comrtomk st $21.00 per share for proceeds of $4,041 080f issuance costs of
$559,000. In connection with this offering, the Gmmy issued 109,549 warrants with an initial exsrgirice of $31.74 per share to the investors 8r2b5 warrants with an initial
exercise price of $41.16 per share to its placemgent. The exercise price of the warrants wassti) adjustment pursuant to adiliztion and other provisions. The investor wars
and placement agent Warrants were valued at $983hHnd $191,000, respectively, using the reldtirevalue, and allocated to additional paid-in-italp The Company used the
Black-Scholes pricing model to value these wartartg warrants were originally accounted for agdtanding derivative instruments. The investor arets expired unexercised in
2008 and the placement agent warrants expired urisgd in 2007.

April 2004 “PIPE” Transaction

On April 7, 2004, the Company closed a private srpfifering, structured as a “PIPE” in which it ddb certain institutional investors 206,019 shafesommon stock at $21.60 per
share for proceeds of $3,983,000, net of cashnssueosts of $466,000. In connection with this rrif the Company issued 103,010 warrants to imvestnd 10,301 warrants to a
placement agent with an initial exercise price 2f.80 per share. The exercise price of the warmaasssubject to adjustment pursuant to diftition and other provisions. The inves
warrants and the placement agent warrants weredat$1,931,000 and $154,000, respectively, ubiegelative fair value, and allocated to additiqred-in-capital. The Company
used the Black-Scholes pricing model to value theseants. The warrants were originally accountedab freestanding derivative instruments. Thestorewarrants expired
unexercised in 2009 and the placement agent wareapired unexercised in 2007.

August 2004 “PIPE” Transaction

On August 12, 2004, the Company closed a privdezing, structured as a “PIPE” in which it solddrtain institutional investors 333,334 sharesaofimon stock at $18.00 per share
for proceeds of
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$5,515,000, net of cash issuance costs of $485l0@@nnection with this offering the Company is$@83,334 warrants to the investors and 16,667ants1to the placement agent
with an exercise price of $4.20 per share. Theaseprice of the warrants was subject to adjustrselely as a result of stock splits, recapitaltrz and similar events. The investor
warrants and placement agent warrants were valu4, 286,000 and $239,000, respectively, and akace additional paid-in-capital. The Company uteriBlack-Scholes pricing
model to value these warrants. The warrants wegéatly accounted for as freestanding derivativ&riuments. These warrants expired unexerciseddf.2

February 25, 2008 Offering

On February 25, 2008, the Company closed an offéninvhich it sold to investors (i) an aggregaté 50,000 shares of the Compangbmmon stock at $3.00 per share, (i) warr.
which expire on August 25, 2013, to purchase ameggde of 1,250,000 share of the Company’s comrtomk st an exercise price of $3.50 per share, @havarrants, which expired
on December 26, 2008, to purchase an aggrega®0d@@ shares of the Company’s common stock axautiee price of $3.78 per share. In addition,Goenpany issued to a
placement agent warrants, which expire on Augus2@%3, to purchase 34,375 shares of the Companysnon stock at an exercise price of $4.20 peresfdre warrants are
exercisable beginning on August 25, 2008. The wdsrprovide for cashless exercise if at any timeénduthe term of the warrants if there is no effieetegistration statement for the
issuance or resale of the underlying warrant shdites exercise price of each warrant is adjustiabilee event of a stock split or stock combinaticapital reorganization, merger or
similar event.

The Company received proceeds of $3,381,000, nedsif transaction costs of $369,000. In additienGbmpany incurred $56,000 of costs for warrarstsed to a placement agent.
Proceeds of $1,044,000 were allocated to commak stod $2,281,000 were allocated to investor wésrasing the Black-Scholes method with a fair maviedue of the Company’s
common stock of $2.40 and the following assumptasef February 25, 2008: for the 5 year warraxgsasable at $4.20 per share, a risk-free inteetstof 2.94% and volatility of
95% and for the 4 month warrants exercisable at88er share, a risk-free interest rate of 2.136o\vamatility of 95%. The warrants were determinedave the characteristics of
derivative liabilities and were originally accoudtr as liabilities prior to the Company increasthe authorized number of shares. Changes iwvdhie were recognized as either a
gain or loss in the consolidated statement of djper® In the second quarter of 2008 the warramt®eweclassified to equity. Through May 21, 2068se warrants were marked to
market resulting in a reduction in warrant lialgt in the balance sheet and an offsetting credihange in fair value of warrant liabilities iretetatement of operations in the amoui
$356,000. The remaining fair value of $2,160,008 wdited to additional paid-capital in the balance sheet. On December 283 2@ 500,000 warrants exercisable at $3.78 ex
unexercised. If the Company pays a stock dividendakes a distribution or combines shares of itaroon stock, then the number of shares issuable epenmise of this warrant shi
be proportionately adjusted such that the aggremeaecise price of this warrant remains unchanged.

Cork Investments
On July 2, 2008, the Company issued 50,000 wartar@ork Investments in exchange for $20,000. Therants were exercisable for common stock at $6edGhare for a period of
three years and expired unexercised in 2011. TA@®®2 was credited to additional paid in capital.

2012 Offering of Units

On March 22, 2012, the Company entered into anmniding agreement, relating to the offer and s#l&,159,445 units (the “Units”) of the Companygleanit consisted of two
shares of Common Stock and one warrant to purar@sehare of Common Stock. Pursuant to the underavagreement, the Company granted the underw@d5-day option to
purchase up to an additional 173,916 Units to cover-
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allotments, which they exercised on March 26, 20t public offering price for each Unit was $9.8ach warrant has an initial exercise price of $fér share, is exercisable upon
separation of the Units and expires on March 28720

On March 28, 2012, the Company sold and issued31383 Units (2,666,722 shares of common stock eladed $5.63 warrants to purchase 1,333,361 shamsnmon stock) for
gross proceeds of $12.0 million (net cash proceé840,403,000 after the underwriting discount affdring costs). The warrants were valued at $4@B%as of the issuance date of
March 28, 2012, using the closing price of $4.2fez0f 5 years, a volatility of 119% and a riské interest rate of 1.05%. Based upon the Compamalysis of the criteria contained
in ASC Topic 815-40, “Derivatives and Hedging — @auts in Entity’s Own Equity” the Company has detimed that warrants issued in connection with finiancing transaction
were not derivative liabilities and therefore, wezeorded as additional paid-in capital.

On March 28, 2012, in connection with the undenemitfinancing as described above, the Companydsauetal of 46,378 common stock purchase wartarttse underwriters. These
warrants expire May 2, 2016, have an exercise jfi®.63 per share, and are exercisable begirorieg/ear from March 22, 2012 (the date of the umdeéng agreement). These
warrants were valued at $143,000 as of the datsoénce (March 28, 2012), using the closing fc.20, life of 4.1 years, volatility of 117% arigk free interest rate of 0.78%.
Based upon the Company'’s analysis of the critergained in ASC Topic 815-40, “Derivatives and Hedg— Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity”, the Compamas determined that
these warrants issued in connection with this fimeg transaction were not derivative liabilitiegdaherefore, were recorded as additional paid-pitah

Effective as of March 23, 2012, and in connectidtihe pricing of the offering of Units, the Conmyeeffected a one-for-six reverse split of its Coomn$tock. Per the terms of the
reverse split, all fractional shares were roundedBased on the effective split date of March ZB,2 the Company issued 3,324 shares of commok &i@over fractional shares.

2013 Private Placement of Common Stock

On August 16, 2013, the Company issued 500,00Qyistezed shares of its common stock for procee®3f00,000 to a single investor pursuant to agpeiplacement. There were
warrants or placement fees associated with thisaetion.

2013 At Market Issuance of Common Stock

On October 25, 2013, the Company entered into aviakket Issuance Sales Agreement (the “At Markeate&gient”) with a sales agent under which the Coypaay issue and sell
shares of its common stock having an aggregateirgferice of up to $30.0 million from time to tintlerough the sales agent. Sales of the Companysmm stock through the sales
agent, if any, will be made by any method thateierded an “at the market” offering as defined byUt®. Securities and Exchange Commission. The Coynpél pay to the sales
agent a commission rate equal to 3.0% of the gmsseeds from the sale of any shares of commok stld through the sales agent under the At Makigegeement. As of

December 31, 2013, the Company had issued 99,%48ssbf its common stock through its At Market &sste program at an average price of $9.02 per sbsu#ting in gross procee
of approximately $944,000. The Company incurredtame, initial legal and accounting costs of apjmately $82,000 and commissions of $29,000 regyitimet proceeds of
$833,000 as of December 31, 2013. In January abdi&ey 2014, the Company issued 2,663,647 sharesnoion stock for net proceeds of approximately, 528000 which
completed the At Market Agreement.

Series A 12% Convertible Preferred Stock — Februdry2008 Private Placement

On February 4, 2008, the Company closed a priatzment begun in October 2007 of its Series A TCvertible Preferred Stock (“Series A”) and retatearrants. In this
transaction, the Company sold units of
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securities at $6.00 per unit, each unit compride@ one share of Series A Preferred, (ii) a wati® purchase one share of common stock for $@ud iii) a warrant to purchase one
share of common stock for $12.00. Each share oBéries A is entitled to dividends at the rate 2f6lper annum payable at the Company’s option ih oashares of common stock
valued at the higher of $6.00 per share or 100thefalue weighted average price of the Comparhasesprice for the 20 consecutive trading days paidhe applicable dividend
payment date. Dividends are payable semi-annuallMarch 30 and September 30. The dividend paiderinitial dividend payment date is calculated fribve date the Company
deposited each subscription advance.

The shares of Series A are entitled to vote aassakith the Company’s common stock and each sii@eries A is convertible at any time to one-sixtla share of common stock,
subject to adjustment in the event of a stock @ind] stock split or combination, reclassificatiorsinilar event. The Company has the right to negjoonversion if the closing price of
the common stock exceeds $18.00 for 15 consecuéiding days and a registration statement covehiegesale of the shares of common stock issugigie conversion of the Seriet
is then in effect. Each warrant is exercisablelgdt# cash beginning August 3, 2008 and expiredrebruary 4, 2012. The exercise price of each warsaadjustable in the event of a
stock split or stock combination, capital reorgatian, merger or similar event.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had receivbsicsiption advances of $1,667,500 for Series 2008, the Company received additional subscripgitvances of $75,000
resulting in total gross proceeds of $1,742,500F&ruary 4, 2008 the Company closed the privaegphent. The Company incurred $52,000 of cashactins costs resulting in net
cash proceeds of $1,691,000. In addition, the Compecurred $3,000 of costs for 1,400 warrants sgeble at $9.00 issued to placement agents. Rtscde984,000 were allocated
to investor warrants using the Black-Scholes methitid the following assumptions as of February @& risk free interest rate 2.51%, volatility 95fir market value of the
company’s common stock on February 4, 2008, andlihee price on the closing date of the transacti®8.54. The warrants were originally accountadak freestanding derivative
instruments in the consolidated balance sheet fdyroader the caption “Warrant LiabilitiesThese warrants were originally classified as alltgtbecause the February 2006 warre
contain an anti-dilution provision in the evenieofubsequent dilutive issuance and the potentrabeu of shares issuable exceeded the Company’'sraéti shares. Changes in fair
value were recognized as either a gain or lossdarconsolidated statement of operations underapgan “Change in fair value of warrant liabilitteén the second quarter of 2008, the
warrants were reclassified to equity as a resuinohmendment to the Company’s articles of incafpmm approved at the May 21, 2008 annual meetirsfpareholders increasing the
Company'’s authorized common. Through May 21, 2@@&e warrants were marked to market resultingré@daction in warrant liabilities in the balanceshand an offsetting credit
to change in fair value of warrant liabilities metstatement of operations in the amount of $1@0,08e remaining fair value of $502,000 was cretfiteadditional paid-in capital in
the balance sheet.

In 2013, 110,000 shares of Series A were convéntedl8,387 shares of common stock. Prior to 2@it8tal of 180,000 shares of Series A had beenertetw into 30,000 shares of
common stock.

Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

On February 12, 2009, the Company entered intearisies purchase agreement (the “10X Agreementf$pant to which it agreed to issue and sell to EQKd LP, at two or more
closings, up to: (i) 3,000,000 shares its Seriesi/ertible preferred stock (“Series B redeemablevertible preferred stock” or “Series B") with aggregate stated value of $6.0
million and convertible into 2,000,000 shares ahoeon stock at December 31, 2011 and (ii) warranitchase 6,000,000 shares of common stock.

Through a series of closings from February 2008ubh May 2010, the Company issued and sold, pursodhe 10X Agreement, a total of (i) 900,000 siseof Series B-1 convertible
preferred stock (“Series B-1
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redeemable convertible preferred stock” or “SelfieE’) and related common stock warrants for 1,800,6hares of common stock and (ii) 2,100,000 sta&r8eries B-2 convertible
preferred stock (“Series B-2 redeemable converfibééerred stock” or “Series B-2") and related aats for 4,200,000 shares of common stock. Dur@i2the Company received
total net cash proceeds of $1,463,000 from theaisseiof 770,000 shares of Series B-2 and relatecmta. During 2009, the Company received totakash proceeds of $1,548,000
from the issuance of 900,000 shares of Series BdIr@lated warrants and $2,472,000 from the issuah&,330,000 shares of Series B-2 and relatechwis:

The Series B closings were as follows:

On February 12, 2009, the Company issued and gofduant to the 10X Agreement: (i) 900,000 shaf&edes B-1 convertible preferred stock (“Series B2deemable convertible
preferred stock” or “Series B-1") convertible ir8060,000 shares of common stock; (ii) Class A-1 arats exercisable to purchase 300,000 shares of oamstack; (iii) Class A-2
warrants exercisable to purchase 300,000 shamsmaihon stock; and (iv) Class B warrants exercisabfgirchase 1,200,000 shares of common stockpiéeeeds from the closing
were $1,548,000.

On May 13, 2009, the Company issued and sold, patgo the 10X Agreement: (i) 450,000 shares oieSd8-2 convertible preferred stock (“Series B-@aemable convertible
preferred stock” or “Series B-2") convertible ir800,000 shares of common stock; (ii) Class A-1 arats exercisable to purchase 150,000 shares of oamstack; (iii) Class A-2
warrants exercisable to purchase 150,000 shamswhon stock; and (iv) Class B warrants exercisttbpurchase 600,000 shares of common stock. ieepds from the closing
were $801,000.

On June 30, 2009, the Company issued and soldjgmirto the 10X Agreement: (i) 250,000 shares aeSd-2 convertible into 166,666 shares of comrstok; (ii) Class A-1
warrants exercisable to purchase 83,333 sharezwhon stock; (iii) Class A-2 warrants exercisabl@trchase 83,333 shares of common stock; an€Cl@gs B warrants exercisable
to purchase 333,333 shares of common stock. Neepds from the closing were $473,000.

On August 12, 2009, the Company issued and soldupat to the 10X Agreement: (i) 150,000 shareSesfes B-2 convertible into 100,000 shares of comstock; (ii) Class A-1
warrants exercisable to purchase 50,000 shareznwhon stock; (iii) Class A-2 warrants exercisabl@trchase 50,000 shares of common stock; an€Cl@gs B warrants exercisable
to purchase 200,000 shares of common stock. Neepds from the closing were $287,000.

On September 30, 2009, the Company issued andmoklant to the 10X Agreement: (i) 162,500 shaf&eries B-2 convertible into 108,333 shares afimmn stock; (ii) Class A-1
warrants exercisable to purchase 54,166 sharezmhon stock; (iii) Class A-2 warrants exercisabl@trchase 54,166 shares of common stock; an€Cl@gs B warrants exercisable
to purchase 216,666 shares of common stock. Neepds from the closing were $305,000.

On November 4, 2009, the Company issued and soidupnt to the 10X Agreement: (i) 155,000 shareSevies B-2 convertible into 103,333 shares of comstock; (ii) Class A-1
warrants exercisable to purchase 51,666 sharesnohon stock; (iii) Class A-2 warrants exercisabl@trchase 51,666 shares of common stock; an€l@gs B warrants exercisable
to purchase 206,666 shares of common stock. Neepds from the closing were $296,000.

On December 8, 2009, the Company issued and saisiignt to the 10X Agreement: (i) 162,500 shareSenies B-2 convertible into 108,333 shares of comstock; (ii) Class A-1
warrants exercisable to purchase 54,167 sharesnwhon stock; (iii) Class A-2 warrants exercisabl@trchase 54,167 shares of common stock; an€l@gs B warrants exercisable
to purchase 216,667 shares of common stock. Neepds from the closing were $310,000.
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On January 29, 2010, the Company issued and saisiignt to the 10X Agreement: (i) 162,500 shareSenies B-2 convertible into 108,334 shares of comstock; (ii) Class A-1
warrants exercisable to purchase 54,167 shareznmhon stock; (iii) Class A-2 warrants exercisabl@trchase 54,167 shares of common stock; an€Cl@gs B warrants exercisable
to purchase 216,667 shares of common stock. Neepds from the closing were $308,000.

On March 8, 2010, the Company issued and soldypatgo the 10X Agreement: (i) 167,500 shares oeSd3-2 convertible into 111,667 shares of commstock; (i) Class A-1
warrants exercisable to purchase 55,834 sharesnmhon stock; (iii) Class A-2 warrants exercisabl@trchase 55,834 shares of common stock; an€l@gs B warrants exercisable
to purchase 223,334 shares of common stock. Neepds from the closing were $322,000.

On April 30, 2010, the Company issued and soldsyamt to the 10X Agreement: (i) 155,000 shareseoiS B-2 convertible into 103,334 shares of comstonk; (ii) Class A-1
warrants exercisable to purchase 51,667 sharesnwhon stock; (iii) Class A-2 warrants exercisabl@trchase 51,667 shares of common stock; an€(@gs B warrants exercisable
to purchase 206,667 shares of common stock. Neepds from the closing were $297,000.

On May 10, 2010, the Company issued and sold, patgo the 10X Agreement: (i) 285,000 shares ofeSéB-2 convertible into 190,000 shares of comntooks (ii) Class A-1
warrants exercisable to purchase 95,000 sharesnohon stock; (iii) Class A-2 warrants exercisabl@trchase 95,000 shares of common stock; an€l@gs B warrants exercisable
to purchase 380,000 shares of common stock. Neepds from the closing were $536,000.

The terms of the Series B are as follows:

Dividends. Holders of the Series B will be entitled teee cumulative dividends at the rate of 12% pars per annum (compounding monthly) payable gupméich may, at the
Company'’s option, be paid in cash or common stBcksuant to an agreement with the holder of alleshaf Series B, on January 26, 2011, the Compargnded and restated the
Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Righmd himitations for the Series B-1 and Series Beyrovide that dividends are payable in cash oreshaf Common Stock valued at
100% of the volume weighted average price of them@on Stock for the 20 consecutive trading days poidhe dividend payment date on and after Septer3®, 2011. If the
Company does not pay any dividend on the Serieviglends will accrue at the rate of 15% per anrffoompounding monthly).

Conversion Rights Each share of Series B is convertible into-thicds (approximately 0.667) shares of commonlstaiche conversion price of $3.00 per share aofi®n of

(i) the holder, at any time and (ii) the Compartyaray time after February 12, 2010 (and upon 16 dfice) if the common stock is quoted at or al€0 for 15 consecutive trading
days and an effective registration statement rexgguttie underlying shares of common stock is ie@f{subject to certain monthly volume limits). Suant to an agreement with the
holder of all shares of Series B, on January 212the Company amended and restated the Cetifaéddesignation of Preferences, Rights and Linairest for the Series B-1 and
Series B-2, to remove the Company'’s right to conspelversion of the Series B Preferred Stock toeshaf its Common Stock

Redemption Rights Pursuant to an agreement with the holderlafhares of Series B, on January 26, 2011, the @oynpmended and restated the Certificate of Detsamnaf
Preferences, Rights and Limitations for the SeBidsand Series B-2, to provide that, upon noticaaifless than 30 trading days, a holder of S&igmy require the Company to
redeem, in whole or in part at any time on or aterearlier of (a) February 12, 2019 or (b) theedd issuance of a promissory note to David Réae Note 11) in connection with the
achievement of certain milestones under his separagreement.
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The redemption price will be equal to the sum efstated value of the Series B, plus all accruédibpaid dividends thereon, as of the redemptide.dathe Company fails to pay the
redemption price in cash on the redemption daés the holders of the Series B requesting redemptiay, at their sole option, automatically convieeir shares of Series B into a
promissory note bearing interest at the rate of pg%year and secured by a lien on all of the Cayigaassets. So long as any shares of the Series&in outstanding, the Company
is also subject to restrictions limiting, amongeatthings, amendments to the Company’s organizatidomcuments; the purchase or redemption of thep2oyts capital stock; mergel
consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions; sa@ifassets; dividends and other restricted paysnamestments and acquisitions; joint venturegrsing agreements, exclusive
marketing and other distribution agreements; issesof securities; incurrence of indebtednessyieoge of liens and other encumbrances and isssi@fi@my common stock
equivalents.

Liquidation Rights  In the event of any liquidation, dissolutionvanding up of the Company, either voluntarilyiovoluntarily, the holders of Series B will recei$@ per share plus
accrued and unpaid dividends, payable prior amtéference to any distributions to the holders @in@on Stock bupari passuwith the holders of the Series A 12% Convertible
Preferred Stock.

Voting Rights  Except as noted below, the holder of eachesbBEeries B shall be entitled to the number tés@qual to the number of shares of Common Stdokwhich such
share of Series B would be convertible, and shb#mvise have voting rights and powers equal tosthig rights and powers of the Common Stock. Wtspect to the election of
directors, the holders of the Series B shall vogether as a separate class to elect two (2) membére Board of Directors (the “Series B Direstyrand the Company shall take all
reasonably necessary or desirable actions withioaintrol (including, without limitation, callingpecial meetings of the Board of Directors, nomimgsuch persons designated by the
holders of the Series B as directors on the apggkcaroxy statements and recommending their electmpermit the holders of the Series B to apptviat additional (2) members of
the Board of Directors (the “Series B Nomineeshovshall be subject to election by all shares ¢ihgostock of the Company voting together as alsiggoup, until such time as all
authorized shares of Series B have has been issuksbld, after which the number of Series B Nomsrghall be three (3), and shall remain threer{8) there are no longer any
shares of Series B outstanding. The holders o&S&ishall vote together with the holders of Comr8tatk and other voting capital stock of the Comyparelect all other members of
the Board of Directors.

Other Restrictions So long as any shares of the Series B remastanding, the Company may not, without the apgirof/the holders of a majority of the shares afi€zeB
outstanding, among other things, (i) change the gizhe Company’s Board of Directors; (ii) amemaepeal the Company’s Articles of IncorporatiorBytaws or file any articles of
amendment designating the preferences, limitatmobkrelative rights of any series of preferredlst(id) create or increase the authorized amodrny additional class or series of
shares of stock that is equal to or senior to Sdigiv) increase or decrease the authorized nuofthares of the Series B; (v) purchase, redaestherwise acquire for value any
shares of any class of capital stock; (vi) mergeamsolidate the Company into or with any othepooation or sell, assign, lease, pledge, encumbetherwise dispose of all or
substantially all of the Company'’s assets or thadsany subsidiary; (vii) voluntarily or involuntdyiliquidate, dissolve or wind up the Company a @ompany’s business; (viii) pay or
declare dividends on any capital stock other tharRreferred Stock, unless the Series B shardyataesuch dividend and all accrued dividends pagabith respect to the Series B
have been paid prior to the payment or declaratf@uch dividend; (ix) acquire an equitable inteiesor the assets or business of any other eintigny form of transaction; (x) create
or commit us to enter into a joint venture, licelgsagreement or exclusive marketing or other dhistion agreement with respect to the Company’syts] other than in the ordinary
course of business; (xi) permit the Company orsutysidiary to sell or issue any security of sudbsgliary to any person or entity other than the any; (xii) enter into, create, inc
assume or guarantee any indebtedness for borrowadynof any kind (other than indebtedness existim¢he initial closing date and approved by SeBishareholders);
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(xiii) enter into, create, incur or assume anysiefany kind (other than certain permitted lierfsly) issue any common stock equivalents; (xvyéase the number of shares of the
Company’s common stock that may be issued pursoanitions, warrants or rights to employees, does;tofficers, consultants or advisors above 250,00

Warrants. Each Class A-1 warrant, Class A-2 warrant@lads B warrant is exercisable at $3.00 per shfazeromon stock at any time on or after the dats@fance until the fifth
anniversary of the respective issue date. The Coynpey, upon 30 days notice and so long as anteffe®gistration statement regarding the undeglyghares of common stock is in
effect, issue a termination notice with respedfjteach Class A-1 warrant on any trading day oictvkhe market value of the common stock for eddh@®15 previous trading days
exceeded $7.50 per share and (ii) each Class A#amtaon any trading day on which the market valfilne common stock for each of the 15 previoudimgdays exceeded $10.50
per share. All Class A-1 warrants were exerciseddsh proceeds of $3,000,000 in 2011 and 500,00 Class A-2 warrants were exercised for casbgeds of $1,500,000 in 2013.
Subsequently, in January 2014, the remaining 50008ss A-2 warrants were exercised for cash poscet$1,500,000.

The fair value of the warrants issued in conneotiith the Series B- was $1,296,000 at the date of issuance basdtednltowing assumptions: an expected life of Srgewolatility of
118%, risk free interest rate of 1.79% and zeraddivds. The Company allocated the gross proceestsitmm the relative fair value of the Series B-d the related warrants, resulting
in $1,105,000 of the proceeds being allocated ditiadal paid-in capital. The Company analyzed $legies B-1, post-allocation of the gross proceadd,determined that there was no
beneficial conversion feature at the date of isseamhe issuance costs of the Series B-1 and tbergmallocated to warrants were recorded as afieduo the carrying value of the
Series B-1 when issued, and are accreted to tieen@ibn value of the Series B-1 through the eartimdemption date. Due to the redemption featheeQompany has presented the
Series B-1 outside of permanent equity, in the mee of the consolidated balance sheet at Dece®ih@012 and 2011.

The fair value of the warrants issued during ther ymded December 31, 2010 in connection with #re$B-2 was $4,148,000 at the dates of issuamsedbon the following
assumptions: an expected life of 5 years, volptilft126% to 129%, risk free interest rates of 220 2.43% and zero dividends. The fair value efilarrants issued during the year
ended December 31, 2009 in connection with theeS&® was $5,333,000 at the dates of issuance bast dollowing assumptions: an expected life of &rge volatility of 124% t
127%, risk free interest rates of 1.98% to 2.70% zevo dividends. The Company allocated the grossegds based on the relative fair value of theS&-2 and the related warrants,
resulting in $1,028,000 and $1,732,000 of the pedsebeing allocated to additional paid-in capitalthe years ended December 31, 2010 and 200®atdsgly. The issuance costs of
the Series B-2 and the amounts allocated to warkaete recorded as a reduction to the carryingevaluhe Series B-2 when issued, and are accretibe redemption value of the
Series B-2 through the earliest redemption dates. b the redemption feature, the Company has me¢he Series B-2 outside of permanent equitthérmezzanine of the
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2012Cirid

The Company analyzed the Series B-2, post-allotatiche gross proceeds, and determined that thasea beneficial conversion feature at the datéssafince. Because the closing
price of the common stock on the closing date weatgr than the effective conversion price, $388 A $628,000 of the proceeds (limited to thecalion of the proceeds) during
the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, resghgcivere allocated to an embedded beneficialeosion feature of the Series B-2. The amount atkext to the beneficial
conversion feature was recorded as a discounet8éhies B-2 is being accreted, with such accrdt#ing charged through the earliest redemptionsdate
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Series C 6% Super Dividend Convertible Preferredckt

On December 29, 2010, the Company designated dahdreaed the sale and issuance of up to 1,000 slwdr8eries C Super Dividend Convertible PrefeBtxtk (“Series C”) with a
par value of $0.01 and a stated value equal t/0®0(the “Stated Value”).

On December 30, 2010, the Company sold and issl@di2ares of Series C at a price of $10,000 pee shagross proceeds of $2,120,000. The Compaswriied $47,000 of cash
transaction costs resulting in net cash procee8g,6f73,000. In addition, the Company issued 500amés exercisable at $7.20 to a placement ageichvitad a de minimis value.
Additionally, in January 2011, the Company sold &@sdied 13 shares of Series C at a price of $1(806hare for gross proceeds of $130,000.

The terms of the Series C are as follows:

Conversion Rights Each holder of Series C may convert all, litless than all, of his Series C shares plus adcand unpaid dividends into Common Stock at tieemf $6.00 per
share of Common Stock (“Conversion Price”), suct gpproximately 1,667 shares of Common Stockheilissued per each converted share of Series @i¢acand unpaid dividends
will be issued as additional shares). At Decemiie2813, the 196 outstanding shares of Series € eanvertible into a total of approximately 326,88ares of Common Stock.

Subject to the continuing obligation to pay posiva@sion dividends, the Company may convert ali,not less than all, of the Series C (plus all aedrand unpaid dividends) into
Common Stock, at the Conversion Price, upon such that the closing price of the Common Stock itess than $18.00 per share for 15 consecutivengathys.

Dividends. Holders of Series C shall be entitled to reeeiumulative non-compounding dividends at the pateshare of Series C equal to the greater 68fiper annum of the

Stated Value (also defined as the “Floor”) or Zii% of net sales until the total dividends paiddsal to the initial investment and 1.25% of reéés thereafter. The maximum amount
each Series C shareholder will receive in divideagments is equal to $100,000 (the “Maximum Payo&dr purposes of this dividend calculation, redes shall mean gross revenues
actually received by the Company, from the salécensing of the product DAVANAP (GM-CT-01), leshargebacks, returns, expenses attributable to ptedoalls, duties,

customs, sales tax, freight, insurance, shippimgeges, allowances and other customary deductions.

The dividend shall be payable in arrears semiaynoalMarch 31 and September 30, beginning withfitise such date after the original issue dateyjoled, however, that all
dividends and all other distributions shall ceasel no further dividends or other distributionslsbe paid, in respect of each share of Serie@® fand after such time that the
Maximum Payout has been paid in respect of sucte sifeBeries C. Such dividends shall be payableea€ompany’s option either in cash or in duly autted, fully paid and non-
assessable shares of Common Stock valued at therta§(i) $3.00 per share or (i) the averagenef €ommon Stock trading price for the ten (10) ecnsve trading days ending on
the trading day that is immediately prior to theidiénd payment date.

Series C Post Conversion Dividend Rightin the event that any share of Series C isedad into Common Stock before the Maximum Pay®pgid in respect of such converted
share of Series C, then the holder shall haveigih to continue to receive dividends in respeciwath converted share of Series C equal to theinémgayout (the “Series C
Preferred Stock Post Conversion Dividend Right”jahishall be equal to the Maximum Payout less theudative dividends received through the conversiate. One share of Series
C Preferred Stock Post Conversion Dividend Rightld¥e issued for each such converted share oéS€xi The holder of each Series C Preferred Stosk@®onversion Dividend
Right shall receive the remaining payout on an Egasis and in conjunction with the then outstagdihares of Series C and all the other then outistgrSeries C Post Conversion
Dividend Rights, in the same manner and subjetttasame terms and conditions as applicable tpagment of dividends on each share of Series @ptxc
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that for purposes of calculating the dividend tleFshall not apply. The Series C Preferred Sta&t Conversion Dividend Right shall have no statdde, liquidation preference or
right to any dividends or distributions other ttiha remaining payout. The Series C Preferred SRack Conversion Right is subject to redemptiofégame manner as outstanding
Series C shares.

At the date of issuance, the Series C have an efebatlvidend right to continue to receive dividgrayments after conversion to common stock (theeSe&2iPost Conversion
Dividend Right) which requires bifurcation. The walof this post conversion dividend right on theeds issuance was determined to be de minimigaltige fact that the payment o
dividend stream other than the 6% dividend and emion of Series C prior to the Company achievalgsof GM-CT-01 was deemed improbable at that.tlup®n a conversion of
the Series C, the Company will be required to réeoliability and the related expense during theéopeof conversion.

In July 2011, 5 shares of Series C were conventedd,334 shares of common stock and 5 Series OQRwosersion Dividend Rights (Dividend Rights) wéssued. In 2013, 24 shares
of Series C were converted into 40,193 sharesmiwon stock and 24 Dividend Rights were issuedifiReterms of the Series C, these Dividend Righdsl sbntinue to participate in
dividends, however the Floor shall not apply. AtBaber 31, 2013 and 2012, these Dividend Rights wetermined to have a de minimis value, as thenpayof a dividend is
considered improbable at this time. The Compankaaiitinue to evaluate and assess the Series GJ@asersion Dividend Right for each reporting pério

Liquidation Rights  In the event of any liquidation, dissolutionvanding up of the Company, either voluntarilyiovoluntarily, the holders of Series C will recei$&0,000 per share
plus accrued and unpaid dividends, payable pridriapreference to any distributions to the holdgr€ommon Stock but after and subordinate to #meS A 12% Convertible
Preferred Stock (“Series A”), Series B-1 and SeBie) subject to the Maximum Payout.

Redemption Upon a sale of the Company, the Company séddem all of the then outstanding shares of S€riasd Series C Preferred Stock Post Conversiomt®Rigithin thirty

(30) days after the transaction constituting tHe siithe Company is closed and such closing Ig fuhded. The price to redeem a share of SeriasdCeach redeemed Series C
Preferred Stock Post Conversion Redemption Rigdit be equal to (i) (A) the applicable return omdéstment (“ROI") percentage, multiplied by (B) $200, minus (ii) the cumulative
dividends received through the redemption date.r€demption price shall be payable at the Compampt®n either in cash or in shares of common st@tied at the higher of

(i) $3.00 per share or (ii) the average marketepfie the ten consecutive trading days ending iniately prior to the date of redemption. The ROId@atage shall mean the percentage
that applies as of the redemption date, as follows:

ROI Percentag

200% before the second anniversary of the date of iss)

250% on or after the second anniversary of the datssafance, but before the third anniversary of the diissuance
300% on or after the third anniversary of the date sfice, but before the fourth anniversary of the daissuance

350% on or after the fourth anniversary of the datesefiance, but before the fifth anniversary of thte ddissuance

400% on or after the fifth anniversary of the date slignce, but before the sixth anniversary of the ditssuance

450% on or after the sixth anniversary of the date sfigce, but before the seventh anniversary ofdteeaf issuance
500% on or after the seventh anniversary of the datesofance, but before the eighth anniversary ofiétie of issuance; ai
550% on or after the eighth anniversary of the datessfiance, but before the ninth anniversary of tie alissuance
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Due to the redemption feature, the Company hagpted the Series C outside of permanent equithemezzanine of the consolidated balance sheBscamber 31, 2013 and 2012.

At December 31, 2013, the Series C redemption vahse$5,547,000.
Voting Rights  The Series C shares have no voting rights.

7. Warrants and Warrant Liabilities
Warrants
Warrant activity is summarized as follows:

Outstanding at December 31, 2(
Issuec

Cancellec

Exercisec

Outstanding at December 31, 2(
Issuec

Cancellec

Exercisec

Outstanding at December 31, 2(
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The following table summarizes information with aedy to outstanding warrants issued in connectidh @guity and debt financings and consultants &egfember 31, 2013.

Number Exercise

Issued in Connection With Issued Price Exercisable Date Expiration Date
February 12, 2009 Serie«-1 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B 1,200,000 $ 3.0C February 12, 20( February 12, 201
May 13, 2009 Series-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B 600,000 $ 3.0C May 13, 200! May 13, 201
June 30, 2009 Series-2 Transactiot

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2 33,33: $ 3.0C June 30, 20C June 30, 201

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B 333,33. $ 3.0C June 30, 20C June 30, 201
May 1, 2009 Consultant Warrar 6,25( $ 3.0C May 1, 200! May 1, 201
June 30, 2009 Consultant Warra 40,00 $ 3.0C June 30, 20C June 30, 201
August 12, 2009 Series-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2 50,00 $ 3.0C August 12, 200 August 12, 201

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B 200,000 $ 3.0C August 12, 200 August 12, 201
September 30, 2009 Serie-2 Transactiot

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2 54,16¢ $ 3.0C September 30, 20 September 30, 20

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B 216,66¢ $ 3.0C September 30, 20! September 30, 20
November 4, 2009 Series-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2 51,66¢ $ 3.0C November 4, 20C November 4, 201

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B 206,66¢ $ 3.0C November 4, 20C November 4, 201
December 8, 2009 Serie-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2 54,167 $ 3.0C December 8, 20( December 8, 20:

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B 216,660 $ 3.0C December 8, 20( December 8, 20:
January 29, 2010 Serie-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2 54,167 $ 3.0C January 29, 20 January 29, 20

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B 216,667 $ 3.0C January 29, 20 January 29, 20
March 8, 2010 Series-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2 55,83 $ 3.0C March 8, 201 March 8, 201

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B 223,33: $ 3.0C March 8, 201 March 8, 201
April 30, 2010 Series -2 Transactioi

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2 51,661 $ 3.0C April 30, 201( April 30, 201

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B 206,660 $ 3.0C April 30, 201( April 30, 201
May 10, 2010 Series-2 Transactior

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class £-2 95,000 $ 3.0C May 10, 201! May 10, 201

$0.50 Investor Warrar—Class B 380,000 $ 3.0C May 10, 201/ May 10, 201
May 25, 2010 Consultant Warrar 14,58 $ 4.5C May 25, 201/ May 25, 201
May 25, 2010 Consultant Warrar 7,500 $ 15.0( May 25, 201 May 25, 201
June 15, 2010 Consultant Warra 100,000 $ 4.2¢ June 15, 201 June 15, 201
December 9, 2010 Consultant Warre 33,33¢  $ 3.9C December 9, 20: December 9, 20:
December 30, 2010 Placement Agent Warr 50C $ 7.2C December 30, 20: December 30, 20:
March 28, 2012 Offering Warran 1,333,060 $ 5.6 March 28, 201 March 28, 201

Total outstanding warran 6,035,22!

In January 2014, the remaining 500,000 Class A+2amés were exercised for cash proceeds of $1,600,0

Consultant Warrants

In May 2008 the Company entered into an agreeméhtimavestor Relations Group (“IRG”) for IRG to pride investor relations services to the Compangxichange for cash and
warrants on a monthly basis. On September 30, 2808ompany terminated the agreement under theéspwos of the agreement. During the effective aacttperiod IRG earned
6,500 warrants valued at $3,000. The expense assdavith these warrants was calculated using thekBScholes option-pricing model and charged aslstompensation expense.
The warrants were exercisable at $3.00 per shaferiod of three years and expired in 2011.

In April 2009, the Company entered into agreemeiitts consultants that provided for the grant of mats for the purchase of 55,000 shares of comnuwk sit an exercise price of
$3.00 per share. Of the 55,000
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warrants, 13,334 vested immediately and 41,666ws#t upon the achievement of certain milestonks.ifiitial 13,334 warrants were valued at $32,00@ssuance based on the
following assumptions: an expected life of 4 yeaddatility of 134%, risk free interest rate of 8% and zero dividends and the expense recognizadispuance. During the year
ended December 31, 2010, 8,334 warrants vestede@/alt $16,000 on the vesting date using the fatigwassumptions: expected life of 3.06 years, uilabf 140%, risk free interest
rates of 1.69% and zero dividends). In 2010, wheappeared probable that the remaining 33,332 warmaould vest, the Company valued the warran$d 24,000 as of December 31,
2010 using the following assumptions: expecteddff@.29 years, volatility of 141%, risk free inést rates of 0.61% and zero dividends. The Compalued the warrants at $104,000
as of December 31, 2011 using the following assiangt expected life of 1.29 years, volatility of¥80risk free interest rates of 0.12% and zero @rik. The Company recognized
expense related to the 33,332 warrants of $11¥@0fe year ended December 31, 2010 and a revafrsapense of $13,000 for the year ended DeceBihe2011. During the year
ended December 31, 2012, these warrants were gen@xpected to vest and the Company recognizedesisal of previously recognized expense relatédese warrants of $100,000
for the year ended December 31, 2012. The 33,33&mta that had vested from the April 2009 issuanqered in April 2013.

In May 2009, the Company entered into agreemerttssoinsultants that provided for the grant of watisdo purchase 95,834 shares of common stock estensise price of $3.00 per
share of which 74,000 vested and 21,834 were fedelThe warrants were valued at $232,000 on issubased on the following assumptions: an expéiéeedf 5 years, volatility of
124%, risk free interest rate of 2.16% and zerédivds. The Company recognized expense relatéese tvarrants of $53,000 during the year endedrbleee31, 2010. As of
December 31, 2010, 74,000 of these warrants westede@nd 21,834 shares were forfeited. In 201F5670f these warrants were exercised leaving 602&anding at December 31,
2013.

In May 2010, the Company granted warrants to ceastd for the purchase of 35,001 shares of comroak st an exercise price of $4.50 per share. Tareamts were valued at
$134,000 on issuance based on the following assonspan expected life of 4 years, volatility 0f324, risk free interest rate of 1.610% and zerod#inds. The warrants vested
immediately and the company recognized an expef8&34,000 related to these warrants during the greded December 31, 2010. As of December 31, 281,884 of these warrar
were outstanding as 13,750 and 6,667 warrants exeneised during the years ended December 31, 2042012, respectively.

In May 2010, the Company entered into an agreemithta consultant that provided for the grant ofraats for the purchase of 12,000 shares of constmok at an exercise price of
$15.00 per share. The warrants were initially valae$40,000 on issuance based on the followingnagons: an expected life of 4 years, volatilifyld3%, risk free interest rate of
1.610% and zero dividends. The warrants vest ateaof 500 per month and the unvested warrantdwitevalued as they vest. At December 31, 20500Avarrants were vested and
4,500 were forfeited upon cancellation of the agresst. The following assumptions were used to viiieevarrants for the year ended December 31, 201&xpected life of 2.99 to
3.32 years, volatility of 128% to 130%, risk fregerest rate of 0.79% to 1.29% and zero dividefils.following assumptions were used to value theamas for the year ended
December 31, 2010: an expected life of 3.40 to $e38s, volatility of 130% to 144%, risk free irgst rate of 0.51% to 1.68% and zero dividends.chimepany recognized an expense
of $12,000 and $15,000 related to these warrantagithe years ended December 31, 2011 and 2048ectvely. At December 31, 2013, these 7,500 wisrare outstanding.

In June 2010, the Company entered into an agreemima consultant, who was also a board membeighwirovided for the grant of warrants for 100,@b@res of common stock at
an exercise price of $4.26 per share. Of the 1@0@rants, 25,000 vested immediately on signintpefagreement, 25,000 were to vest at the endeof/ear and the remaining
50,000 warrants were to vest based on the achieveshe
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certain milestones. The following assumptions wesed to value the remaining unvested warrants aichMg, 2011 at the date the consultant effectibelyame an employee of the
Company: an expected life of 4.28 years, volatiityl 35%, risk free interest rate of 1.705% ana zbvidends. Pursuant to an employment agreemeetezhinto in May 2011, all
remaining unvested warrants were immediately veatetthe 100,000 warrants remain outstanding a¢mber 31, 2013. The Company recognized expensg4® @00 and $219,000
related to these warrants during the years endedrbiger 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

In December 2010, the Company granted warrantctmsultant for the purchase of 33,334 shares mifwon stock at an exercise price of $3.90 per sfde warrants were valued at
$112,000 on issuance based on the following assonsptan expected life of 5 years, volatility of023, risk free interest rate of 1.9% and zero dindte The warrants vested
immediately and the company recognized an expef3&1@,000 related to these warrants during the geded December 31, 2010. These warrants arendisg at December 31,
2013.

In December 2010, the Company issued warrantptace@ment agent for the purchase of 500 sharesnofnon stock at an exercise price of $7.20 per sfi&@se warrants were
valued at $2,000 using the following assumptionsexgpected life of 5 years, volatility of 130% krifsee interest rate of 2.06% and zero dividendiesE warrants are outstanding at
December 31, 2013.

In January 2013, the Company entered into an agneewith a consultant that provided for the granwarrants for the purchase of 5,000 shares of comstock at an exercise price
of $2.65 per share. The following assumptions wsed to value the warrants: an expected life a&y, volatility of 87%, risk free interest rate0o#2% and zero dividends. The
Company recognized an expense of $7,000 relatdse warrants at the time of the grant as theg wested at issuance. The warrants were exercisgeitember 2013.

Warrants Modification

On May 6, 2013, the Company modified the term$efGlass A-2 and Class B warrants that were offigirssued to the 10X Fund with the Series B Pref@iStock offering. The
Class B warrants were modified to allow for thehtess exercise of all 4,000,000 outstanding ClasmBants. Previously, only half of the Class B naats allowed for cashless
exercise. The Class A-2 warrants for the purch&4¢060,000 shares of common and all of the ClagsBants had their exercisable life extended bgdditional five years. In
exchange for these modifications, the 10X Fundexdjte a future amendment of the Company’s Seriesriificate of designation to remove the redempgimvision such that the
Series B Preferred Stock will no longer be rededenaband when the Company will no longer be reedito issue Dr. Platt a promissory note as maseatly be required under the
separation agreement (see Note 11). Should the &oyramend their Series B certificate of designaitiathe future as described above, the Companybeillequired at that time to
evaluate whether such amendment is to be accoforted a modification or an extinguishment of tr@rany’s Series B Preferred Stock. The Companybesunted for the
modified terms of the Class A-2 and Class B wag@otrsuant to ASC 718, Stock Compensation, whettebompany has recognized a charge for the chiarfge value of the
warrants immediately before and immediately aftermodification. In the second quarter of 2013,Gloenpany recognized a one-time charge of $8,763€laéd to the extension of
the 5,000,000 warrants. The following assumptioasevused to value the extension of the warrantsediately before and immediately after the modifmata) immediately before
the modification — an expected life range of 092101 years, volatility range of 77% to 96%, ffide interest rate range of 0.11% to 0.22% and deidends and; b) immediately
following the madification — an expected life rangfe5.78 to 7.02 years, volatility range of 113%d82%, risk free interest rate range of 0.74% 18% and zero dividends.

Impact of Adopting Provisions Regarding Warrant Lidities

In June 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardsr8¢‘FASB”) ratified standards related to deteriminwhether an instrument (or an embedded feaisiiajlexed to an entitg’'own
stock. The standards provide
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that an entity should use a two step approachatuate whether an equity-linked financial instrutn@n embedded feature) is indexed to its own stowituding evaluating the
instrument’s contingent exercise and settlementipians. The standard is effective for fiscal ydaeginning after December 15, 2008. The Companptadche standard on

January 1, 2009 and determined that the 1,164,228ants issued in connection with the February Z0@@saction that had been classified as equityirasidded in additional paid-in
capital at December 31, 2008, should be class#gelfbilities due to repricing and anti-dilutioropisions contained in the warrant agreements.iffipact of adopting new accounting
provisions on January 1, 2009, which required tbatment of warrants with certain features aslltés rather than equity, was a decrease in amiditipaid-in-capital by $458,000,
which was the fair value recorded at the time therants were transferred from a liability to equityring the year ended December 31, 2008, an iserefwarrant liabilities by
$204,000, the fair value of the warrants as of danfi, 2009 and a credit to accumulated deficittierdifference.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynemognized a loss of $524,000 in its consolidatatements of operations related to the chantgrimalue of warrant
liabilities.

8. Stock-Based Compensatior
Summary of Stock-Based Compensation Plans

At December 31, 2013, the Company had three staskécompensation plans where the Company’s corstnok has been made available for eqbiged incentive grants as par
the Company’s compensation programs (the “IncerRiems”) as follows:

2001 Stock Incentive Plan In October 2001, the Company’s Board of Divestadopted the Pro-Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 200k $teentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”), which pétsn
awards of incentive and nonqualified stock optiand other forms of incentive compensation to engesyand non-employees such as directors and camtsul©riginally, there were
833,334 shares of common stock for issuance upertise of grants made under the Incentive Plano@pgranted under the Incentive Plan vest eithenadiately or over a period of
up to three years, and expire 3 years to 10 yeams the grant date. At December 31, 2013, there wershares were available for future grant urttetricentive Plan as the terms of
the Incentive Plan did not allow for grants to bade after 10 years; however, there were 194,16@rapoutstanding under the Incentive Plan.

2003 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Planin 2003, the stockholders approved the PratRaeeuticals, Inc. 2003 Non-Employee Director StOgkion Plan (the “Director
Plan”), which permits awards of stock options tafemployee directors. The stockholders originadlyerved 166,667 shares of common stock for issugyme exercise of grants
made under the Director Plan. At December 31, 2018¢e were no shares were available for futuratgrader the Director Plan as the terms of thed@arePlan did not allow for
grants to be made after 10 years; however, there %&68 options outstanding under the DirectonPla

2009 Incentive Compensation Plan In February 2009, the Company adopted the 20@nhtive Compensation Plan (the “2009 Plan”) Whpcovides for the issuance of up to
3,333,334 shares of the Company’s common stodkeiridrm of options, stock appreciation rights, niettd stock and other stock-based awards to erapgyofficers, directors,
consultants and other eligible persons. At DecerBiheP013, 709,638 shares were available for fuguaat under the 2009 Plan.

In addition, the Company has awarded 1,477,379pk@m-stock option grants to employees and non-eyepl These non-plan grants have vesting periatiexpiration dates similar
to those options granted under the Incentive PlanBecember 31, 2012, 1,416,669 non-plan grante watstanding.
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Stock-Based Compensation
Following is the stock-based compensation expegiaged to common stock options, restricted comntocksand common stock warrants:

Year Ended
December 31,
2013 2012
Research and development $ 991 $ 92z
General and administrati' 2,79¢ 1,87(
Total stocl-based compensation expel $ 3,78¢ $2,79:

The fair value of the options granted is determingidg the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Téilowing weighted average assumptions were used:

Cumulative
Period from
Inception
(July 10, 2000) t«

December 31,

2013 2012 2013
Risk-free interest rate 1.1%% 0.9(% 1.68%
Expected life of the optior 5.29 year 5.81 year 5.19 year
Expected volatility of the underlying sto 115% 11€% 11%
Expected dividend rai 0% 0% 0%

As noted above, the fair value of stock optiondeermined by using the Black-Scholes option pgeimodel. For all options granted since JanuanP@62he Company has generally
used option terms of between 5 to 10 years, withds representing the estimated life of optioasigd to employees. The volatility of the commartkts estimated using historical
volatility over a period equal to the expected &fehe date of grant. The risk-free interest usted in the Black-Scholes option pricing modeletedmined by reference to historical
U.S. Treasury constant maturity rates with termsaétp the expected terms of the awards. An exfeditédend yield of zero is used in the option \aion model, because the
Company does not expect to pay any cash dividentheiforeseeable future. At December 31, 2013Ctivapany does not anticipate any option awardsbaillorfeited in the
calculation of compensation expense due to thedomiumber of employees that receive stock optiantg and the Company’s historical employee turnove

Of the options granted during 2011, 166,668 vebt opon the achievement of certain market cond#i(88,334 and 83,334 upon the Company achievingragncapitalization of $5
billion and $10 billion, respectively). These markendition stock option awards were valued at $8,000 using a Monte Carlo model and will be redmephover a weighted average
period of 5.5 years. Assumptions used to valuestigsions included the following: annualized vadigtiof 110%, annualized drift/risk-free intereste of 3.5% and a forecast
horizon/life of 10 years.
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The following table summarizes the stock optionvégtin the stock based compensation plans:

Outstanding, December 31, 2011

Grantec
Forfeited/Cancelle
Exercisec

Outstanding, December 31, 2C
Grantec
Forfeited/Cancelle
Exercisec

Outstanding, December 31, 2C

Exercisable, December 31, 2C

Number of
Shares

3,091 ,47.
800,00
(299,68}
(51,830)
3,539,906
425,42
(403,679
(213,009
3,348,70
2,084,46;

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

$ 6.82

2.1¢

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual Aggregate
Life Intrinsic Value
(in years) (in thousands
6.8¢ $ 11,42
6.1¢ $ 7,721

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeegents the total pre-tax amount, net of exemise, which would have been received by optiordéard if all option holders had
exercised all options with an exercise price lothan the market price on December 31, 2013, baséldeoclosing price of the Company’s common stdck808 on that date.

The weighted-average grant-date fair values obogtgranted during 2013 and 2012 were $3.17 amtf $fespectively. As of December 31, 2013 and Déeer@1, 2012, there were
unvested options to purchase 1,256,735 and 1,47 3l¢&res of common stock, respectively. Total ebgukeenrecognized compensation cost related to suebsted options is

$4,522,000 at December 31, 2013, which is expeotbe recognized over a weighted-average perigdsojears.

During the years ended December 31 2013 and 204 Z,ampany issued shares totaling 213,008 and G1r&pectively, upon the exercise of options \akie5378,000 and $96,000,
respectively. During the years ended December @13 2nd 2012, the Company received $271,000 an$0ectively, for the exercise of stock optionsriby 2013 and 2012,
173,669 and 90,253 options were exercised on dasssbasis resulting in the issuance of 81,59154r8B0 shares, respectively. The intrinsic valuepifons exercised during the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and fropetie from inception to December 31, 2013 wagd$3,000, $162,000 and $3,222,000, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and B1%2041 and 595,420 options became vested, resplyctThe total grant date fair value of optionsteel during the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and the cumulative periad fnception to December 31, 2013 was $2,406,@)04%,000 and $15,473,000 respectively.
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The following table summarizes additional informatregarding outstanding and exercisable optiodguour stock based compensation plans at Dece®ib@013:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted _
RAe\rﬁ;iarﬁﬁg Weighted Weighted
Contractual Average Average
Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Price (Range) Shares Life Price Shares Price
(in years)
$0.72-1.83 531,83¢ 4.3t $ 1.6C 531,83¢ $ 1.6C
$2.08-2.88 835,00: 7.1¢ 2.3C 496,00: 2.3¢
$3.59-4.41 358,29: 9.4( 4.07 99,72( 3.9C
$5.82-7.56 1,551,62! 7.11 6.97 884,95( 6.97
$8.10-11.40 71,94¢ 4.9¢ 9.3¢€ 71,94¢ 9.3¢€
3,348,70! 6.8¢ $ 4.7C 2,084,46 $ 4.4:

Other Stock Based Compensation Transactions

During 2001, the Company entered into a consuligngement with a non-employee, who was also a Boardber and former member of the Audit Committeespant to which the
Company granted 33,334 options to purchase comingk at an exercise price of $21.00 in considendfiio services to be performed. At the time of &ste, these options were
valued at $239,000 based on a deemed fair market vhthe Company’s common stock of $13.68 pereshiEotal expense for the years ended Decembe0BB, 2002 and 2001
related to these options was $71,000, $64,000 44d,800, respectively.

In March 2002, the Company entered into a seconeeagent with the same non-employee, by which thegamy granted 334 options a month to purchase constock at an
exercise price of $21.00 in consideration for mntéionsulting services. On November 11, 2002 surkement was superseded by an amendment, whickffeatve retroactively to
the date of the original agreement, March 1, 2Q0ler the amended agreement, the Company grar@i@d dptions on March 1, 2002, which vest at a0&®34 options per month,
services are performed. These options were valu$ti1a000 using the Black-Scholes option-pricingdeipbased on a grant date fair value of the Coyipammmon stock of $12.96
per share. During 2002, the Company recorded @88Xharge to stock compensation expense relatbe 8,334 options that vested during the yeanfA3ecember 31, 2002, the
Company had deferred compensation of $11,000 é¢ffeted to the remaining unvested options, whichngesgnized in 2003.

In June 2003, the Company entered into a thirdesmgeat with the same non-employee, by which the Gomgranted 4,000 options effective retroactiveljtarch 1, 2003, which
vest at a rate of 334 options per month as sergieeperformed. These options were valued at $83)6ihg the Black-Scholes option-pricing model dobsn a fair market value of the
Company’s common stock of $21.00 per share. Theuting arrangement was concluded on March 1, 20064.Company recorded fair value adjustments oD(¥») and $21,000
related to the unvested consultant options durB@#2and 2003, respectively. Total expense for #sgg/ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 relatedge dptions was $17,000 and
$40,000, respectively.

In January 2003, the Company granted 16,667 optibas exercise price of $21.00 to a Board mentdyerdnsulting services unrelated to services peréaras a director. Orthird of
the options vested immediately and the balanceswestqual amounts on the first and second anriviessof the award. The options were valued at RI6using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model, based on a fair market vaifithe Company’s common stock of $16.80 per sh#lre.consulting services were completed and theuttamg arrangement was
concluded as of March 31, 2004. The Company recoiae value adjustments
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of $4,000 and $82,000 related to the unvested damswptions during 2004 and 2003, respectivebtalexpense for the years ended December 31, 202003 related to these
options was $51,000 and $193,000, respectively.

In May 2003, the Company granted 1,667 optionsarcise price of $21.00 to a new member of tierfific Advisory Board. One-half of the optionested immediately and the
balance vests on the second anniversary. Thesmeptiere valued at $16,000 using the Black-Schapésn-pricing model based on a fair market valfithe Company’s common
stock of $16.80 per share. The Company recordeddhie adjustments of $2,000 and $6,000 relatédetinvested consultant options during 2004 a3 2@spectively. Total
expense for the years ended December 31, 20040@xdrlated to these options was $5,000 and $13:860ectively.

In September 2003, the Company granted 4,167 gpéanh to a Board member and to a member of tleat8it Advisory Board for consulting services. Thgtions were exercisable
immediately at $24.30 per share. These options walteed using the Black-Scholes option-pricing midi#esed on a grant date fair value of the Compaogmmon stock of $14.64
share. The Company recorded a $122,000 chargedk sbmpensation expense in 2003 related to theasda.

In October 2003, in connection with the resignatibits former Chief Financial Officer, the Compaagcelerated the vesting on 16,667 options grantsdch officer in September
2003 at an exercise price of $24.30, which was lequée fair market value of the common stock loe dlate of grant. As the fair market value of themon stock was $26.70 per
share at the time the vesting was accelerated;ohepany recorded a $40,000 charge to stock compiemsxpense. Also, in October 2003, such officeareised on a cashless basis
8,334 options at an exercise price of $17.82 parestesulting in the issuance of 2,772 shareshésair market value of the Company’s common statkhe date of exercise was
$26.70 per share, the Company recorded a chai$g4ad00 to stock compensation expense in 2003tktatthe exercise of these options.

In March 2004, the Company issued 4,167 optiorislfilment of a September 2003 agreement withrarestor relations firm. The agreement obligated@bepany to pay a monthly
retainer and issue options at a rate of 834 oppensnonth, up to a maximum of 16,667 options, @sable at $34.80 per share as services are patbrfine Company concluded the
engagement in February 2004. The options were isabte immediately and expired on March 26, 2003tokdingly, the Company recorded $29,000 as stookpensation expense
2003 on the 2,500 options that vested as of Dece&ihe2003 and an additional stock compensatioermsg of $23,000 in 2004 on the 10,000 optionsvibsted in January and
February 2004. The stock compensation expense etaswined based on a fair market value of the optiehen the options were earned. These optionseekpnexercised in 2007.

In April 2004, the Company entered into an agreéméth an investor relations firm. The agreemeritgatted the Company to pay a monthly retainer asde options at a rate of
834 per month up to a maximum of 10,000 optionsasable at $30.96 per share as services are pertbrDuring 2004, 7,500 options were earned buissaed. During 2005, 2,500
options were earned and the full 10,000 optionsvssued. The Company recorded $67,000 in 200424800 in 2005 as stock compensation expenseddiathis agreement. The
stock compensation expense was determined basbe ¢mir market value of the options when the optizvere earned. The options were exercisable inatedgiand expired three
years from the agreement date. These options expirexercised in 2007.

In November 2005, the Company issued 834 optioasni@mber of the Scientific Advisory Board for calting services. The options were exercisable imatety at $15.66 per shai
These options were valued using the Black-Schgdésrmm-pricing model based on a grant date fair eafithe Company’s common stock of $8.10 per stvhieh was the fair market
value at the date of the grant. The Company redoad®7,000 charge to stock compensation experg0i related to this award. These options expirexercised in 2010.
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In March 2006 the Company issued 2,500 optionsdmnaultant for consulting services, of which 834he options were exercisable immediately, 833omstvested in March 2008
and 833 options vested in March 2009. The optioe€aercisable at $22.50 per share. These optiens valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricirgiel based on a grant date
fair value of the Company’s common stock of $1320share which was the fair market value at thie dithe grant. The Company recorded a $33,00felta stock compensation
expense over the vesting period of the options.

In December 2007, the Company issued 834 optioasctmsultant for consulting services. The optizage exercisable immediately at $3.78 per sharesdloptions were valued
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based grant date fair value of the Compangdmmon stock of $2.76 per share which was therfaiket value at the date of the gr
The Company recorded a $2,000 charge to stock awsafien expense in 2007 related to this award.

In April 2008, the Company issued 8,000 optiona tmnsultant for consulting services. The optiorsevexercisable immediately at $2.64 per sharesélbptions were valued using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based oreatdate fair value of the Company’s common stufck2.34 per share which was the fair market valuthe date of the grant. The
Company recorded a $15,000 charge to stock compemsxpense in 2008 related to this award.

In February 2009, the Company issued 33,334 optmasconsultant for consulting services. The otizvere exercisable immediately at $0 per shares@ bptions were valued using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based oreatydate fair value of the Company’s common stfck0.72 per share which was the fair market valuthe date of the grant. The
Company recorded a $24,000 charge to stock compiemsxpense in 2009 related to this award.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynmandified the terms of certain option grants fourfemployees to extend the exercisable period frimmty days post-
employment to the remaining legal life of the optgrant. During the year ended December 31, 20E2Cbmpany modified certain cashless exercise tlonmne employee. The
modification of these option terms resulted in &ddal stock-based compensation expense of $27H0600g the year ended December 31, 2012. Duriag#ar ended December 31,
2011, the Company modified the options of one egg#do extend the exercisable period post-employfnem ninety days to the remaining legal life b&toption, resulting in
additional stock-based compensation expense 00§63,

In May 2012, the Company granted 7,000 sharesmfwan stock to a consultant for payment of pastisesv These shares of common stock were valuetiGe®@0, based on the
market value of the shares at the date of granaaméhcluded in stock based compensation expenskd year ended December 31, 2012.

In August 2012, the Company granted 4,348 sharesrafmon stock to a consultant for payment of sesii@hese shares of common stock were valued @d@,Mbased on the market
value of the shares at the date of grant and aheded in stock based compensation expense foretieended December 31, 2012.

In September 2013, the Company modified certaitedestock options held by a former member of then@any’s board of directors. The individual left theard on May 23, 2013.
The modification extended the contractual perioebadrcise of 103,158 stock options until the entheir original terms instead of such options €rpgii3 months after service on the
board ended. As a result, the Company recorde-dime, non-cash charge of $930,000 in generabanuinistrative expenses related to the modificaiticior the year ended
December 31, 2013.

In June 2013 the Company issued 25,000 optionstmsultant for consulting services, which vestediigust 2013. The options are exercisable at $§3e®Bhare. These options were
valued using the Black-
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Scholes option-pricing model based on a grant fdétealue of the Company’s common stock rangimgni$3.97 per share upon grant to $7.25 per sha@ngletion of vesting. The
Company recorded a $173,000 charge to stock corapien®xpense over the vesting period of the option

Restricted Stock
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyngramted 416,670 shares of restricted common stookembers of its Board of Directors. These shaee restricted and any
unvested shares were subject to forfeiture upanitetion and would revert back to the Company.h@f416,670 shares, 390,628 were vested as of Decedhp2010, and the final
26,042 vested in 2011. The restricted shares wadued at $450,000 ($1.08 per share) at the dajeaot and were recognized over the vesting peboding 2011, the Company
recognized stock-based compensation of $18,00tedkte these restricted stock grants.

In 2011, the Company issued 20,834 shares of cestrcommon stock to a consultant. These sharesnestricted until November 15, 2011 and any uregkshares were subject to
forfeiture upon termination and would revert backtte Company. At December 31, 2011 there no oéstiishares remaining. The restricted shares vedued at $113,000 ($5.40 per
share) at November 15, 2011, and the Company rezajexpense of $110,000 during 2011 related teetisbares.

Number of Weighted
Average
Shares Price on Grant
Unvested restricted shares outstanding, Decemh&030D 26,04: $ 1.0¢
Restricted shares issu 20,83« 8.0
Restricted shares vest (46,876 4.17
Unvested restricted shares outstanding, Decemh&031 — $ o
9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
A summary of changes in the Warrant Liabilitieassfollows:
Fair Value of
Warrant
Liabilities
(in thousands
Balance December 31, 2010 $ 861
Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti 524
Intrinsic value of liability warrants exercis (1,389
Balance December 31, 20 $ —

The warrant liabilities in the table above weressified as a Level 2 liability and were valued gsine Black-Scholes pricing model.
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10. Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed bylidiyithe net loss available to common stockholbgrthe weighted average number of common sharesamaling during the
period. Diluted net loss per common share is coegby dividing the net loss available to commomlstolders by the weighted average number of comshanes and other potential
common shares then outstanding. Potential commaresiconsist of common shares issuable upon thenaglsexercise of in-the-money stock options andamés and potential
common shares related to the conversion of thepeaf stock. The computation of diluted net logsspare does not assume the issuance of commasshat have an anti-dilutive
effect on net loss per share.

Year Ended December 31
(in thousands, except shar
and per share amounts)

2013
2012

Net loss (12,089 (9,675)
Preferred stock dividenc (867) (97€)
Preferred stock accretic (229) (230

Warrant modificatior (8,769 —
Net loss applicable to common stockholc $(21,94) $(10,88)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (1.30 $ (0.72)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted netpesshare 16,87« 15,13:

Dilutive shares which could exist pursuant to tkereise of outstanding stock instruments and whiete not included in the calculation because thiééct would have been anti-
dilutive are as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2013 2012
(Shares) (Shares)
Warrants to purchase shares of common stock 6,035,22! 7,424,24
Options to purchase shares of common s 3,348,70! 3,539,96.
Shares of common stock issuable upon conversiderped stock 2,568,77. 2,627,111
11,952,70 13,591,31

11.  Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Commitments

In September 2012, the Company entered into aratpgrease for office space in Norcross, GA feeran of twenty-six months, beginning on Octobe?d12 and ending
November 30, 2014 at a rate of approximately $3f@0month. The lease provides for free rent ferfitst two months of the lease and required ar#galeposit of $6,000. In
addition to base rental payments included in thereatual obligations table above, we are respdmé&ito our pro-rata share of the operating expefmethe building.

In October 2012, the Company entered into an operé&tase for office space collocated with lab spfac research and development activities. Theeleafor a period of one year,
beginning on October 1, 2012, for a rate of $15f@@@he term, payable in equal monthly incrememtss lease was continued on a month to month Ifasis October 1, 2013.

In July 2011, the Company entered into an agreetoearnend its lease for offices in Newton, MA taesd the term for a period of one year, which eegion September 30, 2012,
base rent of $235,000 for the period. In additmbase rental payments, the Company was respoiisitite pro-rata share of
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increases in the operating expenses for the bgildinconnection with this lease, a commercial basked a letter of credit collateralized by casghich the Company had on deposit
with the bank of $59,000 at December 31, 2011 ahnidiwwas released during 2012 after the lease éaided. In July 2011, the Company entered into anatipg lease for an
apartment for Company executive use for a one4ggar, which ended in August 2012, at a rate of @a@ for the term.

Rent expense under the above operating leases38a308 and $216,000 for the years ended Decembh@038 and 2012, respectively.
Future minimum payments under this lease as of @bee 31, 2013 are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31

2014 $36

Separation Agreement — Former Chief Executive Officand Chairman of the Board of Directors

In February 2009, the Company entered into a SeparAgreement in connection with the resignatiéavid Platt, Ph.D., the Company’s former ChieEutive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Separatigreement provides for the deferral of a $1.0 millseparation payment due to Dr. Platt upon thieeeaccurrence of any of the
following milestone events: (i) the approval by F@od and Drug Administration for a new drug apaiien (“NDA”) for any drug candidate or drug deliyecandidate based on the
Company’s GM-CT-01 technology (whether or not stegthnology is patented), in which case Dr. Plasiis® entitled to a fully vested 10-year cashless@se stock option to
purchase at least 83,334 shares of common st@ketercise price not less than the fair marketevaf the common stock determined as of the dageaott; (i) consummation of a
transaction with a pharmaceutical company expeicteesult in at least $10.0 million of equity int@ent or $50 million of royalty revenue to the Camnp, in which case Dr. Platt is
also entitled to stock options on the same ternpaitohase at least 50,000 shares of common sto¢ii) the renewed listing of the Company’s setigs on a national securities
exchange and the achievement of a market capitalizaf $100 million. Payment upon the events (i)l i) may be deferred up to six months, andé Company has insufficient
cash at the time of any of such events, it mayei€3u Platt a secured promissory note for such amndiithe Company files a voluntary or involuntgstition for bankruptcy, whether
or not a milestone event has occurred, such evefittsigger the obligation to pay the $1.0 milliwith the result that Dr. Platt may assert a cl@msuch obligation against the
bankruptcy estate. During 2011, when it becameagiigbthat the Company could be relisted on a naltisecurities exchange and eventually reach a meakétalization of $100
million, the Company recognized the $1.0 milliora®nce payment due to Dr. Platt and it is includestcrued expenses at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

On May 2, 2012, Dr. Platt instituted an arbitratieith the American Arbitration Association seekig $1 million payment based on a claim that tHestone event in the Separation
Agreement described in clause (jii) above had gecliAlthough the Company had listed its commonlstm the Nasdaq Capital Markets as of March 2222the market
capitalization since the listing had not reache@0illion when the arbitration was heard in Octop@12. On November 1, 2012, the arbitrator deBiedPlatt's demand in all
respects.

On October 12, 2012, Dr. Platt commenced a lawswder the Massachusetts Wage Act against Dr. TealieMr. McGauley who in their capacities as thenfany’s Chief Executive
Officer and the Company’s former Chief Financiafi€dr, respectively, can be held individually liahinder the Wage Act for non-payment of wages.laWsuit is based on the facts
and issues raised in the arbitration regarding#yenent of the $1.0 million separation payment uride Separation Agreement, and other unspecifiedjes”. The statute provides
that a successful claimant may be entitled to pleltiamages, interest and
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attorney’s fees. Although the Company is not ayp@arthe lawsuit, it plans to indemnify Dr. Trakserd Mr. McGauley consistent with its obligationslanthe by-laws and applicable
law, and intends a vigorous defense on their be@aifApril 29, 2013, the Court allowed Dr. Trabeasisd Mr. McGauley’s motion to dismiss. On May 2813, Dr. Platt filed a Notice

of Appeal to appeal the Court’s order allowing tleéendants’ motion to dismiss.

On March 29, 2013, the Company instituted arbitrabefore the American Arbitration Association,lgeg to rescind or reform the Separation Agreendistussed above. The

Company claims that Dr. Platt fraudulently indutieel Company to enter into the Separation Agreeneesiched his fiduciary duty to the Company, and waduly enriched from his
conduct. Along with removal of the $1.0 million eskone payment under the Separation AgreemenEdhmany is seeking repayment of all separationfiierpaid to Dr. Platt to

date. Depending on the outcome of the arbitrathoe previously accrued $1.0 million could be reedrsThis arbitration has been scheduled for Mayl2Bawever, the ultimate

outcome is uncertain and there is no guarantegttaa@ompany will be successful in this demand.

On August 1, 2013, the market capitalization of @lenpany’s common stock exceeded $100 million aeddompany received a letter dated October 1, 2fHBanding payment of
the $1 million. As described in the preceding peapb, the Company had previously instituted antieation proceeding against Dr. Platt seeking toiresthe Separation Agreement,
including the milestone payment provision, and@uwenpany is currently delaying payment pending tieame of this arbitration.

Other Legal Proceedings

The Company records accruals for such contingenai#®e extent that the Company concludes that tueiurrence is probable and the related damagesséimable. There are no

other pending legal proceedings except as notedeabo

Income Taxes
The components of the net deferred tax assetsdodl@vs at December 31:

Operating loss carryforwart
Tax credit carryforward
Other temporary difference

Less valuation allowanc
Net deferred tax ass

The primary factors affecting the Company’s incamerates were as follows:

Tax benefit at U.S. statutory rates
State tax benef

Credit

Permanent difference

Expiring state NO's

Changes in valuation allowan
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2013 2012
(in thousands)
$ 25,88: $ 21,75:
40C 317
4,302 2,921
30,58 24,99:
(30,587) (24,99)
$ — $ —
2013 2012
(34%) (34%)
(5.2%) (5.2%)
0% (0.2%)
0.9% 1.4%
1.8% 3.2%
36.6% 34.8%
— o — o
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As of December 31, 2013, the Company has fedethstate net operating loss carryforwards totalié,888,000 and $29,881,000 respectively, whichrexprough 2032. The net
operating losses include Federal and State exesssits related to stock options of $707,000 thi#ithe charged to additional paid-in capital wheitized. In addition, the Company
has federal and state research and developmeiitsapé$284,000 and $176,000, respectively, whigbire through 2032. Ownership changes, as defigeBidation 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code, may have limited the amount of netadimg loss carryforwards that can be utilizeduatiy to offset future taxable income. Subsequemership changes could
further affect the limitation in future years. Basa of the Company'’s limited operating history @adecorded losses, management has providedchadahe last two years, a 100%
valuation allowance against the Company’s net dedetax assets.

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S.\aaribus states. Based on the history of net operddisses all jurisdictions and tax years are dpeaxamination until the operating
losses are utilized or the statute of limitatiorpiees. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Cogndaes not have any significant uncertain taxtjms.

Subsequent Event:

The Company evaluated all events and transactiotisrong after December 31, 2013 through the ditehach the financial statements were issued foogaition or disclosure and
noted the following:

In January 2014, we created Galectin Sciences, BlL&@|laborative joint venture co-owned by SBH 8ces, to research and develop small organic maechibitors of galectirg for
oral administration. Galectin Sciences, LLC wasafly capitalized with a $400,000 cash investnterfund future research and development activitidsch was provided by the
Company, and specific in-process research and aewvent provided by SBH Sciences.
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

The following is a list of the Corporation’s subisides as of December 31, 2013. The Corporationspwinectly or indirectly, 100% of the voting seities of each subsidiary, unless
noted otherwise.

STATE OR JURISDICTION
NAME OF ORGANIZATION

Galectin Therapeutics Security Corp. Delaware




Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniftegion Statement Nos. 333-176306, 333-176303;13%629, 333-109893 and 333-159247 on Form SeBRagistration Nos.
333-169463, 333-172849, 333-150898, 333-148911,132359, 333-118907, 333-115118, 333-111650, aB183887 on Form S-3, of our report dated March2@4 relating to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements, whicheapjin this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Galedthrerapeutics, Inc. for the year ended Decembe2@13.

/sl McGladrey LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 21, 2014



Exhibit 31.1
Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Segities Act of 1934

I, Peter G. Traber, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Galectin Therapeutics Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomny untrue statement of a material fact or eonéttate a material fact necessary to make thensésts made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were,matimisleading with respect to the period covdrgthis report

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théort, fairly present in all material respectsfthancial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant aaraf,for, the periods presented in this ref

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined ih&ge Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15

(e)) for the registrant and we ha'

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our supervision, to ensatentaterial information
relating to the registrant, including its consol@hsubsidiaries, is made known to us by otherisimthose entities, particularly during the perindvhich this report is being
prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financiglarting, or caused such internal control over faialreporting to be designed under our supervjdimprovide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financigading and the preparation of financial statemémt&xternal purposes in accordance with geneeadbepted accounting
principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémthid report our conclusions about the effectasnof the disclosure controls ¢
procedures, as of the end of the period coveratiibyeport based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most recesuifi quarter (the registrant's
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual r@ftbat has materially affected, or is reasondikBly to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial
reporting; anc

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluattioernal control over financial reporting, teetregistrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registre’s board of directors (or persons performing thewvedent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal comvef financial reporting which are reasonablyliike adversely affect the
registran’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpatcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significémin the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

March 21, 2014 /s/ Peter G. Trabi
Name: Peter G. Traber, M.C
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

(principal executive officer



Exhibit 31.2
Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Segities Act of 1934

I, Jack W. Callicutt, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Galectin Therapeutics Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomny untrue statement of a material fact or eonéttate a material fact necessary to make thensésts made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were,matimisleading with respect to the period covdrgthis report

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théort, fairly present in all material respectsfthancial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant aaraf,for, the periods presented in this ref

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined ih&ge Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15

(e)) for the registrant and we ha'

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our supervision, to ensatentaterial information
relating to the registrant, including its consol@hsubsidiaries, is made known to us by otherisimthose entities, particularly during the perindvhich this report is being
prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financiglarting, or caused such internal control over faialreporting to be designed under our supervjdimprovide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financigading and the preparation of financial statemémt&xternal purposes in accordance with geneeadbepted accounting
principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémthid report our conclusions about the effectasnof the disclosure controls ¢
procedures, as of the end of the period coveratiibyeport based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most recesuifi quarter (the registrant's
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual r@ftbat has materially affected, or is reasondikBly to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial
reporting; anc

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluattioernal control over financial reporting, teetregistrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registre’s board of directors (or persons performing thewvedent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal comvef financial reporting which are reasonablyliike adversely affect the
registran’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpatcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significémin the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

March 21, 2014 /s/  Jack W. Callicut
Name: Jack W. Callicut
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial and accounting office



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Galectirefdpeutics Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foe feriod ended December 31, 2013 as filed witlSemurities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Repoli’Reter G. Traber, Chief Executive Officer andsRtent of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 0.$1350, as adopted pursuant to 8906 ¢
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefttion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

2 The information contained in the Report fairly gnets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand result of operations of the Compe

March 21, 2014 /s/ Peter G. Trabi
Name: Peter G. Traber, M.C
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

(principal executive officer



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Galectirefdpeutics Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foe feriod ended December 31, 2013 as filed witlSemurities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), tkd&/. Callicutt, Chief Financial Officer of the Cqany, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350, as stbpursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefttion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

2 The information contained in the Report fairly gnets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand result of operations of the Compe

March 21, 2014 /s/  Jack W. Callicut
Name: Jack W. Callicut
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial and accounting office



